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Transcri pt of Proceedings

(Reconvened at 9:22 a.m)

COWM SSI ONER Mac CALLUM: Good nor ni ng.

ALL COUNSEL: Mor ni ng.

COWM SSI ONER MacCALLUM. Just before you
start, M. Hodson, M. Wl ch, these remarks are
directed to you.

| was watching the news | ast
ni ght . In an act of public defiance to the work
of the Comm ssion, David M| gaard appeared before
tel evision canmeras yesterday and announced t hat
he wanted nothing to do with this Inquiry and
woul d not appear as a witness. Further, he said
in effect that, should he be subpoenaed, the
Comm ssion would be discredited in the public
eye. His counsel M. Wl ch, in apparent
solidarity with his client, then stated that, on
his analysis of the case, M. Ml gaard had no
useful evidence to give.

M . Wbl ch has known for many
mont hs that his client would be required to
testify. Judging fromthe press conference the
repudi ation by M. Ml gaard came as no surprise
to him | expect to hear from you, M. WIlch, as

to when you were instructed by your client
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relative to his refusal to testify.

Wth astoni shing hubris, M.

M | gaard arranged to use this very hearing room,
paid for at public expense, to publicly underm ne
the work of the Inquiry, an Inquiry he hinmself
demanded, and to threaten the Conm ssion with the
stigma of popul ar di sapproval should it have the
temerity to subpoena him as a witness.

To borrow a diplomatic
expression, such conduct from a party with
standi ng is unacceptabl e. | have ordered
transcripts of the television broadcast in
guestion and, when they are all in, we will post
t he objectionable material on the Comm ssion web
site and on CaseVault.

| am determ ned to continue
with the business of this Inquiry thoroughly and
i mpartially. Obvi ously, my task is conplicated
by distractions of this kind. Chal | enges to the
authority of the Comm ssion such as this can be
ignored only at the risk of |loss of public

confidence.

M. Wolch, | am prepared to
t ake i mmedi ate and drastic action. In the
interests of fairness, however, | would Iike you
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to consider your position this morning and | et
know at 1:30 if you have anything to add.
MR. WOLCH: | can do that right now.

COMM SSI ONER MacCALLUM: All right.

me

MR. WOLCH: M. Comm ssioner, the comments

made by David yesterday were, | don't believe,

heard entirely by yourself.

David M| gaard is chanpi oning

t he cause of two people --

COMM SSI ONER Mac CALLUM: | heard all that

and | don't mnd that.
MR. WOLCH: -- who are being very badly
treated. There is no question they are being

very badly treated.

Davi d, when he attended here,
said he did not want to talk about the Inquiry.
He said quite clearly that he does not want to
testify, which is something that M. Hodson and

have tal ked about for a long time, he takes the

position that he can't add anything to the

| nquiry, he has no information about Larry

Fi sher, he has no informati on about WI son and

John, he testified at the Supreme Court, he

testified under exam nation for discovery, he has

spent 13 years in therapy to forget the horror
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what happened to him

What happened to himin custody
was atrocious. What happened to him over the
years was horrific. He has nmedi cal advice not to
come, that it will cause him severe nental and
personal damage. He wake -- for years he woke
with nightmares. When he comes anywhere near
anything to do with this case he gets shaky and
physically sick.

He made it very clear that he
wants the Inquiry to succeed, he passed that on
to M. Hodson in ny presence, he asked to convey
it to you that he wants you to succeed in your

t ask. He made it very clear that that's what he

want s. He just does not want to be victim zed
agai n. He does not -- he is desperately trying
to forget. He did not even know who M. Hodson

was, he has not read a single media account, he
has not seen a thing on television in all this
time. He wants to know who is accountable, he
wants to know that there should be changes made
in the future, and that is what he wants. He
said he has faith in the Comm ssion and he wants
me to do that task but he does not want to be

victimzed. Any nmention of what happened to him
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causes himillness, and that's all he is trying
to avoid.

Now t he problem he faced
yesterday was to be here is the only way he can
draw attention to the horrific plights of two
peopl e who share a common bond, and that is they
share the frustration, the hurt, and the
devastation of being wrongly convicted. The
response has been, in one case, that the man, M.
-- in one case the man who was tinme in jail in
Quebec, the government says today he was not
factually innocent. The victim has said he's
factually innocent, and in that particular case
t he people who beat himin jail have publicly
apol ogized to him the authorities won't but
t hose who beat him have. That is what David was
champi oni ng, at great cost to hinmself, yesterday.

Certain questions were raised
about the Inquiry and his answers, as | heard
them were to the effect "please do your job".
Those have been always ny instructions.

M . Hodson has been aware of
the situation from day one, right fromthe
begi nni ng, that David would suffer by testifying.

He, M. Hodson, has been very, very, very
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synmpat hetic, and we've tal ked about having David
not have to go through and relive certain events.

But the point, M.

Comm ssioner, is this; and | suggest with
respect, if you think back to areas that David
can enlighten the Comm ssion on, that | will try
to get answers for you. But, personally, | can't

t hi nk of any where he can actually contribute
anyt hi ng.

He has always told the truth,
he gave statements to the police that were
truthful, he testified at the Suprenme Court
truthfully, and he was attacked by every other
party. He went to exam nations for discovery
under oath and was attacked by every party.

Ri ght now his exam nation would strictly be a
menory game, "can you now remember everything
you've tried for 13 years to forget".

He wanted this Inquiry to find
out what caused the -- caused it all. He doesn't
know. He knows next to nothing about Fisher, he
knows next to nothing about WIson and John, as
to what happened to them  Just doesn't know, he
wasn't there. \What possible advantage it is to

revictimze himl don't know.
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And he meant no disrespect,
just the opposite, and it concerns ne, frankly,
M. Comm ssioner, that you m ght take it that
way . He meant no di srespect.

COMM SSI ONER Mac CALLUM: It should concern
you and | do take it that way.

MR. WOLCH: Well then -- but | say he
didn't. He didn't. And | can't think of any
comment he made that could be taken that way.

Al'l he is saying is "don't
victimze me again, don't make me relive it". I
-- none of us can ever, ever appreciate what he
has been through, none of us can appreciate 23
years in jail and what happened afterwards, and
nobody believing him Nobody can possibly
appreci ate being shot in the back. Nobody can
appreci ate what happened to him over the years.
And to say now "we want you to tell us again".

But he has been seeing help, he
has been seeing a therapist who has told him"it
wi Il destroy you by having to relive it", and
we' ve asked for medical reports to give to the --
to My Friend and to yourself as to his condition.

We've made accommodati ons for

wi tnesses in the past, we've gone and vi deot aped
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or whatever, there may have to be an
accomodati on for him

But to say that sonmehow he is
being critical of the Inquiry or yourself, sir,
is just sinply not accurate. He has hope and he
prays that this Conmm ssion will do the work that
will help himand many other people in the
future. That is what he wants. And | would
simply submt that we have to be exceptionally
sensitive to his circunstances. He was severely
damaged by the system and we have to recogni ze
this, that those of us can say "oh yes, we can
all testify, we can come before a Conmm ssion and
tal k", but we haven't been in his shoes, we
haven't lived through what he has |lived through.

And, sir, you haven't heard
what he has lived through, and hopefully we don't
need it, but it is worse than anyone's wor st
nightmare. And | would -- | saw him yesterday.
Just being here caused himto shake, it caused
himto be physically ill, and it's all because of
what it brings back in menory.

It has nothing to do with the
wor ki ng of the Comm ssion, it has to do with the

victim zation of David M|l gaard, and it's not

Meyer CompuCourt Reporting

Certified Professional Court Reporters serving P.A., Regina & Saskatoon since 1980
Central Booking - Call Irene @ 1-800-667-6777 or go to www.compucourt.tv




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Preliminary Matters
Commission and Counsel
Vol 84 - Tuesday, October 25th, 2005

Page 16813

much different than where you have an assault
case where you have a woman who has been brutally
raped or whatever else. The trauma of going
through it is horrific, of having to relive it,
and all we ask for is synpathy and cari ng.

COWM SSI ONER Mac CALLUM: It's a funny way
to go about it, M. Wblch, holding your press
conferences to resolve issues which you believe
exist with your client's help.

MR. WOLCH: Sir, he didn't come here to
di scuss that, he came to help two people who
desperately need hel p.

COMM SSI ONER MacCALLUM:  Then why did he
i ndul ge hinmself in this public declaration of his
intention not to conme, being as a witness?

MR. WOLCH: He has talked to M. Hodson
privately about that. What he has said publicly
was how much he does not want to come, if he has
to come he will, but he does not want to come,
and that is his position.

COMM SSI ONER Mac CALLUM: Here's what he
said publicly:

"I will not attend nor will | discuss it
at all™".

MR. WOLCH: He didn't want to discuss it.
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COWM SSI ONER Mac CALLUM: "To be frank with
you, it makes me physically sick. I
will not attend nor will | discuss it at
all . It is in my past and | want to
| eave it in my past.

REPORTER: While M | gaard supports the
| nquiry process and hopes answers can be
found he does not intend to participate.
Comm ssi on Counsel has the authority to
i ssue a subpoena.

DAVI D M LGAARD: ' m sure, if that happens,
that this Court will |ook so bad, if
anybody wants to | ook that bad, that's
up to them"™

MR. WOLCH: The fact is that, yes, M.

Hodson has said he does not want to have to issue
a subpoena.

COWMM SSI ONER MacCALLUM: And here is you:
"He feels, and | totally agree, that he
can't add anyt hi ng. He wasn't there
when the witnesses were interviewed, he
knows not hi ng about Larry Fisher, he
can't add anything at all to what the
Comm ssion is |ooking at."

MR. WOLCH: And that's -- | stand by those
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comments, sir.
COWM SSI ONER Mac CALLUM: "Even t hough David
M | gaard has no intention of attending
the I nquiry today he was the centre of
attenti on.

REPORTER: Despite being in the very room
where this Inquiry was being held, David
M | gaard says he wants nothing to do
with the proceedings.

DAVI D M LGAARD: To be frank with
you it just makes nme physically sick. I
will not attend nor will | discuss it at
all . It is in my past and | want to
| eave it in the past."”

And t hen:

"MR. WOLCH: Our position is that we have
anal ysed the case, at |east the Inquiry,
we realize David has al nbst nothing to
add. He wasn't there when the witnesses
were interviewed, he doesn't know
anyt hi ng about Larry Fisher, and he has
spent 13 years trying to forget."

W Il son, the reporter, sorry, it's a msprint:
"I'f Ml gaard doesn't willingly appear he

can be subpoenaed.
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DAVI D M LGAARD: ' m sure if that happens
this Court will | ook so bad that, well,

if they want to | ook that bad that's up
to him"
MR. WOLCH: Well, may | make this coment.

Those two, not that it matters, but those two
conversations did not take place at the same
time, that is | was not speaking with David,
those are two separate interviews juxtaposed
t oget her. | was not part of the press
conference.

COMM SSI ONER Mac CALLUM: But nevert hel ess

his position -- tell me this -- is his position
today that he will not conme as a witness to this
| nquiry?

MR. WOLCH: No.

COWM SSI ONER MacCALLUM:  And do you support
t hat position?

MR. WOLCH: | hope he is never a witness in
this Inquiry.

COVMM SSI ONER MacCALLUM: Are you instructed

to tell nme that he will not be here?
MR. WOLCH: " minstructed to apply to
you -- if there is a subpoena I"'minstructed to

apply to you to |ook at the nedical evidence and

Meyer CompuCourt Reporting

Certified Professional Court Reporters serving P.A., Regina & Saskatoon since 1980
Central Booking - Call Irene @ 1-800-667-6777 or go to www.compucourt.tv




Preliminary Matters
Commission and Counsel
Vol 84 - Tuesday, October 25th, 2005

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Page 16817

consi der (a) whether he has to attend, and (b)
whet her there is some accommodation that can be
made to make it less traumatic. Those are ny
instructions, |I've conveyed themto M . Hodson,
M . Hodson met with M. Ml gaard and di scussed
these issues with him yesterday.

COMM SSI ONER MacCALLUM: That's not what
the --

MR. WOLCH: It was after the -- that was
after the press conference. You have to
appreciate that | did not --

COMM SSI ONER Mac CALLUM: He says he is not
comng; iIs he comng or not?

MR. WOLCH: | don't know.

COMM SSI ONER MacCALLUM:  You don't know?

MR. WOLCH: | can't tell you for sure that
it -- if he -- David's condition is that he can
change his mnd fairly quickly. He is
traumati zed.

COWM SSI ONER Mac CALLUM: Now you keep
saying that, and you keep inplying, in fact not
only inplying but stating that his attendance
here as a witness will victimze him Do you
think we're out to victimze your client by

asking himto appear as a witness at the Inquiry
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he demanded hi nsel f?

MR. WOLCH: | think, M. Comm ssioner,
that, with all due respect, that you are m ssing
t he point.

COWM SSI ONER Mac CALLUM: I --

MR. WOLCH: It is not the intention of the

Comm ssion to victimze, | have never suggested
you ever have that intention. | ' m suggesting the
process of having to relive will victim ze.
That's all | have been saying. And that is

sonmet hi ng that happens, we have it on all sorts
of victims, who, when they have to recount what
happened to them have a negative effect. And
that is what | am saying. "' m not suggesting at
all that you or the Comm ssion counsel have any
intention to victimze, I'"'msimly saying you
have not seen nedical reports.

COWMM SSI ONER MacCALLUM: Why haven't | seen
t hem?

MR. WOLCH: Because we haven't got to that
st age yet.

COMM SSI ONER MacCALLUM: We've been here
since January.

MR. WOLCH: We haven't got to that stage

yet .
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COMM SSI ONER MacCALLUM: And | understand
from Comm ssi on Counsel that he has been trying
for a long time to arrange a date which is
suitable to you and your client for his
appear ance?

MR. WOLCH: My client has not been in the
country.

COWM SSI ONER MacCALLUM: | f he can't cone

because of medical reasons, let's see the nmedical
reasons?

MR. WOLCH: That's fine. My client has not
been in the country for nmost of the period of
time, he has not been in Canada for mpst of the
time.

But, with all due respect, |

suggest that the comments that there's

accusations being made to -- that the Comm ssion
or counsel are just not correct. There's been no
accusation nmade. And M. Hodson, |'m sure, wil

support nme that he had nore than one positive
meeting with David yesterday.

COWM SSI ONER Mac CALLUM: But you don't know
if he is going to appear as a witness, you are
not - -

MR. WOLCH: | can't guarantee.
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COVM SSI ONER Mac CALLUM: Pl ease get
instructions. You won't guarantee it?

MR. WOLCH: | can't.

COWM SSI ONER Mac CALLUM: You won't give nme
your undertaking?

MR. WOLCH: | can't give you an undertaking
| can't enforce. David has said, if there is a
subpoena, he will honour a subpoena. He has
said --

COMM SSI ONER Mac CALLUM: He didn't say

t hat .

MR. WOLCH: Well, that's what he said to
M . Hodson, as | understand it. M . Hodson can
tell you -- can repeat the conversation, |'m not

sure, but David had no intention of discussing of
t hat part yesterday in particular. He was here
for other people. But we are | ooking at David
t oday as a person who has conme a long way in 13
years. The David of 13 years could not have
spoken coherently, and we're -- we are, with al
due respect, using the trauma inflicted upon him
agai nst him

He is a victimof trauma, he is
at -- totally victimzed. And to say that,

because you are a victim we now say to you that
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we're gonna scrutinize your conments as we would
to a person who -- with a normal background and
not as a person who has been through what you
have been through is just not fair to him

He is trying very hard to live
a normal life, that's what he wants to do to make
up for the years that he has lost, he is trying
desperately to do that and --

COMM SSI ONER MacCALLUM:  Well M. Wblch, |
didn't ask you for a speech, | asked you for your
position in this matter.

MR. WOLCH: Well - -

COMM SSI ONER MacCALLUM: And, as | take it,
your position is that you have no instructions as
to your client's --

MR. WOLCH: My instructions are to --

COMM SSI ONER Mac CALLUM: -- appearance as a
witness at this Inquiry?

MR. WOLCH: | haven't -- my instructions
are to ask you to excuse him once we have the
medi cal reports, the updated, because | had hoped
maybe thi ngs would change over 6 nonths, or
whatever, in ternms of his progress. A |ot has
happened in his personal life, lots, and

hopefully the things may change as nmonths go by.
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But he is seeing, undergoing
t herapy on a regular basis, on a constant basis,
and | want the nost updated report at the time
when we get close to when he may be a witness,
and at that tinme we will |ikely be applying to
you to excuse himor at |east create a situation
where he wouldn't have to relive the horrific
t hi ngs he suffered.

COWM SSI ONER MacCALLUM:  And, in the
meanti me, you have anal ysed the case and deci ded
that his presence as a witness is not necessary?

MR. WOLCH: That's my opinion, yes, and
that's an opinion | would advance to you.

COVM SSI ONER Mac CALLUM: | began by saying
t hat you can have until 1:30 to consider your
position, M. Wlch, so | will take the
appropriate action at that time. Thank you.

MR. WOLCH: Thank you.

MR. HODSON: | see Ms. Knox is up and |
understand that she and maybe others wish to
comment . M. Comm ssioner, | would like to, if
may, just respond to a couple of the points as
they relate to ny involvement, if that's
perm ssi bl e?

COMM SSI ONER Mac CALLUM: Yes.
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MR. HODSON: Maybe | can start off by
saying as Comm ssion Counsel | have a heavy
responsibility to determ ne who needs to be
called as a witness before this Inquiry, the
| egi sl ature has mandated this Comm ssion to
inquire into certain matters. As you've pointed
out, M. Comm ssioner, this public inquiry was
called for on many occasions by those on behalf
of David M I gaard. In order to -- for this
Comm ssion to discharge its mandate, we need to
hear from wi tnesses who have rel evant evidence.

From day one | had determ ned
and publicly stated that David Ml gaard is a
necessary witness for this Inquiry and | do not
waver from that view at all, although I think it
is obvious why he can give evidence that no one
else can, and then I'Il come to, in a nmoment, to
M. Wolch's concerns about M. Ml gaard's
personal circunstances and his health which I am
deeply concerned about, as is everybody. No one
here is trying to do anything that would cause
harmto M. Mlgaard or to any other wi tness, so
havi ng made that determ nation, | have had
di scussions with M. Wlch for some time now and

| don't want to get into a debate about what we
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each said or what we each heard, | think that
we're probably pretty close as to what has
transpired. | will give you ny version of where
t hi ngs went .

Since M. Ml gaard has standing
and counsel, that puts himin a different
perspective than another wi tnesses, and because
he is who he is, and so | have to, ny efforts to
arrange this attendance nust be through his
counsel, and as | said, | made it known months
ago of my desire to call him nmy desire to
interview M. Ml gaard, and as M. Wblch stated,
M. Ml gaard was out of the country for sonme tinme
and that was not feasible and, fromtime to tinme
t hroughout this Inquiry, there have been reports
in the media quoting Ms. Ml gaard and counsel
saying that David even doesn't want to cone,
shoul dn't come, things of that nature, and I
appreci ate the desire perhaps on their part that
he does not want to be here.

There are other witnesses who
have also told nme they do not wish to be here and
| respect that; however, | have a job to do. I
have got to call evidence that's relevant in a

way that is respectful of the wi tnesses’
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interests, | said that on day one and | say it
agai n. | would rem nd everybody that | called

four sexual assault victinms in a very unique
circunmstance based upon their situation. El mer
U lrich provided us sonme medi cal evidence that
i ndi cated appearing here would cause problens.
We accommpdat ed t hat. My goal is to accommodate
wi t nesses and get the evidence from day one.

| did have discussions with M.
Wbl ch and M. Lockyer a nunmber of nonths ago when
this issue about David testifying or not canme out
and ny view of the discussion, and | appreciate
that it was nothing nore than a di scussion, they
may have different views, if they recognized the
need to have himcalled as a witness. Now, they
may have different views about the relevancy, but
| think, and if they wish to dispute they may, I
under st ood that they recognized ny position and
that | needed to call David as a witness, and in
fact efforts were made through nme and with M.
Wbl ch to try and make that happen.

M. Wl ch has advised ne from
time to time, as he advised you, that it's
difficult for himto commt that M. Ml gaard

will be here, and |I've asked him for that. For
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exampl e, we have M. Caldwell on the stand.
asked M. Caldwell to testify through his
counsel . He arranged to be here.

Wth M. MIlgaard, M. WlIch
has not been able to tell me that, for various
reasons, and he has told ne that. | have asked
hi m on occasion, in fact in written
communi cation, should |I serve himwth a

subpoena, does that assist you, M. Wlch, in

ensuring that your client will be here, does that

help you out if | serve himw th a subpoena so

he's here and we can make that happen, and again

we' ve had discussions of that nature.
As far as the position, | do
not recall being advised point blank that M.

Ml gaard will not testify, that it's a refusal,

and in fact yesterday | spoke with M. Wl ch and

M. Ml gaard about himcomng to testify, and I
have for some time, so if that had been

communi cated to nme, "I'mnot comng," | would
have brought that matter before the Comm ssion,
and | appreciate what has been reported in the
medi a as being a refusal, subject to what M.
Wol ch said, so first of all, prior to yesterday

was not advised that M. Ml gaard will not cone.
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| was working on trying to find a way to get him
to testify in a way that respected his position
and his interests as outlined by M. Wl ch.

Now, the medical reasons, |
must say, although I have been made aware that
this would be a difficult ordeal for M.
M | gaard, and | appreciate that, | have not been
advi sed that, point blank, a doctor said he can't
come or it will cause himharm and if there is
t hat medi cal evidence, nmuch |ike other w tnesses,
| would be happy to take a look at it and | would
be happy to deal with it. That has not been
advanced to nme as a basis to say, as | said,
first of all, they have not said we're not
com ng, secondly, they have not said |ookit, he
can't come because of medical reasons, and in
fairness, they have raised repeatedly that this
wi Il have a negative inmpact on him personally and

so maybe |I'm being, making too fine a point about

the medi cal evidence, but |I'm not aware of a
doctor saying that it will harm him physically
and he ought not to attend. I f that would be
provided | will deal with it as | have with other

witnesses to try and find a way to get the

evidence in without causing himthe harm
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As far as the issue of the
subpoena, yesterday the conmment was made about
the optics of this Comm ssion serving a subpoena
on M. Mlgaard and it would | ook bad. The
counter view of that, that some may have, is the
optics of him not appearing to testify. Putting
aside the nmedical issues for a moment, the optics
of himnot testifying at this Inquiry are
al so not good for the Comm ssion, and | have a
difficult task, many wi tnesses have told me | do
not wish to conme, this will cause me harm,
etcetera, and | guess there's a line there
bet ween not wanting to and causing problens to
health, and | appreciate that and I'm certainly
prepared to | ook at that.

As far as the subpoena issue, |
did not discuss that issue with David M| gaard
yesterday and so as far as whether he would
honour one if served | don't know, but | maintain
my view that | believe his evidence is necessary
for many, many reasons and | would be happy to,
at a later point, elaborate on that, but | think
it's clear as far as his recollection of certain
events, his evidence in ny view is nore than just

specific events back then, is to tell this
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Comm ssion and the public some of the views h

expressed at the press conference yesterday;

exanmpl e, about system c issues for one.
Lastly, | do know, and 1've

been advised this norning, that whether

M. MIlgaard testifies or not is an issue that

ot her counsel or counsel for other parties

beli eves impacts on them and | believe they may

wi sh to speak to that, but just in closing, |

not want -- let me just repeat my position.

believe he's a necessary witness. If there are

i ssues that ought to be considered by me or t
Comm ssion that would cause us to either not

him other than relevance, |I'm not prepared t

change my view on relevance, and | could be wrong

on that and if people wish to address you on

t hey may, but secondly, if there's other reas

t hat woul d suggest an accommodati on or some ot her

circunstance to get his evidence in, |I'm
certainly prepared to listen to that, but | h
not been formally presented with that.
So with that, M. Conmm ssio
per haps other counsel may wi sh to conment.
COWM SSI ONER MacCALLUM: They may wi sh

but I don't want to hear from anybody el se.
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issue is between nmyself and M. Wbl ch and his
client. W'Il hear fromyou -- or | invite you
to speak to me again at 1:30, M. Wbolch, and in
the meantime, we'll continue with the evidence of
this witness.

THOMAS DAVI D ROBERTS, conti nued:

BY MR. HODSON:

M . Cal dwell, when we adjourned yesterday | posed
you a question that I'lIl try and pose again and
you'll recall, let me just run through where we
were at, one, | think you told us that the purpose

of empl oying the section 9(2) application with
respect to Nichol John was to try and get the jury
to not believe her evidence, that being the
critical evidence of the time frame of the nurder,
in other words, when she said |I don't recal

seeing David kill or grab her, stab her, etcetera.
Do you remenmber those remarks?

Yes, sir.

And what you said was that you used 9(2) and
called in the previous statement to say jury, to
di scredit her and say don't believe her when she
said | don't remenber; that's correct?

That's correct, yes.

| then read you what Chief Justice Bence said to
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the jury in his charge and what he said to the
jury was, now, when you get to Nichol John's

evi dence, please only consider that which she
adopted in the witness box; in other words, that
whi ch she said is true, everything else, he said,
shoul d be wholly disregarded. Now, the everything
else is | saw David grab a girl, grab her purse,
drag her down the alley and stab her, so Chief
Justice Bence said to the jury wholly disregard

that, and my question to you yesterday, let's say
-- 1"l put it this way. Let's say |'m a menber
of the jury and | say, okay, |'m going to buy M.
Caldwel |l 's position, | accept that | don't believe

Ni chol John is telling the truth when she says |

don't remember, | think he attacked her
credibility and I don't believe her. s it fair
to say that -- so if she, if I'"'ma juror and | say

| don't believe you when you say you don't recall,
t hen obviously | must conclude that she did recal
somet hi ng and she |ied about it. s that fair?
Yes, it is.

And so if I'"'ma juror and | say, okay, well what
-- then she's lying, she did recall sonmething,
what do you think she recalled. Wuld you agree

with me, sir, that the only other alternative
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that's before the jury would be the previous sworn
statement and the incrimnating evidence?

| would think so, sir.

So in other words, if | accept your position that
her lack of recollection is not credible, then the
| ogi cal next step then is to say, well, then her
previ ous sworn statement nmust be truthful, nust be
what happened; is that fair?

Well, M. Hodson, | would think that a juror in

t hat position could quite properly accept the

t hi ngs she said that had not been contentious, if

| may put it that way.

So let's say that they accept your position
entirely, which is for those parts that she
adopted in the stand, on the stand she's telling
the truth, and that is asking for directions, the
knife, --

Uh- huh.

-- going to the notel, sort of the events before

and after -- let's call it the murder tinme.

Al'l right.

The events before and after the nmurder time. Your
position was believe her when she says that, but

the time frame, which are pages 3, 4 and 5 of the

statement, that the nurder time, the incrimnating
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time, when you get to that part don't believe her
when she says | don't remember, okay, so |I'm on
the jury and I'm going to accept your position
entirely, so I'm saying fine, | believe her, |
believe all her evidence except where she says |
don't recall, okay.

Uh- huh, yes, sir.

And in that scenario, as a juror, is not the
| ogical or the only alternative available -- |et
me back up to this question. |'ma juror saying

okay, she's lying when she says she can't recall,
therefore she recalls something that she's hiding
fromus; right? She's lied to us --

| would think that would be it.

And that was your position, and |I'm not suggesting
anything nefarious, M. Caldwell, this is an
application of section 9(2) and I think it's
i mportant to probe what it was that was your
position, we cannot talk to the jurors and get the
jurors' inpressions, so bear with me and |I'I1l put
myself in a position of a juror trying to

under stand your position, the Crown position at
the tinme.

Very good, sir.

And so |'"'m a juror saying okay, she lied, she
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remenmbers somet hing, what is it, as a juror what

are nmy options as to what it is that she's hiding

from me?

Well, | would see no reason why a juror would not
accept the group -- the bulk, if you will, of her
evi dence which was, if you will, not that

contentious and which may well have been supported
by other Crown witnesses. Now, at the same time

t hey made the decision you've just spoken of about
the 9(2) issue. Jurors | think quite frequently,
and judges sitting alone, they even cautioned
jurors that they may believe something, part, al

or nothing of what any wi tness said, expert or

ot herwi se, so | would feel it was open to any of
those jurors to say we disbelieve that part, but
there's nothing about the rest of her evidence
that | can't accept.

And I"ma juror and | |ike what you had to say in
your closing address and | believe the position
you put forward, |I'm going to believe what you say
| ought to believe.

Al right, sir.

OCkay. And again |I'm just wondering, is it not
true that if I'm searching as a juror to say,

okay, she's lying when she says she doesn't
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recall, that as far as the events in the alley,
the only other thing |I heard as to what Nichol
John m ght have witnessed is in the sworn
statement; correct?

That's right, the one that was the subject of the
9(2).

Correct. So let's put aside the judge's charge to
the jury for a moment.

Very good.

But if I'"ma juror saying okay, | don't believe
her, then is it not logical, or certainly one
option, | think we have to agree one option is to
say okay, well, maybe what she said in the
statement is what really happened?

| would think a juror, despite whatever
instructions were given, when they are out

di scussing it, m ght discuss that among thensel ves

and one or nore of them m ght adopt it would be

my, you know, estimation of that. | don't know if
"' m - -

Sure, and in fairness, | think when you exam ned
her you said you wouldn't |lie to the police, she

said no, she signed the statement, she swore it,
she just said | don't remember telling them I

don't remenber seeing it. | don't think she said
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it didn't happen, she says | just don't remenber.

No .
And so let's -- and maybe this isn't a fair
guestion to you, M. Caldwell, but are you -- |

think it appears that one option for the juror, a
juror or the jury is to say, okay, she nust have
seen it, what she put in her statement nust be
what she recalls, but she's just |lying when she
says she can't recall, that's one.

| think that is one definite option, sir.

Right. And in fairness, |I'mnot sure if 1've
concl uded that she's lying on the critical time
period, there's really no other set of events
that's before the jury that | m ght say, okay,
what does she recall, what else have we heard that
she m ght have recalled?

Well, | would expect that, as a non-juror, that
those things are quite properly discussed anmong

jurors and they may, one may sway the opinions of

ot hers and back and forth. " m sorry, did --
Sorry.

Go ahead.

For example, | mean, it wasn't well, you know

what, there's another set of events that she m ght

have seen, she m ght have seen Ron WIlson do it,
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she m ght have recalled? The only other -- as far

as what happened in that alley, the two options

were | don't recall seeing anything or | saw David
kill her?
Yes.

In summary, those are the two?
That's how she ended up in nmy opinion.

Right. And so if we go through, and let's just
talk for a monment about the judge's charge to the
jury when he says wholly disregard it --

" msorry, did he say -- relating to --

Rel ating to that which she didn't adopt, but |
think you told us yesterday, and in fact two weeks
ago, that you wanted to have the contents of that
statement before the jury for the | awful purpose
you said of 9(2)?

Yes.

I n other words, you wanted it, you needed to

di scredit -- let me back up. | think what you
were saying is you needed to discredit your own
wi t ness because what she said about the critical
time didn't fit your case?

That's right.

And you didn't believe -- you didn't believe her
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to be telling the truth when she said she didn't

recal |l ?

That's correct, sir. Now, there was something you
just said that | wanted to -- oh, this is it, |
hope |I'm correct, | believe Chief Justice Bence in

fact instructed the jury to wholly disregard the
contentious evidence and | would stand to be
corrected, M. Hodson.

His words were, | repeat again, that those things
whi ch she did not admt must be conpletely

di sregarded.

So that's the very clear instruction to them,
you've got to disregard that, and | don't know
how, you know, how he could have inmproved on that.
Ri ght . But | think, though, when we go back,
your -- and maybe the question is how could they
di sregard it.

well --

And let nme -- sorry, how could they disregard it
when the position put forward by the Crown is
she's |lying when she says she doesn't recal

seei ng anyt hing.

Well, we were, |I'"mnot going to say faced with,
but we had the 9(2) procedure avail able and we

attempted, all of us | think, defence counsel
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included, to apply it carefully and at the end of
t hat procedure, | think the |ast step, if you
will, is a very careful adnmonition by the Chief
Justice of the sort you've just mentioned to ne.

I n other words, | don't know how nmuch further
anyone could have gone on that, M. Hodson, unless
he repeated it.

Let's just back up.

Okay.

When you enploy 9(2) you are saying | have a

wi tness who was in the car at the time that M.

M | gaard all egedly nmurdered Gail M ller?

Ri ght .

And the other person in the car has given evidence
incrimnating that he left the car, he didn't

wi t ness anything, but he had an adm ssion from M.
M | gaard, so the Crown theory is that at the tinme
when M. W Ilson and M. Ml gaard left the car, the
mur der took place and Nichol John was sitting in
the car when this happened. There's sone evidence
she may have |left and come back, but she was there
in the car when it happened.

| agree with that scenario, sir.

And so the fact that one of those w tnesses would

in your case say, well, I was in the car, we got
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stuck and then we went to the motel --

That being?

That being Nichol John -- that would not help your
position would it?

Ch, not --

And that m ght contradict the Crown theory and
contradict Ron W1l son wouldn't it?

Well, that's correct. | had a certain series of
facts that | thought was truthful, but what you
said certainly would contradict WI son.

So the jury mght say, well, David Ml gaard did do
this, Ron Wlson said he |eft and came back and
wi t nessed these things, wouldn't Nichol John have
seen something, and so the fact that she saw
not hi ng would be detrimental to the Crown's
position?

It would in that sense, sir.

Yeah. And so under 9(2) you are saying, okay,
well, | don't think she's telling the truth on

t hat part of her evidence, |I'mgoing to discredit
her because | don't want the jury to believe the
evidence that | led in chief, that being that she
didn't see anything and I want to discredit that.
Ri ght .

And the flip side of that is that she must have
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seen somet hi ng?

Well, that would be -- that's correct, and ny
under st andi ng of what she saw woul d be those four
or five contentious matters.

And if we just take a step ahead, and |I won't

bel abour this nmuch further, but let's assume for
the monment that the jury may have said okay, well,
given Nichol John's demeanour on the w tness
stand, and let me just ask you about that, and I

t hink you may have touched on this yesterday, you
formed the inpression that she was not being
credible; is that fair, in her evidence?

That's right.

And one we saw, and | went through yesterday, and
it appeared the judge was, had a number of
exchanges with her; is that fair?

That's right.

| think you described him as being quite inpatient
with her?

He became inpatient as this process went on.
Hostil e or inpatient?

Oh, | wouldn't say that at all, sir, but he had
obviously heard the whole trial up to that point
and had dealt with it, a number of w tnesses,

prof essi onal and ot herwi se, young, old, and had
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been very even and level with themin ny
estimation. Now, when this, when Nichol John got
on, a lot of what she said of course | don't think
was contentious, M. Hodson, but as the difficult
part approached, we saw that the Chief Justice
felt that, evidently felt that he had to intervene
and attempt to keep the thing going, or words to
that effect, that's not properly stated, but --
Right. And | think your inpression was that

Ni chol John was not telling the truth, she was

hi di ng somet hi ng?

Absol utely.

And | think you told us that that's what your

i mpressi on of what Chief Justice Bence al so

t hought based upon his conduct, what he said to
her ?

| would infer that had to be --

I n saying how can you remember this, how can you
not remember that, stop crying, stop crying
before, those things that | went through

yest erday?

| would take it fromthat, sir, what you just

sai d.

And it's difficult for us, reading it on paper, to

get a sense of, a true sense of the atmosphere in
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the courtroom but is it fair to say, M.

Cal dwel | , that at |east to your view and perhaps
others, the inpression was that Chief Justice
Bence was not believing Nichol John when she was
sayi ng she could not recall?

That -- one could come to that conclusion because
of the way it unfolded, ny efforts seem ng to go
|l ess and less well, and then he made sonme
interventions which he felt of course were | think
al most called for on his part.

And in fairness, M. Caldwell, that was your
intent in utilizing 9(2), that very thing is to
have the jury think, boy, Nichol John, |I'm sure
not believing her when she says she didn't see
anything or can't remenmber telling the police she
wi t nessed the murder?

The 9(2) was open to us and we felt it was
appropriate there and that would have been one of
t he outcomes, M. Hodson, among others.

And so if | were to say in your view, M.

Cal dwel |, do you think, and again this is just
based on your inmpressions, but it was your case
you put forward, do you think Nichol John's

evi dence had a significant inpact on the jury in

them reaching the verdict of guilty, and |I'm not
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asking you to look into their m nds, you can't do
t hat, but just generally based on what you saw,
did you feel that Nichol John's evidence, how it
went in and how you discredit her, try to

di scredit her, what the judge said to her and at
the end of the day did you think that Nichol John,
the totality of her evidence and how you interpret
it and how you suggested to the jury hel ped your
cause, or helped the Crown's case, let nme start

t here?

Okay, sir, the jury were out 24 hours, including
an overnight situation. At one point or another
-- perhaps you can | ook at what questions they
came back with, if any, |'m not sure that they
did. | know M. Tallis asked for an amendment to
t he charge. Now, what they went on, M. Hodson,
of course was utterly out of nmy --

No, | appreciate that. Let's go back, maybe |
didn't phrase it very well, |I'm not asking you to
substitute your opinion for the jury, but from
your inmpression, and you are done the Crown's
case, if | said to you just as the jury retired
what do you think is the nmost conpelling piece of
evidence in your case, what would you have said?

Well, at that point, being the nmost recent, would
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be the Nichol John evidence |I would think, but not
overl ooking the Cadrain and W Ison matters, anmong
ot hers, but it would be the nmost recent and
noteworthy, if you wll. ' m sure it would have
had an i nmpact.
Okay. And if we just take a step back, and again
we canvassed this, and I'll canvass it again with
M. Tallis --

COMM SSI ONER MacCALLUM: Just a m nute.
Let me understand you. You are sure that the May
24th statenment would have had an inpact?
Well, My Lord, it was the one over which the 9(2)
skirm sh took place, if you will.

COWM SSI ONER MacCALLUM:  Yes.
And | would, again |I have no idea obviously what
any jury went on. | wouldn't be surprised if they
came to a conclusion simlar to what M. Hodson is
suggesting, that (a), we don't believe her in that
part of her evidence, and that could very well
have been, you know, inportant. | don't know if
t hat answers you.

COWM SSI ONER Mac CALLUM: No, not really.
Okay.

COWM SSI ONER Mac CALLUM: By virtue of the

use of section 9(2), that is, putting --
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effectively putting the May 24th statement before
the jury in cross-exam nation --
Yes.

COWM SSI ONER MacCALLUM: -- by reason of
that, did you not accomplish indirectly what you
couldn't do directly?

Well, that is arguable, sir, in the sense that you
could say, hey, you couldn't do that directly, but
by using this process it went in, you could say,
anyway.

COMWM SSI ONER MacCALLUM:  Yes.

But yeah, | think in a narrow sense that's right,
Sir. | don't know if that --

COWMM SSI ONER MacCALLUM: Was that your
intention?
Pardon me?

COWMM SSI ONER MacCALLUM: Was that your
intention?

Well, no, but the only way you could do the 9(2)
as we thought at that time was the way we did do
it. I n other words, you know, we were very
careful to stay within the guidelines and the
Chief Justice | thought supervised that very
careful ly.

COMM SSI ONER Mac CALLUM: Uh- huh, okay.
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Okay, thank you, sir.
BY MR. HODSON:

Let ne just follow up on that point then, M.

Cal dwell, and let's say, okay, the -- you couldn't

directly put it in front of the jury unless you

adopted it, so indirectly it gets in front of the

jury, let's take that as a given --
Al'l right.

-- that's the prem se.

Very good.

Because they heard it, and | appreciate the

admoni shment by the trial judge, but that's before

the jury in some form Let me put two

propositions to you and get your comment. First

of all, would it be suggestive, sir, that the

wei ght of the incrimnating statement, okay, and

" mtal king about pages 3, 4, 5, that part whic
she didn't adopt --

Yes.

-- but the incrimnating information about seei

David stab her m ght have some el evated

h

ng

credibility in the mnds of the jury because they

m ght be saying one of two things, either she's
trying to help her friend, or (b), she's afraid

him or both, and that's why she's not saying,
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ot her words, boy, she must really be scared, she
must have seen something and that's why she's not
saying it or she's scared of himor she's trying
to help, and again, that would be a possibility?
Yes.

s that fair?

Ei ther of those things, M. Hodson, in ny view
woul d be a possibility.

Okay. And the second proposition, the second
proposition is this, if the statement went in
directly, in other words, if M. John had
testified and adopted it all, she would have been
subjected to cross-exam nation by M. Tallis;
correct?

Well, | assune so, --

-- and of course she was on the 9(2) issue, as you
know.

Let -- and | think it's fair to assume that if

Ni chol John woul d have gone on the stand and said

"everything in nmy statenment is true, that's

exactly what | saw"?

Correct.

And we'll hear from M. Tallis, but -- and | think
it's -- you can assunme, sir, that he would have
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cross-exam ned her on it; right?

Absol utely, sir, and as to the greatest extent

al | owabl e and proper in law | expect he would
have.

Ri ght. And he would have asked her -- tried to
test her version of events; correct?

Certainly.

And he woul d have asked her how she saw David with
that knife in his right-hand when he was

| eft - handed, "are you m staken?"

" m sure he would have foll owed up any of those

t hi ngs that | ooked prom sing --

Yeah.

-- or seemed to conflict.

Yeah, and we'll hear from M. Tallis on these

poi nts, but just a couple of others. One would be
the, | think you said to the jury you couldn't,
you couldn't explain the cuts, the knife marks in
t he coat but not the dress; remenber we went

t hrough that?

| did, sir.

And certainly Nichol John's statement where she
says "I saw David grab the girl and stab her", one
tack to cross-exam nati on m ght be to say "well

how coul d that be, did you see him stab her in the
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back when the knife marks didn't go through her
uni form how did he get the uniform off, why did
you go to Calgary with himif you just saw him
commt a nmurder", etcetera, etcetera. So those
are the things that could have been put to her in
cross-exam nation to test her?

Those certainly could, and those and others, |
woul d t hi nk.

And I"'mnot -- I'"mjust -- and let nme be clear on
this, M. Caldwell, I"mjust trying to probe what
happened at trial and how Section 9(2) was applied
by the Court and dealt with by the Court of
Appeal , and so |I'm not suggesting that you didn't
properly use the section or anything of that
nat ur e.

No.

But the second proposition would be that if that
statement was indirectly considered by the jury,
in other words the incrimnating parts, that, the
incrimnating parts of the statement, would not
have been tested by M. Ml gaard's counsel; is
that fair?

Well if the incrimnating parts went into
evidence, in other words if her evidence had gone

the way | m ght have expected it would in the
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first place, --

Yes?

-- they'd be in evidence and, of course, they'd be
subject to cross-examnation in the |arge sense by
def ence counsel . |s that what you are --

Ri ght, that's correct.

-- getting at? Okay.

S

If it's in directly. If it's put in directly it
tested by cross-exam nation, if --

Are you saying, M. Hodson, "directly' or
"indirectly"?

Directly.

Okay, directly.

So if, for exanple, she adopts the statenent and
repeats it in evidence, M. Tallis is free to
cross-exam ne her and challenge it?

Absol utely.

And then the jury, in considering Nichol John's
evidence of witnessing the murder, can take that
into account. And they m ght say, "you know what,

based on those questions M. Tallis asked | don't
think her story is credible, it doesn't fit",
that's another possibility?

That certainly is, sir.

And in fact the -- so that's one option. | f
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indirectly, in other words there not for the

proof

of its contents and lawfully there under Section

9(2), --

Ri ght .

-- it's before the jury but not tested; agreed?
Um, well in the sense that they are not, at

t hat

poi nt, supposed to pay attention to it, are they,

right?
Ri ght .

Ri ght .

And that's why M. Tallis cannot cross-exam ne on

it, because it's not directly evidence; right?

Yes, but is he not -- yes, that's -- | think is
right, sir.
Yeah. And so, and so | think I my, well | wl

put this question to M. Tallis, but certainly the

net result of this process is that the

incrimnating parts of Nichol John's statement

were heard by the jury, --

Ri ght .

-- may have been considered by them,
notw t hstanding the trial judge's direction?
Correct.

And the incrimnating parts of her statement

not tested in cross-exam nation, and --
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But was that not done, M. Hodson, during the 9(2)
exercise?

No.

Okay. I - -

And in fairness, M. Tallis may be the better
witness to go through this, and | think the reason

or one reason why she could not be cross-exam ned

on that, because she said "I don't know if that
happened, | don't think |I remember that

happeni ng".

Okay.

So you can't cross-exam ne a wi tness on "okay, you
said you saw him grab the knife in your right

hand, are you sure it was the right hand", she

says "I don't know, | don't remember that", so --
Well |I'm sure you are right, sir, I'"mjust -- that
he, with that opinion on her part, it would in

effect thwart cross-exam nati on. Now if, of
course, the statement went in he would be able to
cross-examne to his heart's content, obviously,

if it had gone in in the --

Yeah.

-- what | thought was the usual fashion.

But just to close on this point, then, that if the

statement, the incrimnating part of the statement
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was consi dered by the jury indirectly,

notw t hstandi ng the judge's direction, you would

agree, sir, that, as a result of the 9(2) process,

t hat that statement had not been tested by defence
counsel ?
The -- as | now recall the facts, M. Hodson, you

are right, you are correct in that.

If we could just go back to the judge's charge to

the jury, 006175, and go to page 006203, and |
gone through, and | think yesterday | was just
going through -- did you want the paper copy?
If this could be --
| don't have very many pages to go.
No, that's fine, sir, the enlarged version |I'm
fine with.
Ms. Knox, do you want to have -- it's up to the
witness if he wants to have the paper copy?
COMM SSI ONER Mac CALLUM: He said he's fin
wi th that.
MS. KNOX: And | don't have the sane page
numbers.
MR. HODSON: Okay, well let's just go wt
this, I think we'll be okay.
It's fine, sir.

BY MR. HODSON:
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Okay, sir. If we go down to the bottom and this
is again tal king about the purse, now the judge is
talking '"purse', | think he is meaning the
‘conpact', let's just read through it. He says:

"The presence ...",

et me just back up and | think we'll see where

Okay.

Start here:
"You will recall the evidence of both
W | son and John that there was no such
article in the glove conpartment up to
the time they arrived in Saskatoon. You
will also recall the evidence of WI son,
John and Cadrain that John found this
article, this purse, that it contained
lipstick, eye make-up and a powder
conpact and that nothing was said in
answer to John's inquiry as to who owned
these or to whom do they bel ong, but
that the accused took it and threw it
out the w ndow."

Then he goes on:

"The presence of that purse ...",

| think, M. Caldwell, he is referring to the
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compact or the cosmetic case or whatever?
That's my understanding, sir.
Yes.
There is and was a purse --
Ri ght .
-- but it was not part of this transaction.
And that was the purse, Gail MIller's purse, found
in the garbage can?
That's right.
And so we're on the sanme page here. He says:
"The presence of that purse ...",
bei ng the conpact:
" may be a piece of evidence that you
can take into consideration in
determ ni ng whether or not it was the
accused who took the purse from the
deceased; but on the other hand there
may be an entirely different explanation
for it. That purse may have had nothing
what soever to do with the deceased.
There is nothing to link it up to her.
There were duplicates of those things
t hat were contained in the purse which

was found in the car in the deceased's

purse; there were a nunmber of duplicates

Meyer CompuCourt Reporting

Certified Professional Court Reporters serving P.A., Regina & Saskatoon since 1980
Central Booking - Call Irene @ 1-800-667-6777 or go to www.compucourt.tv




Bobs Caldwell
by Mr. Hodson
Vol 84 - Tuesday, October 25th, 2005

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Page 16857

with one exception and that is the
powder; there was no evidence as |
recollect it of any powder or powder
conmpact being found in the deceased's
purse and there was a powder conpact in
this bag that was found in the car. So
you m ght ask yourselves - well, isn't
it quite likely that the purse in the
car was froman entirely different
source; what would be the necessity for
so much duplication?"
And then it goes on to talk about the knife. So
again on the compact, it would appear that the
judge is saying to the jury in the charge "there
is no evidence that what David M| gaard threw out
the wi ndow was Gail Mller's conpact"?
That's how | read it now, sir.
And | think you told me earlier, when we were
goi ng through the opening address, that that was
an i nportant piece of the Crown theory. The Crown
t heory was that that conpact wasn't in WIlson's
car that norning, it was there later, and (a) the
fact that it's in the car, and (b) that David
Ml gaard threw it out the car w thout explanation,

| think you said the Crown was saying that mnust
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have been Gail MIller's?

That's my recollection, sir.

And that, in throwing it out the w ndow, he is

trying to hide or get rid of evidence; is that

fair?

| -- that nmust have been ny reasoning.

Correct. And scroll down a bit further, please,

right to the bottom And the judge says here,

tal ki ng about the knives:

"I n any event there is the evidence of

both these persons that the accused did

have a paring knife in his possession.

Again it is only evidence, the evidence

of two people who to a considerable

extent could be considered as

di scredited along the Iines |I have

i ndi cated before. It's entirely a

matter for you as to
t hat :

evi dence. "
Yes, | --
So here they are talking --
Sorry.

Sorry?

Meyer CompuCourt Reporting

wei ght you will place on their

Certified Professional Court Reporters serving P.A., Regina & Saskatoon since 1980

Central Booking - Call Irene @ 1-800-667-6777 or go to www.compucourt.tv




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Bobs Caldwell
by Mr. Hodson
Vol 84 - Tuesday, October 25th, 2005

Page 16859

| think it's "what', M. Hodson, which is neither
here nor there | guess.

What did | say?

| think you said 'that' but --

for you as to what weight you wil
pl ace "
Yes.
' m sorry, that:

" you will place on their evidence."
And so, here, the judge is saying "lookit, WIson
and John both saw a knife but they could be
consi dered as discredited along the lines that |
have i ndicated before"?
Yes.
And | take it that was relating to the credibility
of Wl son and John?
| -- it nmust have been, and he nust have revi ewed
t hat before, by the way this sentence is set up.
If you would go to 006208, please, | just want to
touch on the judge's directions relating to Mel nyk
and Lapchuk. He says:

"You may ask yourselves what would be

the motive in these persons of dubious

character incul pating the accused, which

t hey endeavored to do. You have to
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consi der whether the fact that they are
both now charged with crimes m ght have
something to do with it. They m ght
have been trying to ingratiate
thenmsel ves with the police, they m ght
not. They m ght be telling the truth in
this particular instance, they m ght not
be telling the truth. That's entirely
for you to determ ne."
So, again, the fact of the crimnal record of
Mel nyk and Lapchuk, and the fact that they m ght
be trying to get favours with the police, was a
matter that the judge directed the jury to; is
that fair?
Yes, yes he did, and said "it's up to you", in
effect, as you can see.
And | think, in your closing address to the jury,
you said that that, the fact that they admtted
their crimnal involvement, m ght actually bol ster
their credibility?
" m sure | said that.
Yeah. And then if you go down to Cadrain's he
sai d:
"The man Cadrain gave evidence that when

t he accused changed his clothes in his
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Cadrain's home, that the accused had

bl ood on his pants and on his shirt.

Now, Cadrain hasn't got the record that
sonme of these others may of breaches of
the | aw. He was convicted of vagrancy
in Regina but otherwi se he appears to
have a clean record. He didn't go very
far in school, | think it would have
been obvious to you that he is not a
very well educated person, he couldn't
understand some of the sinpler words
that were put to himin questions. You
will also recollect that he didn't give
this informati on when he was first

guesti oned about it. Hi s explanation is
that he just didn't tie it up, the death
of this woman with anything that m ght
have been done by anybody in his party.
He indicated that he wasn't too
concerned about it as far as he was
concerned because he knew he had nothing
to do with it and you m ght easily
conclude if he was sleeping at honme he
wasn't likely to get up at seven o'clock

in the norning to go prowling around in
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t hat kind of weather | ooking for
sonmebody to rob; in any event the
evidence of the part of one of the
wi t nesses at |least is that when they
arrived at the house somewhere around
t he nei ghbourhood of shortly after nine
o' clock, that he was there."
When | read that | get the sense, M. Cal dwell,
that there -- was there sonme issue or suggestion
that M. Cadrain may have been involved?
Well | -- he went along on the trip. As of the
time that the party of three got to Cadrain's
house and the various things that happened in
Saskatoon and the trip through Al berta, back to

Regi na, back to Saskatoon, he was on all of the

above. | can't -- on any construction of the
facts Cadrain, | think, came into it after the
killing, --

Yeah.

-- whoever did it.

And |I'm wonderi ng what m ght pronpt the judge to
say that he wasn't likely to go up and rob anybody
at 7:00 in the morning, and | appreciate this is
not -- these aren't your words, but was there any

suggestion at the trial that Cadrain may have
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somehow been invol ved?

| - -

| don't recall seeing it anywhere.

| don't. But it may have been, you know, "why

shoul dn't he have been involved with everyone

el se". | don't recall seeing it either, M.

Hodson.

Then, if we can go to the bottom of the page, he

t hen tal ks about:
"There is evidence that the accused had
two knives, a hunting knife and a paring
knife. We haven't heard much about the
hunting knife if he did have two knives.
It m ght occur to you to wonder why he

didn't use the heavier knife if he did

use a knife at all instead of the paring
knife. If the accused did commt the
murder | suggest to you that the

evidence is such that you m ght concl ude
that it was somewhere between ...",
or sorry, let me just pause there. So on the
knife issue it | ooks as though there was nention
of a hunting knife as well, and | think that came

from-- was, | think it was either W/ son or

John, maybe | think it was Ms. John seeing it in
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the car, is that --

That's my recollection.

And the hunting knife that was found in the back
alley, and I think we tal ked about that | ast
sitting, by M. Oiver, --

Yes.

-- that was never tendered as evidence; is that
correct?

No. That's the one, sir, that was over a fence
from the body and on the bottom of two stringers,
and at the time it was discovered, as | recall, it
was still covered with snow, and it was not
tendered in evidence, and | think there's been
quite a bit of evidence where it went after it was
retrieved.

Right. And I'm just wondering, if you | ook at
this and say "okay, there's evidence that M.

M | gaard had a maroon-handl ed paring knife and a
hunting knife and a maroon-handl ed knife was found
near the body" --

That's the broken one, sir, | trust?

Yes, the broken one?

Yes.

-- "and a hunting knife was also found near the

body", --

Meyer CompuCourt Reporting

Certified Professional Court Reporters serving P.A., Regina & Saskatoon since 1980

Central Booking - Call Irene @ 1-800-667-6777 or go to www.compucourt.tv



Bobs Caldwell
by Mr. Hodson
Vol 84 - Tuesday, October 25th, 2005

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

O » O » O

Page 16865

Yes.

-- was there some piece of evidence or wtness
that said "lookit, that's not the same knife" that
caused you not to put that knife in?

You know, | can only assume there was. And |
think earlier in the Inquiry, M. Hodson, there
was a very careful exam nation of everything
anyone knew at that point.

Let me just --

Sorry.

Sorry, you go ahead, | hate to interrupt.

That's fine.

Let nme put it this way. |f there had been any
evidence to suggest that the knife, the hunting
knife found by M. Oiver in the alley could
somehow be probative evidence, and in particul ar
to say "this m ght have been the knife" --

Yeah.

-- "or is the knife, the hunting knife", would you
have tendered it as evidence?

| would. And as it happens, M. Tallis knew all

about that knife, he happened to know Const abl e

Oiver, as | recall, as a witness on the police
force, and he was very, | think, aware of that
whol e set of facts and there was nothing -- there

Meyer CompuCourt Reporting

Certified Professional Court Reporters serving P.A., Regina & Saskatoon since 1980
Central Booking - Call Irene @ 1-800-667-6777 or go to www.compucourt.tv




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Bobs Caldwell
by Mr. Hodson
Vol 84 - Tuesday, October 25th, 2005

Page 16866

was no way in which it could be tendered as part

of this offence in nmy estimation.

Now | suppose, and we'll ask this of M. Tallis,

but if he is aware of the knife that's something,

in fact he did question about it --

Yeah.

-- at the prelimand he may have at the trial, |I'm

not sure, certainly at the prelimnary hearing; he

could have put that knife in as evidence if he

wi shed as wel | ?

Oh, he certainly could, and at that tinme it was

readily retrievable fromthe police station |I'm

sure.

And then if we go back, and then let's tal k about

the judge's charge on the tim ng:
"If the accused did commt the rmurder |
suggest to you that the evidence is such
t hat you m ght conclude that it was
somewhere between a quarter to seven and
ten m nutes past seven - if he did -
because the girl was ready to | eave the
house at between twenty-five to seven
and a quarter to seven and they arrived
at the motel at about seven ten."

Now | et me just pause there and talk about the

Meyer CompuCourt Reporting

Certified Professional Court Reporters serving P.A., Regina & Saskatoon since 1980

Central Booking - Call Irene @ 1-800-667-6777 or go to www.compucourt.tv




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Bobs Caldwell
by Mr. Hodson
Vol 84 - Tuesday, October 25th, 2005

O » O »P

Page 16867

time frame. So a 25-m nute wi ndow is what the
judge is telling the jury; correct?

Yes.

And presumably the 6:45 is based on Adeline
Nyczai's evidence about when Gail MIller left?

| assunme so.

And the 7:10 is M. Rasnussen's evidence?

Yeah.

And we've heard nuch, and when we hear M. Tallis
and go through his address to the jury and his
appeal in fact about the timng, in other words
could David M| gaard have commtted this crime,
did he have enough tinme to based upon these two
goal posts, if | can call it that, --

Yeah, yeah.

-- or end posts of the time frame. And was that a
concern of yours, M. Caldwell, that in |ight of
the condition of the body, the fact that the coat,
it |l ooked as though the coat nmust have been
renoved, the uniform renmoved, the coat put back
on, that all of that could happen -- in fact the
25 m nutes m ght even be tight because at 7:10 is
when they get to the nmotel ?

Yeah.

Let's assume it takes a few mnutes to get there.
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Ri ght, all right.

The wi ndow is even tighter; wouldn't it be?

Yes, it would be.

And so it appears -- and again we can't speak for
the jury -- but it would appear that if the jury
accepted this time frame from the judge they nmust
have concl uded that that was sufficient time for
M. Mlgaard to commt the crinme; is that fair?
Yeah. You notice, as a matter of interest, the
judge says in the fifth line that "ten m nutes
past seven", he adds "- if he did -", as in if he
commtted it.

Ri ght .

"Because", etcetera. Now t hat was the estimated
time frame the judge gave the jury. I, I think I
have said, and |I don't want to -- that time,
specific times in these kinds of situations, |

al ways found to be very --

Yeah.

And | think you are aware, sir, that | said --

Yeah, yes, and let's -- yeah, | think what you
told us is that peoples' watches may be out,

t hi ngs of that nature, but let me just pause here.
And | appreciate what you said before, --

Okay, very good.
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-- but after hearing all of the evidence and after

hearing from Adeline Nyczai about her estimte
the time, and hearing from M. Rasmussen and

hearing from the Danchuks, what the judge said

of

to

the jury is -- and, again, that the evidence you

m ght conclude -- and | appreciate the jury the

ultimate trier of fact --

Yeah.

-- but he is putting the wi ndow, based on
everyt hing, between quarter to 7:00 and 10 past
7: 007

Yes, he is.

And says -- and just sort of describes how he gets
t here. So | take it the jury could still say
"well, you know, it had to be 7:20 or 7:30". But

woul d you agree, sir, that the time el ement was

certainly a subject matter that you addressed your

mnd to at the trial?

Yeah. Any way you slice it, M. Hodson, it would

have been a, if you will, a tight fit | would
t hi nk.

Right. And if, in fact, a jury concluded that,

t hat there was not enough time -- let's narrow

down to something, let's say five m nutes. | f

wi ndow was five m nutes, the wi ndow, you m ght
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"well lookit," there's some point of time where
you would say "that's not possible"?

Yes.

Woul d you agree?

Yes, | woul d.

And in fact, if you had all the evidence from

Wl son, John, Cadrain, Melnyk, Lapchuk, but you

had uncontroverted evidence that set the wi ndow at

five mnutes, in other words that that time frane

is the only avail able, --
Yeah.

-- you m ght say, "well that's not possible"?

Yeah, |'m sure | woul d.
And, again, | appreciate that you m ght say that
the five mnutes -- that the five mnutes is

subject to plus or mnus 20 m nutes, you m ght
stretch it?

Yeah.

And here we have 25 m nutes, which is obviously
more than the five, and | think you are saying

it's tight; is that -- are those your words?

M . Hodson, just while we're
this screen, as a matter of interest the judge

goes on to say:
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"There was a suggestion that possibly
the girl was killed at some other
| ocation ...",

Yeah, and |I'Il get to that, M. Caldwell.

Yeah.

"Il go through that.

Okay.

Do you need to go through that to --

Well, just, if I could just finish that sentence?

Sure.

It
" and her body was dropped there. I
don't know what you think of it, that
suggestion doesn't appeal to nme too
strongly on the evidence, but again
that's a matter for you."

So he is leaving, as far as | can see, you know,

all the decisions, as he should on fact, to the

jury.

Yeah.

|'msorry, did I --

No, |I'm sorry, that's fine. | see it's 10:30, it

m ght be an appropriate spot to break, M.

Conmm ssi oner .

(Adj ourned at 10:33 a.m)
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(Reconvened at 10:56 a.m)

BY MR. HODSON:

If |

could have the judge's address to the jury,

006175, brought up please. And again, just where

we finished off at the break, if we could call out

the top part, was on the time frame, M. Cal dwell.

And

| think where we left off you agreed that that

was an issue for the Crown that you had to be

m ndful of, right, the time frame?

Yeah, that's correct.

And we have heard -- and when | say "we" |'m using

t he royal

we" -- we have heard, in the years that

foll owed the conviction, theories and positions

t hat

t hat

it was not enough time for all the things

t he evidence suggested happened in connection

with David M| gaard's group happened in that tight

time frame; you' ve heard that --

Yes.

-- brought forward |ater?

Yes.
And
at t

t hat

| "' m wonderi ng whet her that was also an issue
he trial, in other words that it was sonething
was on your mnd that was an issue that had

to be dealt with; is that fair?

Wel |

it would be in, | guess, in the back of ny
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m nd. In that sense the, | guess the, in the
forefront, if you will, where the evidence and

facts | had to work with as | then knew t hem,
whi ch is what of course we proceeded with, but it
woul d be something in the back of nmy mnd for
sure.
And, again, we'll hear nmore of this from M.
Tallis but | think that was his position both
before the jury and the Court of Appeal, that the
timng didn't fit; in other words M. Ml gaard
could not have commtted this crime --
No.
-- because of this tight time frame. s that --
' m sure that that was his position. | think it's
a very legitimate position to take in these
ci rcumst ances.
And if we could then carry on, and we touched on
this a bit earlier, there is a -- maybe we could
just scroll down so that's at the top. It says,
Chi ef Justice Bence says:
"There was a suggestion that possibly
the girl was killed at some ot her
| ocation and her body was dropped there.
| don't know what you think of it, that

suggestion doesn't appeal to nme too
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strongly on the evidence, but again
that's a matter for you. I f that had
been done it seens to nme that there
woul d have been sone evidence to
i ndicate the presence of a car.
Furthermore if the girl had been killed
somewhere el se why would she be dragged
into that alley so close to her home?
Furt hermore why would her personal
bel ongi ngs be spread all over the
locality? Why would the body be dunped
and then the purse put into a trash can,
the knife handle thrown into a
particul ar yard, the scissors into
anot her yard, the boot and sweater
hi dden under the snow? That she was the
subj ect of a very vicious maniacal
attack seens very apparent - seens very
apparent, | say."
So pausing there, this is the car theory, and we
saw that in sonme of the cross-exam nation by M.
Tallis about observations of a vehicle in the
area, etcetera. And is it fair to say, M.
Caldwell, that if a car was involved -- if a car

was involved in the offence, such that Gail
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MIller was in the vehicle as part of the offence,
if you follow, --

Yes.

-- then that would run counter or be contradicted
by the Crown's theory and the evidence of W/ son
and John?

That's right, it -- the -- if there was a second
or other car, one -- that, in effect, m ght set
the scene for the clothing situation, M. Hodson,
havi ng happened, in effect, el sewhere.

Yeah.

Yeah.

But let's just focus on the WIlson car, --

Oh, very good.

-- not sonebody else's car, just the WIlson car.
Okay.

If there was a car involved such that Gail Ml er
was in the car, the Wl son car --

Yeah.

-- as part of the offence, whether the rape took
pl ace or the stabbing but as part of the offence,
t hen that would be inconsistent with what John and
W lson said first of all; right?

| would think so.

And, second of all, | think the evidence of Nichol
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John, other than running from the car and running
back -- or pardon me -- the evidence in her
statement, she would have been in the vehicle,
t hen, when Gail MIller was in the vehicle; is that
fair?
That's my understandi ng.
And so again, whether you take her statenent of
May 24th or her evidence-in-chief, neither of
t hose described a scenario where Gail MIler was
in their vehicle?
That's right.

And M. Hodson, just before
this, leave, if you will, at the top of this page
the -- if you can just go back to --

To the top? Yeah.

Not -- the very top |line was about a car, the
judge was speaking of that, | wonder if we can get
t hat back. | didn't -- it was the very top |line

in the version | had a moment ago here.

Okay. If we could just go -- | don't believe
there was anything in a car.

But the, if we can go to where you were before the
screen moved, it's --

So if we can go back to page 31 -- yeah, maybe

let's just go to the top part, and | think it

Meyer CompuCourt Reporting

Certified Professional Court Reporters serving P.A., Regina & Saskatoon since 1980
Central Booking - Call Irene @ 1-800-667-6777 or go to www.compucourt.tv




Bobs Caldwell
by Mr. Hodson
Vol 84 - Tuesday, October 25th, 2005

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Page 16877
sai d:
"There was a suggestion that possibly
the girl was killed at some other
| ocati on and her body was dropped
t here.™
| don't --
| think it's below that, sir. Can you just hold

it there for a second?
Oh yes, I'msorry, there it is right here. Yes?
Yes. Now this is the line, approximtely 14 or
15:
"If that had been done it seenms to ne
that there would have been some evidence
to indicate the presence of a car."”
Now, M. Hodson, the way | took the judge as
meani ng, in effect a second or other car, not the
Wl son car, the way that reads, because it --
clearly there was a car present on any view of
t he evidence, the WI|son vehicle as | read it, so
that it seens to me that that -- there would have
been sone evidence to indicate the presence of a
car, the way | took that was a separate or
different or unaccounted-for car.
Let me just try this.

Okay.
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"' m wondering if you, --

Okay.

-- and again we're debating what Chief Justice
Bence was saying, but he tal ks about the body
being killed at another |ocation or the girl being
killed at another |ocation and her body dropped
there?

Yes.

So presumably the vehicle would be where she was
dropped, in other words they drove there and
dropped her there?

| would read it that way.

And it appears, and again | appreciate your
coments earlier, but it appears that if that were
the case there would be some evidence around where
the body was to indicate the presence of a car?
That's how | read it, although I m ght have read
it wrong.

Oh, okay. | read it, rightly or wrongly now, as

i ndicating a separate or different or non-WIson
vehicle, sir, but | may be quite inaccurate in

t hat .

But just back on the car, --

Okay.

-- let's talk about the WIlson car, and again if
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the evidence was that the rape and nurder had
taken place in the WIlson car and then the body
dropped in the alley --

Yes.

-- as a theory, let's just pause there, --

Yup.

-- a couple things the Crown would have difficulty

with. Number 1, W Il son and John didn't say that
and obviously if their car was involved in
dropping the body there she'd be in the car and
they would |ikely know about it; is that fair?

Yes.

And 2, they checked Ron Wlson's car | think twce

and found no, no physical evidence of -- that
woul d connect to Gail MIller. Now that's not to
say that -- | -- that they couldn't have found
it --

No.

-- but they did a search and found nothing that
woul d suggest any blood or any Gail MIller --
anything relating to Gail MIller in the car; is

that fair?

Yeah, | agree with that, sir. And there was a
second search which was also fruitless, | think in
Regina, if | remember correctly.
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So again on the car theory, if the jury thought

for whatever reason that there nust have been --

part of the assault must have taken place in the

car, you would agree that that didn't really fit

well with the Crown theory?

That's right.

No ?

Yeah.

If we could go down to the bottom please. And

you say:
"As has been indicated by counsel one of
t he strangest features of this case is
the fact that there are no stab wounds
in the dress, yet there were stab wounds
in the coat and there were stab wounds
in the front of her. | think the
evi dence of the doctor was that there
were four stab wounds in the back, one
on the side, three or four in the mddle
section and | think one in the
collarbone; you will recall that
evidence - anyway there were multiple
stabbi ngs. The Crown has advanced one
theory to you that she may have been

st abbed and either rendered unconsci ous
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or killed and afterwards raped. One
woul d have thought if that was so that
whoever did the raping would be pretty
wel |l covered with blood; and if those
were the circunmstances and the accused
had done it surely the Danchuks even

t hough they weren't |ooking for blood

10

11

12

13

14
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16

17

18
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25

woul d have seen blood if there had been

a profusion of it, because how could a

person be in contact with a woman

t hat, bl eeding as she nmust have been

bl eedi ng, and not beconme hinself

well covered with blood. And how was
t hat the coat was on her arnms and yet

her dress was pulled down? Of course

there is always the possibility t

i ke

fairly

hat

it

she

was threatened with a knife, raped and

afterwards killed; there is always that

possibility; whether you consi der

it

or

not is entirely up to you. But the fact

remains is that she was killed and the

fact remains is that sonebody had sexual

relations with her and the fact remains

t hat her body was in such a condition

that there is evidence from which you
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m ght conclude in addition to the fact
t hat she had sperm in her vagina, that
she was raped at that particul ar spot
and it wasn't something that may have
happened back home with somebody with
whom she consented to have intercourse.”
And just pause there. It seens that, first off
on the Crown theory that she was raped after she
was unconsci ous or dead, you will recall | went
t hrough that with you yesterday?
Yes.
The judge seens to be saying, well, if that were
the case, then you would expect M. Ml gaard to
have bl ood all over him?
That's right.
And the Danchuks woul d have seen it?
That's how | read that, sir.
And then he says | think the other way around is
that the rape took place first, then perhaps that
m ght explain why there m ght not be bl ood, or as
much bl ood on the assailant; is that fair?
Yes. | think he was |eaving all those things very
much open to the jury.
Was that a concern of yours, M. Caldwell, that

t he Danchuks, and | appreciate the Crown called
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them as wi tnesses, given the condition of Gai
MIller's body, the number of stab wounds, the
amount of bl ood and assum ng the assail ant had
intercourse with her at or around the tinme of the
murder, as to how that would be rationalized with

Wal t er and Sandra Danchuk saying they know

not hi ng.
Yeah. Well, the various of these civilian
wi t nesses saw, as | recall, anything fromno to

some to a bit of blood, the six or eight that
testified, and Cadrain would be one of them Now,
you didn't, | did not or one did not, let's say,
fail to call one of the Danchuks because | knew
ahead of time that their evidence |likely was there
was no blood. What you had to do was call the

wi t nesses as you found them and you certainly

woul dn't skip anyone because let's say no bl ood
woul d be evidence pointing away from guilt on the
part of the accused.

No, and | appreciate that, but let's take the

evi dence that was presented.

Okay.

And did that cause you concern, did you have a
concern that the jury m ght think, well, boy, you

would think M. M| gaard would have a lot nore
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bl ood on him given the photographs of the body.
Well, | felt I simply had to get those w tnesses
into a chronol ogical order as best | could and
call them sir.

No, but my question is this, having called it al
and here's the evidence you have, you've got the
mur der scene, you've got the photographs of the
body and nultiple stab wounds --

Yes.

-- blood and intercourse at some point, either
before, during or after the murder; fair enough?
Ri ght .

And | think one conclusion m ght be that whoever
did that you would think would have a fair amount
of blood on his clothing?

That's certainly one concl usion.

And let's wal k through then who saw bl ood.

M . Rasmussen didn't see any blood, or didn't
notice any, the Danchuks, who spent a considerable
amount of time with M. MIlgaard did not see any,
and again if his blood -- or his shirt or coat or
pants were covered with bl ood, one would expect

t hey woul d have noticed that?

Yes.

Ni chol John never noticed it?
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No.

Ni chol John's evidence was that she never noticed

any bl ood on the clothing?

Yes.

And Al bert Cadrain's evidence, and | think his

evi dence was that it was a spot, | can't recal

t he exact dimensions, but a spot on the pants near

the crotch and as well on the shirt tail | think,
but it certainly wasn't covered with blood, it was
a spot of blood if | can call it, and a big spot,
' mnot trying to --

Yeah.

But again, with that evidence, did you as the
prosecutor | ook at that and say, well, lookit, I'm
not sure this fits quite right, why wouldn't he
have more bl ood on his clothes?

"' m not sure that | did, and Al bert Cadrain was

one of the post-offence witnesses, so to speak,

they went to get him and he did notice something

to do with blood, and | think, M. Hodson, that

may have varied, | can't recall, for better or

worse with the passage of tinme.

| think that's fair, M. Cadrain's evidence,

at

| east up until trial, may not have been conmpletely

consi stent, certainly post conviction his evidence
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about the amount of blood varied a little bit?
Yeah.

| want to go back, though, when you are putting
your case in at trial and as a prosecutor trying
to assess and | ook at -- for exanmple, you said to
the jury I can't explain the coat with the stab
marks in the uniform  What about the bl ood, did
you ever | ook at that and say, rightly or wrongly,

| would have thought he would have had more bl ood

on hi m?
| may have, M. Hodson, but at this point |I can't
see any, if you will, record of that.

Sure. And |I think in fairness what you did say,
is you called the witnesses as you had them and

t hat was the evidence and would it be fair to say
t hat that would be for the juror to ponder whether
or not, and | suppose it's open for the jury to
say | would have expected him (a), to have nore
bl ood on his clothes, and (b), for the Danchuks to
have seen it?

Absol utely, among any other factual conclusions

t hey could cone to.

If you could scroll down, please, the judge
carries on about:

"Her pants were pulled down, why the
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dress would be pulled down | woul dn't

know if the pants were pulled down,

apparently it was. And she was

but

according to the evidence, which you may

accept or not, that she was stabbed

in

t he back through the coat and the coat

must have been on her then when she was

st abbed. Furt hermore the wounds t hat

were inflicted on the back were the

fatal wounds.

There is a conplete |ack of

footprints which would indicate that she

was runni ng away or that she was dragged

t here. It seens obvious that if either

she or whoever attacked her had been

wal king in other than the travelled

portions of the |lane that the footprints

woul d have been seen leading up to

t hat

particul ar spot. You will recollect the

evi dence of the officer that it was so

cold that the snow was just |ike sand

and it may have been that both persons

got there walking in the centre of

alley on the snmooth portion of the

t he

alley. There seens to be very cogent
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evi dence that some kind of a struggle
t ook place; otherwi se why would all that
portion be trapped down? And her hands
were clenched. Now, | don't know what
t hat means, there was no question asked
of the doctor, but there was snow
clenched in her hands, which may have
been clenched in dying agony, | don't
know, but there is certainly evidence
generally to indicate that there was a
struggle which took place there."
And certainly, and again this just covers the
bl ood point, if there was a struggle between Gai
MIller and David M| gaard according to this
direction to the jury, again that m ght also
suggest that M. Ml gaard m ght have nore bl ood
on himthan if there had not been a struggle?
It mght well, sir.
If we can then scroll down, and then the judge
carries this a bit further:
"As | say, if that girl was struck down
by a sharp instrument as has been
i ndi cated and was bl eeding profusely in
t he manner which is indicated in the

phot ograph which is part of Exhibit P.3,
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and that it was after that that she was
sexual ly attacked, you would expect |
think to find a considerable quantity of
bl ood on her attacker. On the other
hand if she were forced to submt to
sexual intercourse by threats and knifed
afterwards, there m ght not be the sanme
i keli hood because the individual in
guesti on wouldn't necessarily be in the
same proximty to her as he would be if
he were having sexual relations with
her. There was no evidence of any
damage to the genitals which would
i ndicate there was any forcible entry,
al t hough the doctor said that her
physi cal make-up was such that
intercourse could be had fairly easily.
He did, however, say that she was a
young girl and if she had wanted to
resist could have put up quite a
struggle.™

So if I can pause there, and | think again that's

just what we've been discussing about trying to

figure out when the rape took place before,

during or after the nmurder seemed to have sone
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connection with how much bl ood the assail ant

m ght have on him is that fair?

| would think so.

And then the judge says:
"Some of the evidence which was adduced
| suggest is not of very much assistance
to us. The fact that the wallet was
found near Cadrain's is not evidence
really which you could link up with the
accused. \hoever robbed her may have
thrown it anywhere, and the fact that it
was three doors away from Cadrain's
doesn't, | suggest, inplicate the
accused to any degree at all. Anybody,
any person m ght have dropped it in that
particular locality. It was her wallet,
| don't think you can have any doubt
that it was her wallet; the contents
cont ai ned bel ongi ngs of hers and the
hospitalization cards were found
near by. "

So let me just pause there. On the wallet, which

| think you've told us both in your opening

remar ks and your closing remarks, was evidence

that the Crown tried to link to David M | gaard;
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correct?

In the sense of items after the offence and

| eading to Cadrain's house, sir, yes.

And in fact you indicated, or it was indicated in
the trial a peculiar fact, | think it was

descri bed, of after they arrived at the Cadrain
house, of M. Ml gaard going for a drive in Ron
Wl son's vehicle around the bl ock. Do you
remenber that?

Yes, | do.

And | think the Crown theory was that that may
have been when he threw away Gail Mller's wallet?
It may well have been, sir.

So here the judge seens to be saying to the jury
put no wei ght on the wallet?

Whi ch of course is an advantage to whoever the
accused is.

And again the wallet point though was part of -- |
mean, it was part of your theory, you wanted the
jury to look at the wallet, where it was found and
link that to David M | gaard?

Yes, that's correct.

Did that direction from the judge cause you any
concern?

Not at all. Judges and jury in other cases have
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the right to pass on what they think of the

wei ght, strength, weakness, etcetera, of

i ndi vidual bits of evidence.

And then the judge says:
"The toque | suggest to you is of no
consequence whatever. The toque m ght
have been the toque of some small boy
who got a nose bleed and dropped his hat
and went running home; it wasn't turned
over to the police until some
consi derable time afterwards, it may
have been found shortly afterwards but
there is nothing in any way to connect
it up to anybody in the car, --"

I|f you can scroll down,
"-- that is John, the accused or W son
or nothing to connect it up with
Cadrain. There were no evidences of
scratches on the face of the accused on
t hat day. | think that if there had
been any noticeable scratches it would
have cone to the attention of people
i ke the Danchuks or the man in the
mot el or Cadrain, or WIlson or John."

So again it |looks like the toque, like the
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wal | et, the judge said don't put any -- well, the

judge's view was that it was of no consequence;

is that fair?

That's right.

Can we go to the next page, the judge then talks

about the right handed, |eft handed, he says:
"There is evidence by one of the
officers that the accused is |eft
handed; that of course doesn't
necessarily mean that because a person
is left handed they would use the |eft
hand for the purpose of stabbing; a
person m ght use the left hand for one
purpose and the other hand at the same
time for another purpose. But | merely
poi nt that out to you as something which
you will have to take into consideration
in determ ning whether or not it
elimnates the accused as a possible
mur derer . "

So pause there. So again that's simlar to what

you said to the jury; is that fair?

Yes, it is. Just beneath that, M. Hodson, the

j udge checked --

"' m getting --
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"' m sorry, okay. | beg your pardon.

The judge says:
"l checked ny notes and | believe that
M . Caldwell must have been in error
when he said that the accused went to
t he bat hroom and that gave him an
opportunity to clean up."

And again he's tal king about the Danchuks.

Oh, okay.
"The notes | have on it and your
recollection will be as good if not
better than m ne, was that there was
some evidence that he was being given a
drink of water and that he may have been
al one while Ms. Danchuk was going to
get hima drink of water or he may have
been al one after he got the drink of
water, | don't know, but | don't think
there was any suggestion in the evidence
t hat he had an opportunity of going to
t he bat hroom and cl eaning up."”

And | think that's what's reflected in the

record. So again, next page, and again the judge

is tal king about the notel reenactment and

Lapchuk and Mel nyk, and he goes on to say:
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"If you come to the conclusion that they
were telling the truth, you nust go
further and determ ne whether or not in
fact the accused was telling the truth,
because it could only be accepted as
evi dence against the accused if you
concl uded that he did make the statenent
and that in making the statenment he was
telling the truth. Sometimes persons
make statements which are conpletely
untrue - for various reasons. Persons
have been known to admt to things that
they didn't do; persons have been known
to boast about things that they didn't
do. And so in order to consider that
evi dence you would have to find not only
that the statement was nmade or the
statements were made but that the person
who made the statement was in fact
telling the truth."

Scroll down. Let ne just pause there. | think

what he's saying then, M. Caldwell, and pl ease

correct me if I'"'mwong, that with respect to

Mel nyk and Lapchuk, that there's two steps, one,

you have to believe Mel nyk and Lapchuk when they
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say here's what David M| gaard said in the notel

room?

Yeah.

And secondly, you have to conclude that what he
said was truthful?

That's how | read this.

And so that would have been put before the -- and
| take it that was the Crown's position?

Yeah. It -- that's a two-stage thing. | had,

frankly, didn't recall this, but it would seemto

me that was very fair to the accused, as | would

put it, because of that.

And | think you told us yesterday that if you had

concl uded that Mel nyk and Lapchuk, based on what

they said, that David M | gaard was joking when he

made the comment and that it was not taken

seriously by them | think you told us something

to the effect that you may not have called the

evi dence?

That's right, sir.

And is it fair to conclude that the evidence you

were calling, or the purpose of Melnyk and
Lapchuk, you were saying the accused has adm
killing Gail MIller, that was the purpose of

evi dence?
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| would say so.
And you wanted the jury to believe not only Mel nyk
and Lapchuk, but you wanted the jury to believe
t hat when David M | gaard did what they reported he
did and said, that David M| gaard was telling the
truth?
Yeah, and essentially reenacting the offence.
Go to the next page, the judge coments about the
drug use:
"Now, being under the influence of drugs
woul d he be nore likely to create a bit
of a sensation by admtting something
t hat wasn't true?"
And again he's tal king about David Ml gaard in
the notel room
"Woul d he be nmore likely under the
i nfluence of drugs to have his
i nhi bitions renoved and be nore carel ess
about guarding his tongue? Those are
all matters that you will have to
consider in determ ning whether or not
if you do believe these witnesses that
the accused did make those statenments,
whet her the accused in fact was telling

the truth when he made the statenments."
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And again, | think we've touched on that; is that
correct?
Yes, sir.

And then if we could go to page 006219, and just
for the record -- and it | ooks as though that
after the Court was done the judge, or the judge
was done his charge to the jury, he asked both
counsel to address with any suggestions which is
customary practice; correct?
Yes.
And you said you have no suggestions to make?
That's right.
And M. Tallis did, and I will go through those
with M. Tallis. If we could go ahead to page
006228 and this is after, and I won't go through
it, I'"ll go through it, M. Comm ssioner, with
M. Tallis, they are his remarks to the judge, but
then after M. Tallis made his remarks, the jury
was cal |l ed back in and Chief Justice Bence made
the foll owi ng additional conmments, he says:
"Some considerable time was taken by
counsel and by nme too in dealing with
this matter of time and the question as
to when the deceased |left the house may

be of very considerable inportance to
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you in determ ning whether or not the
accused could have had the time to rape,
mur der and steal, or whether the time
was such that it was too short for him
to have been able to do all these things
which as you will recollect one of the
police officers said in connection with
the coat - well, this would all take
sonme time. So you bear in mnd the tinme
factor, | suggest, Menbers of the Jury,
very seriously in determ ning whether or
not the accused could have done the
things with which he is charged - could
have done the thing with which he is
charged. "

So again it appears that the jury was brought

back for a further direction regarding the time

factor?

That's right, sir.

| think we have seen evidence, and you made a

comment earlier, that the jury was out for about a

day, | think the record shows that | think you

wer e done Thursday afternoon and they cane back

Fri day around noon time; does that sound right?

Roughly speaking, sir. | thought it was 24 hours,
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but I"m sure that figure is nmore correct.

When you were done presenting your case before the
jury canme back, had you -- if you could tell wus,
M. Caldwell, did the case go in as you expected,;
in other words, the evidence went in as you had

t hought it m ght?

Yeah, | would say very largely it did, sir.

And were you expecting a guilty verdict at the
concl usion of the case before the jury came back,
and | appreciate that it's in the hands of the
jury, but did you have a feeling after the

evi dence went in that you felt there was enough
there for the jury to convict?

Well, | certainly felt there was enough there for
them to convict, but | have | earned the folly of

trying to conclude ahead of time what any

i ndi vidual jury will do, so | think I -- just put
it that way, as best | could, if that's of any
hel p.

If we could call up 006886, please, and this is a
docunent called a report on conpleted case, and
"Il go through parts of it. Can you tell us just
generally -- and this is your document that you
prepared; is that correct?

That's right.
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And, M. Comm ssioner, there's a date on the | ast
page when we get to it, it's February 12th, 1970,
so about 12 days after the verdict. Can you tel
us, what was the purpose of this report and who
did you send it to?

Well, it was a standard form | think, M.
Hodson, that there's a version that, w thout all
t hat underlining, that m ght be very useful to
everyone, if that's convenient. The underlining

was to get organized sendi ng people witness fees.

Ri ght, and --

So that may not be, but | can still work from
this.

The next page, |'mnot going to go through any of

the witnesses.

Okay, that's fine.

But maybe just generally, so who was this report
sent to?

Well, it would go to the departnment of the
Attorney General in Regina, be addressed to the
Deputy Attorney General and would go to crim nal
prosecutions.

And what were you generally required to put in
this report?

Well, | don't know there are any hard and fast
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rul es. In this case | put in every one of the
trial dates, where the trial took place, the duty
of the judge and the fact that it was a jury
trial.

Let's just -- sorry, |I'mnmre focused on the
comment s.

Okay.

Maybe go to the next page.

Okay, that's fine, sir.

There's three pages of --

| can come back.

-- coments, and maybe just from this point on,
' m not interested in the witnesses or the witness
fees --

Okay.

-- but it |l ooks as though you gave a summary of
your view of how the evidence went in and your
comments on the case?

Yes. Can you pull that top down just a couple of
lines?

Scroll up, please? Scroll to the top.

Okay, yeah. So, yeah, what | did indicate, that
the witnesses by and | arge gave evidence sim|l ar
to that which they gave at the prelimnary inquiry

and some 41 items were made exhibits at the trial.
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Q We'll go through parts of this.
Okay, that's fine.

Q Sorry, just | ooking generally, M. Caldwell, you
were telling your superiors here's what
happened - -

A Yeah.

Q -- at the trial?

A Yeah, that's right.

Q And this is a record that you would make in the
ordi nary course of every case, a conpleted case,
this is what happened?

A Certainly anything of any consequence at all,
maybe not on Vehicles Act, inmpaired drivers,
certainly on any Queen's Bench or in those
district court speedy trials, this would be
produced.

Q And would this be something that if there was an
appeal, and I'Il get to the appeal in a bit, m ght
be used by appellate counsel ?

A Yeah, | would certainly hope so, for his own
information.

Q So let's just go through parts of this, this

par agraph, if we could call that out, please, and
it says:

"There were two new witnesses called by
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the Crown who were not called at the

prelimnary inquiry --"

Bei ng Mel nyk and Lapchuk, and then you say:
"Ronald W I son advised members of the
Saskat oon Police Department --"

Do you want the paper copy?

Oh, thank you.

And I'I1l carry on on the screen.
"Ronald W I son advised members of the
Saskat oon Police Department, on January
18t h, when they were driving himto
Saskatoon for the trial commencing on
the 19th, that the previous evening in
Regi na, which would be January 17th, he
had | earned as a result of telling
ei ther Mel nyk or Lapchuk he was going to
Saskatoon to testify in the M| gaard
trial, of an incident in which M gaard
had, in effect, re-enacted the killing
for the benefit of Melnyk, Lapchuk and
two girls who had been with MIlgaard in
a notel in Regina in May of 1969. The
police advised me of this the same day

and | had them return to Regina on the

19th and | ocate and interview Lapchuk,
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Mel nyk and a girl named Ute Frank who
was al so present in the motel room ™
And | take it, would that be an accurate --
Yes, it is, sir.
And just on the issue of how Melnyk and Lapchuk
were identified, according to this note, which
woul d be February 12th, so that would be about
three weeks after, or four weeks after you first
became aware of Mel nyk and Lapchuk?
No, this was the night before the trial, sir.
No, sorry, this report of February 12th.
Oh, oh, yeah, it was at the end of the trial.
Right. So that would be within a few weeks of you
first becom ng aware of Mel nyk and Lapchuk?
That's right, sir.
And it appears fromthis that it was Ron W I son
who told members of the police department on
January 18th, which is |I think the Saturday before
the trial, if I'"mnot m staken, or the Sunday, and
Ron W lson told them when he was driving to
Saskatoon for the trial that the night before in
Regi na he had talked to Mel nyk and Lapchuk, Mel nyk
or Lapchuk, and W Ilson told Melnyk and Lapchuk he
was going to Regina (sic) to testify at the

M |l gaard trial and that's when and how Mel nyk and
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Lapchuk told W I son about the notel reenactnent.

Do you see that?

Yeah. It's to Saskatoon, of course, but the rest,
yes.

And again we've asked or |'ve asked the question
of Mel nyk, Lapchuk, WIson, | think of M. Karst,

and | don't think we've had anybody say with
certainty at the inquiry how it was that Mel nyk
and Lapchuk, their information got to the police,
but according to this note it |ooks |like WIson
told them he was testifying, they then said here's
what we know, W Ilson told the police, the police
told you and the police then went and tal ked to
Mel nyk and Lapchuk?

That's right, sir.

And again, do you have any reason to doubt the
accuracy of what you put in this report about how
t hat evidence came to be?

No. | think it's in the file in a very sim/lar
form but that's accurate in nmy estimation.

And then scroll down to the bottom vyou then say,
and again you covered sonme of this in your notes:
"l had the three of them cone to

Saskat oon Friday, January 23rd, and

interviewed them advising M. Tallis
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January 24th that | would plan on
calling the two males late in the
Crown's case. This was done and both of
these two witnesses gave good evidence,
particularly George Nick Lapchuk who had
the worst crimnal record as between
hi msel f and Mel nyk."

And again | think that's accurate?

Yes, sir.

And then the next page --

M . Hodson, | would, were you interested in the

par agraph right before that? |If not --

No, | think you've touched on that.

Okay, that's fine.

About your communications with M. Tallis.

That was it.

And then the next page, if we could just go to the

second paragraph, you write:
"At the conclusion of the Crown's case |
called Marie Indyk as a w tness. | had
call ed her at the prelimnary inquiry,
however, | was satisfied that she was so
confused in her evidence that | did not
intend to call her at the trial.

M. Tallis requested that this be done
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and | did call

| ndyk as the final

and exam ne

in chief Ms.

crown witness."

And is that accurate?
Yes, it is.
Q Then the next paragraph, you say:
"The matter of the two new crown
wi t nesses, Melnyk and Lapchuk, was
argued by the defence only to the extent
of putting an objection on the record to
their evidence. In my argunment | sited
several cases which will appear in the
transcript, which clearly support the
proposition that the Crown is entitled
to call new evidence at the trial, which
it did not call at the prelimnary
inquiry, in a manner which was done
here. This point was not seriously
argued by the defence.™
And again, is that accurate?
Yes, sir.
Q So the issue there, are you saying that the timng
issue, the fact that you didn't call Melnyk and
Lapchuk at the prelimnary inquiry was argued by
M. Tallis, but not strenuously?
A Yeah. Of course to begin with, we didn't know
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t hey existed at the --

Yes.

-- time of the prelimnary inquiry, and presumably

there's quite a bit of |aw authorizing calling

evi dence that appears, if you will, late in the

game, and evidently that was argued and the ruling

was made, if you will, in nmy favour.

And at that time would it have been open to

M. Tallis to ask for an adjournment of the trial
given the new evidence of Melnyk and Lapchuk?

| would suppose that would be open to him

And are you able to tell us what position you

m ght have taken on that or what -- what was the

practice of the day?

Well, | would have been reluctant to be a party to

movi ng the entire trial to, let's say, the next
sittings in view of all the logistics involved.
Had M. Tallis made that application, it could
have succeeded. My menory, sir, is that he
didn't, and | certainly would have been gui ded
obviously by what the judge ruled, but I would
have been very reluctant to see it nmoved because
of the I arge number of wi tnesses and all the

busi ness of getting them there and making sure

t hey are subpoenaed and all that.
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Okay. If we could just go down to the fourth

par agraph you say:
"The main point of |aw arising during
the trial came during the evidence of
Ni chol John. Both she and W I son had
originally given statements that were
either false or deliberately omtted
t hi ngs which they knew about the crime,
to Inspector Riddell of the RCMP in
Regi na. (During March of 1969 which was
early in the investigation.) As the
i nvestigation progressed, WIson was
interviewed at | ength, in Saskatoon, by
| nspector ... Roberts of the Calgary
City Police Departnment with assistance
of a polygraph, as a result of which
| nspect or Roberts was of the opinion
that W1lson was now telling the truth
about this matter as he knew it, and
Wl son gave a truthful statement to Det.
Karst on May 23rd, 1969, followi ng which
on May 24th, 1969, Nichol John gave a
truthful statement of what she really
knew about the matter, to Det/ Sgt.

Macki e of the Saskatoon Police
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Depart ment . "
If we can just go back, at this time it | ooks

t hough your position is that the first stateme

as

nts

W | son and John gave were false or deliberately

omtted things?
Yes, sir.
And then you go on to tal k about the polygraph

and you tal k about Roberts doing the polygraph

and expressing the opinion that WIlson was now

telling the truth about the matter?

That --

And that would be the incrimnating statenment?
That's how | put it and that's how ny
under st andi ng woul d be.

And | think, | believe, | think you told us a
coupl e weeks ago that your understanding of th

pol ygraph that Roberts conducted is that Ron

W lson's incrimnating statement was tested by him
and Roberts thought, based on polygraph, it was
truthful; is that --
That's how | recall it, sir, in a very rough form
If we can then scroll down, skip the next
paragraph and down to paragraph --
"Both in the prelimnary inquiry and
during ordinary exam nation in chief at
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the trial, Nichol John had refused to
describe this part of the incident,

what ever, and while she gave good
evidence as to the earlier parts of the
epi sode, including the trip to Saskatoon
from Regi na and events happening after
they left the scene of the nurder, she
was extremely non-commttal about what
happened at the time inmmedi ately
surroundi ng the murder, repeatedly
saying that she could not remember or

did not recall about these events."

And then scroll down, and this is where it talks

9(2):

"At the conclusion of ordinary

exam nation in chief, | made an
application to the Chief Justice, in the
absence of the jury, to cross-exam ne

Ni chol John as provided for in Section
9(2) of the Canada Evi dence Act for the
purpose of the Court considering that
cross-exam nation in determ ning

whet her, in the opinion of the Court,
she was an adverse witness. There was

some di scussi on between the judge and

Meyer CompuCourt Reporting

Certified Professional Court Reporters serving P.A., Regina & Saskatoon since 1980
Central Booking - Call Irene @ 1-800-667-6777 or go to www.compucourt.tv




Bobs Caldwell
by Mr. Hodson
Vol 84 - Tuesday, October 25th, 2005

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Page 16913

counsel as to how this should be done
and initially both myself and M. Tallis
were of the opinion that this
cross-exam nation should take place in
t he absence of the jury and there was
some argument on this point. Hi s
Lordshi p, however, ruled that the
cross-exam nation must take place in the
presence of the jury and all owed me
perm ssion to conduct such
cross-exam nation, which I did, in the
presence of the jury."

And, again, that would accurately describe --

Yes sir.

-- the 9(2) proceeding? And then, the top of the

next page, you say:
"The met hod of going about this was
di scussed between M . Kujawa,
M. Perras, and myself, and | foll owed
the method we had agreed upon which was
to have the witness, in the presence of
the jury, read the statement over
silently to herself, acknow edge that
she had signed all the pages of the

statenent, and then direct her attention
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specifically to pages 3, 4, and 5 of the
statement, asking her whether the
contents of those pages were true,
wi t hout going into what the contents of
either those three pages or the
statement as a whole were. This course
was followed and she agreed, under oath,
that the statement was her statement
but, when asked whether the contents of
t hose three pages were true, her reply
was "l don't remember"."

And, again, it |ooks as though, in advance of the

trial, you and M. Perras and M. Kujawa woul d

have di scussed how to use Section 9(2); is that
fair?
Yes, we definitely did, I -- | am sure that that

happened as recited here, because | dictated this
shortly after the trial, of course.

And then if we can, | don't propose to go through
t he next few paragraphs, you describe the
cross-exam nation, you descri be the judge giving
the jury -- the warning to the jury as to the
l[imted use they could make of the evidence, and
he repeated this warning full in his charge |ater

on. Then you say:
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"I feel that the end result of this
ruling and the cross-exam nation woul d
be to remove a very grave hiatus between
t he evidence of Nichol John and that of
Wl son as to what went on at about the
time of the killing. | feel that the
jury must eventually have decided to
di sbelieve Nichol John as to this part
of her testimony, having heard that at
one time she had said that she did see
t he stabbing take place.”
And, again, we spent sone time this morning and
yesterday tal king about that but | -- and | think
this confirms, M. Caldwell, your -- and correct
me if I'"mwrong -- your purpose in discrediting
her was to, | think as you say, renove a very
grave hiatus between the evidence of John and
W | son?
That's -- that's right, sir.
And so would it be fair to say to make her

evi dence nore consistent with what W I son had

sai d?

Unm vyeah, there was a grave hiatus. | believed
that the -- that WIlson's evidence was at --
truthful and | believed that, you know, her -- she
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was not forthcom ng, obviously, w th what |

t hought was the truth on her part.

But, again, as far as the jury, as far as the jury

not believing Nichol John, let's say --

Yeah.

-- that the May 24th statement had never been
before the jury at all --

Yes.

-- but the judge sinply said "jury, |I'mgoing to
direct you not to believe Nichol John when she
says 'l don't know what happened, | don't
recall'". That's the net effect, right, that's -
Yeah, | -- but | don't know how he could do that
in that factual situation, sir. I n other words |
don't think -- 1'd be surprised if the judge coul
say "don't believe Nichol John, period", | --
maybe that's not what you are suggesting?

On that part of it?

Yeah. | don't -- and perhaps |I'"'mnot following o
that, sir.
Yeah. | guess I"'mtrying to probe whether the

only way that Nichol John's evidence of the tine
of the murder could be discredited -- could it be
di scredited without putting the incrimnating

parts of the May 24th statement before the jury?
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| don't know how that could be done.

Okay.

s that --

Yeah, no, that's fair.

Yeah, okay.

Then you say:
"I had interviewed her at |ength and
very carefully before the prelimnary

inquiry and on different occasions,

however, for some reason she never was

willing to give this account of the

matter in open court, as to having seen

M | gaard actually doing the stabbing."”

And when | read that, M. Caldwell, it seens to

suggest that, when she was not in open Court,
that she did repeat her account of the matter?

That's how |I'm reading that, M. Hodson.

And | think you told us two weeks ago, or when we

touched on this subject before, that you don't
recall her ever telling you or repeating the
incrimnating statements in your interviews wit
her ?

Well, that is correct, and in the same breath,
you will, this paragraph you've just read

indicates -- indicates to ne that she did, so |
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t hi nk both those things are --

Okay.

| didn't remenber it, and this appears to indicate
t hat she did.

So | think, and just so that | am clear here, --
Yeah.

-- your recollection today is that you have no
recoll ection of her, in any of your interviews
with her, of Nichol John repeating the
incrimnating statements to you?

That's right, sir.

And, | ooking at this note, are you telling us

t hat, based upon what you wrote on February 12th,
1970, that you think she did repeat the
incrimnating statements in interviews with you,
or may have? |'m --

Well | would think 'may have'. The way that

par agraph reads, it could be '"did', and I would

think at | east 'may have'.

for some reason she never was
willing to give this account of the

matter in open court

Oh, I"'m-- yeah, I"'ma little -- very:

interviewed her at |ength and very

carefully before the prelimnary inquiry
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and on different occasions, however, for
some reason she never was willing to
give this account of the matter in open
court ...",

t hat would be the one with the four or five very

incrimnating points.

Yes.

Yeah.

And I'm just wondering, having read that, are you

able to assist us, M. Caldwell, in trying to

determ ne whether or not Nichol John would have

repeated the incrimnating statements to you in

i ntervi ews?

Well I -- 1 -- it |ooks that way, M. Hodson, from
the way that report reads but | can't be utterly
positive.

If we could then scroll down, please, you then

say:
"I feel that the Chief Justice covered
all the various instructions and points
whi ch were necessary, carefully, in his
charge. He did not raise the question
of W Ilson or Nichol John being
accomplices in the killing, nor did M.

Tallis and, as a greed between
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ourselves, and M. Kujawa, | also did
not raise this topic."
And I'm wondering if you are able to tell us who,
who t hat agreement was with, or el aborate what is
meant by this?
Um, umm, the "ourselves and M. Kujawa" is ne,
M. Kujawa, | would think in this context perhaps
M . Perras, ny coll eague.
Ri ght .
| did not feel WIlson or John were acconmplices be
-- on ny then know edge of the facts as | thought
they were, but that's the -- that's the -- that's
what | think that means, sir.
OCkay. And so it |ooks as though, prior to the
trial, you and M. Kujawa and M. Perras would
have discussed this issue --
Yeah.
-- of Wlson and John being possible acconplices?
Yes. | think M. -- it would have to be
M . Perras.
And then, if we can scroll down, the next
par agr aph:
"I understand the defence will appea
agai nst the conviction, however, the

only possible point of law | can see is
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t he one concerning the manner in which
t he adverse witness application was
handl ed and | am satisfied that this was
done properly.™

And then you say:
"l woul d appreciate hearing from whoever
is going to argue this case before the
Court of Appeal, in advance of the
appeal being argued.”

So at this time would you have known, M.

Cal dwel | , that you would not be arguing the
appeal ?
Yeah, | would have, umm -- did -- | don't know if

| touched on that before. Do you want me to very
briefly --

Yes, please, yes?

Okay. The situation was that Serge Kujawa was our
Director of Public Prosecutions and |ocated in
Regi na, as was the prosecutions sort of head
office, as it were, of the Departnment of Justice.
Unm t he Saskatchewan Court of Appeal then, and |
believe now, would only hear crimnal appeals in
Regi na, so very often Serge or some other counsel
resident there would argue those appeals, and I

evidently assunmed that one of them "whoever is
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going to argue this case, in advance", | would
have assumed it would be him or one of the other
fairly senior counsel in our departnment in Regina,
and | clearly did not appear or argue it, M.
Hodson, as you may be aware.
Yes. Okay. If we can go -- call up 006884. This
is a letter February 12th, 1970 to Chief Justice
-- or to Chief Kettles, and you are just saying:
"I am retaining your file for the
present until any appeal herein, so the
Saskat chewan Court of Appeal, has been
di sposed of ."
Yeah.
What are you referring about "your file"?
Well what | mean by "your file" in this instance
woul d be, in effect, ny file, the Crown
prosecutor's file on the David M | gaard nurder
prosecution is what | meant by that.
Was it your practice to return that file to the
police on conclusion of a case?
By the way this looks I'"m-- and that policy
changed over time. Clearly, | wanted to hang onto
this one, and did. And in effect, M. Hodson, |
don't think it ever went back because it's still

at |l east partially intact in the Conm ssion's --
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Ri ght .
Yeah.
And I'm just wondering; was that the normal
practice?
Well, clearly this case was going to be appeal ed,
clearly there was some, you know, interesting |aw
invol ved, and | evidently felt it would be better
to stay with nme for the time being at | east. Does
t hat --
Yes.
And that, possibly, it may be that we were --
returned other things on a nmore frequent basis.
' m not positive.
If you can call up 006864, please. This is a
| etter February 17th, 1970, so shortly after the
conviction, and it's a letter to Inspector Roberts
fromyou, and maybe we' |l just look at the first
par agraph for a monent. It says:
"l thought you would be interested to
know t hat on January 31lst, 1970,
M | gaard was convicted by a jury of this
of fence of non-capital nurder and
sentenced to life imprisonment."”
And "1l go through parts of this letter in a

moment , but what -- why were you writing to
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| nspect or Roberts?

Wel |, because he had come to Saskatoon and done

t he pol ygraph exam nation on Wlson, | -- we had,
| had interviewed him ny nmenmory is that M.
Tallis may have interviewed himas well at the
time | did, or was certainly invited to, and | --
that, | think, is the first polygraph witness
ever dealt with, M. Hodson.

And |'m just wondering why, after the trial, you
woul d choose to write to him as opposed to others
involved in the case?

Well, one reason, it was the first time | had
dealt with the polygraph in the field, if you
will, and he had -- he was, he had come in and
done the tests, | had assumed he would have an
interest in the outcome of the case.

| see. So would this be just because you thought
he m ght be interested to know what happened?

| would think it certainly started that way.

Sur e. | f you could just go down to the third
paragraph, and I won't go through it in detail, --
Okay.

-- but you describe about what happened in Nichol
John's evidence, about |eave to cross-exam ne

under 9(2), and then you say:
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"... whereupon | cross-exam ned her in
the presence of the jury on the
statement she gave to Det/ Sgt. Mackie
after your interview with Ron WIlson and

herself in May of 1969."

Yeah.
"This brought to the attention of the
jury that she had, at one time, given a
statement indicating that she had seen
the actual attack on the girl by
M | gaard. "

Yeah.

And again, we've touched on this a bit before, but
it appears here that -- am 1 right to read this

t hat one of your purposes in getting the statenent
bef ore Nichol John under 9(2) was to bring to the
attention of the jury that she had, at one time,
given a statement indicating that she had seen the
actual attack on a girl by Ml gaard?

Well that would not be nmy initial purpose, ny
initial purpose would be to adhere to the new 9(2)
procedure very carefully, make sure that the case
didn't get into legal difficulties over that. By
the time | wrote this letter to Inspector Roberts

| did use the term nology "the fact that she had
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at one time given a statement indicating that she
had seen the actual attack", so |I used that
term nol ogy, that |anguage for sure in this
letter, sir.
And is that -- is this indicative of what you
t hought at the time though, sir?
Not at the time of the trial | don't believe.
Well let's just go back --
Okay.
-- to the time of the letter. | mean it seens to

say that in utilizing Section 9(2) in a | awful

manner, | think you've said before --

Yeah.

-- that you only did with the judge authorized,

that, as a result of that process, you were able

to bring to the attention of the jury the fact

t hat Nichol John had at one time given a statement

i ndicating that she had seen the actual attack on

the girl by Ml gaard?

That's right.

And woul d that have been one of the purposes or

one of the outcomes you were seeking when you
enpl oyed Section 9(2) to cross-exam ne Nichol
John?

| don't think so, M. Hodson, because | was,
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guess, fully engaged with trying to do that 9(2)
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application the way that we all thought it should

be done. The end result certainly was that the

jury did, if you will, hear the cross-exam nation

on that with all the caveats involved, brought

to

the attention of the jury the fact that she had at

one time given the statement indicating that she

had seen the actual attack on the girl by
M | gaard. That wasn't my intention in doing t
9(2) but arguably it was one of the, you know,

t hi ngs that happened as it went on.

he

But, again, just back to -- and | thought we had

covered this --

Okay.

-- but when you enmployed 9(2) and cross-exam ned

Ni chol John --

Yes.

-- you knew that if the judge granted it, granted

your application, you would be able to bring to

the attention of the jury the fact that Nichol
John had at one time given a statement i ndicat
t hat she had seen the actual attack on a girl
M | gaard?

| think that's fair, sir.

Al'l right. And, again, | think the purpose of
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t hat under 9(2) would be to discredit her

evi dence-in-chief?

That's -- that's right.

If we can go to the next page, please. You say:
"Pl ease accept ny thanks for the
assi stance you gave the Saskatoon Police
Department, myself, and M. Tallis
during the Prelimnary Inquiry, and also
during the trial."

| take it that was his attendance on two

occasions to be interviewed?

That's nmy reading of it.

And:
"Your work with the polygraph and
interviewing WIlson and Nichol John in
general was of great inmportance in the
final outcome of this matter."

Can you tell us what you meant by that?

Well that after, or during his interview of those

two, Nichol John gave -- pardon nme -- W] son was

t he one who was pol ygraphed and ended up givVving

what | nspector Roberts felt was a true account of

the matter, and as | recall Nichol John was

interviewed by him but not subject to the test,

and ended up giving an account which appeared to
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be the accurate -- the truth as known by her. Now

| don't know, that's very awkwardly stated, but -
Okay. This is probably an appropriate spot to
break for lunch, M. Comm ssioner.

COWMM SSI ONER MacCALLUM:  Okay.

(Adj ourned at 11:56 a.m)
(Reconvened at 1:34 p.m)

COMM SSI ONER MacCALLUM: Just before | ask
you to speak, M. Wl ch, | prom sed that certain
reports of news coverage would be entered in our
web site and that has now been done, and | made
some reference to some this norning and anot her
one was handed to nme and this was from CBC Radi o
and | just want to report what it said for the
record.

"David M| gaard was in Saskatoon today
for the first time in a decade.

However, his trip to Saskatchewan has
nothing to do with the Inquiry into his
wr ongful conviction. M | gaard says he
has no intention of attending the

l nquiry or testifying. As Garth Materie
reports, Ml gaard and the Inquiry could
be headed for a very public fight."

| just want to interject to say that | have no
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i ntention of carrying on any fight, public or
ot herw se.
"M | gaard made it clear from the onset
he didn't want to tal k about his case or
the Inquiry, currently trying to
determ ne how he was convicted of a
mur der that he did not commt. M | gaard
spent 23 years in prison for the murder
of Gail MIller before he was cl eared by
DNA evi dence. Anot her man, Larry
Fi sher, was convicted of the crine.
M | gaard says the Inquiry holds no
interest for him?"
Again, | pause to interject that M. Ml gaard was
granted standing in the first place on the basis
that his interest was directly and substantially
affected.
David M | gaard, this purports
to be a quote:
"To be frank with you, it just makes me
physically sick. | will not attend nor
will | discuss it at all. It is in ny
past and | want to leave it in the
past."

And this is fromthe reporter:
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"M |l gaard says if he is forced by the
Comm ssion to testify, it would be a
public relations fiasco for Saskatchewan
Justice."

M . Wbl ch, has your position changed?

MR. WOLCH: M. Comm ssioner, first of all,
m ght | suggest that there probably is ful
transcri pt of what was actually said yesterday
and what you just read | don't think fully
reflects what was said. | heard David M| gaard
say that this is the room where justice is, where
justice should be found, | heard him say that he
wants the Comm ssion to do what it has to do.

COWM SSI ONER MacCALLUM: Oh, yes, | quite
acknow edge that, of course he did. | "' m j ust
reading the parts that | take objection to.

MR. WOLCH: | think, M. Comm ssioner,

t hat --

COMM SSI ONER Mac CALLUM: | want him here,
that's all. It's just a very sinple thing. I
want him here as a witness, | want to hear from
you if you are going to produce him If you are
not, then I'm going to take acti on.

MR. WOLCH: Let nme say this. Davi d met

with Comm ssion Counsel twice. They had positive
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meeti ngs. David was |led to understand by

Comm ssi on Counsel that it wasn't what he
antici pated would be happening here, that his
purpose was -- that the purpose was not to make

himrelive the horrific things that happened to

him | think he came out of it very positively
rei nforced. It was very good for himto hear
t hat . | can advise you that in other inquiries

t here have been special arrangements made for the
wrongfully convicted in terms of a sensitivity to
what they have gone through and not to have them
relive the horror, much the sanme as we were, at
your direction, very considerate of the victins
of Larry Fisher, that there was consideration
made to not make them go through certain things
and Comm ssion Counsel explained to David that

t hat can be done. | think it was a very
positive, a positive meeting.

Comm ssi on Counsel and | are on
the same wavelength I think as to what has to be
done. | don't want to go into it in a public
forum as you pointed out. Bet ween us | think we
can arrange it. | can also indicate, and ny
position hasn't changed, that | am prepared to

undertake to do everything | can to facilitate
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Davi d's arrangi ng. |'ve counseled himto
arrange, | will explain to himin greater detail
as to the benefits of attending and | will carry
on in that fashion. | can only advise, encourage
and do everything | can. | believe that between
the efforts of Conmm ssion Counsel and what he and
| have tal ked about that it can be done. | don't
know what else | can do, sir, than give you an
undertaking to do the very best that | can do. I
| ook at wundertakings extremely seriously, |'ve
never given one that | haven't approached in an
honest, full and genui ne manner, | have never
skirted around one. When | say | wll try
everything I can, | mean that, and | will do it
honestly and above board, and | think Comm ssion
Counsel and | have, | wouldn't call it a gane
pl an, but at | east a procedure to go ahead.

There is information, M.
Comm ssi oner, that for various reasons the public
doesn't know and you don't know, Comm ssion
Counsel does know, that shouldn't be in the
public forumat this point in time that do affect
things. They are -- | think Comm ssion Counsel
knows what |I'mreferring to, and they do affect

t hings, they affect timng, they affect all sorts
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of things, so all | can say to you, sir, is that

we are on our way and we will do our best and |

believe it will be enough that we do our best and

we will succeed and that our plan will work. I
don't know what more | can say. ' m happy to
answer any direct questions you have, sir.

COVMM SSI ONER MacCALLUM:  Well, were you
privy to the, his intention for sone tinme, M.
Wol ch, that he wasn't going to cone here to
testify?

MR. WOLCH: You are putting me in a
position where |I'mtal king about privilege.
can say --

COWMM SSI ONER MacCALLUM:  Okay.

MR. WOLCH: | can say this, | have al ways
been clear with Comm ssion Counsel as to the
situation, |'ve always been absolutely clear.
One of the difficulties has been, as you know,
timng; that is, when, and what had been
anticipated for timng has changed dramatically
and so there has been that problem but timng
to our benefit. It gives me |onger to explain,
to talk, to get the reports to do the things we
have to do and that is something Comm ssion

Counsel and | have tal ked to.
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| have al ways been clear with
Comm ssi on Counsel as to the circunstances and as
to what's transpiring and he's been very, very
synmpat hetic and understanding as to the
situation. | simply point out he is not an
ordi nary witness. Ordinary witnesses cone here
to tal k about specific evidence involving
t hemsel ves in the course of an event. W are
here because of what happened to himand he's in
a very different category than an ordinary
witness and so all | seek is a sensitivity to his
difficulties, difficulties which have not been
put before you other than in a general sense that
you can obviously as a human being anticipate
what type of suffering he has gone through, but
t hey haven't been, and his condition just hasn't
been documented in front of you and it's
something that it pains me to do in public, but
that may transpire, but getting back to the
initial point, | believe that from going through
the files and the materials and speaking to ne,
t hat Comm ssion Counsel is fully aware of all the
matters that influence the situation and it's
with those in mnd that he and | have arrived at

what | would call a ganme plan to proceed which we
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anticipate will be successful and avoid any
confrontation. | don't want confrontation.

We' ve had enough confrontation.

Unl ess you have any ot her

guestions, | hope |I've answered them
COVMM SSI ONER MacCALLUM:  Well, you've given
me assurance, your assurance that you will try

your best, and of course | respect that com ng
fromyou, M. Wl ch, a barrister of your
st andi ng. It's not good enough. At this
point -- I'Il tell you what | was inclined to do,
and before you faint or anything |I'm not going to
do it, at |east not immediately, | was going to
ask you to inform your client that his standing
is suspended as of now pending his appearance as
a witness at this Inquiry. He may apply to have
it restored at an earlier date upon accepting
service of a subpoena and providing suitable
undert aki ngs to appear. Fundi ng for counsel is
simlarly suspended as of now. It will not
necessarily be restored even if standing is, but
application may be nmade.

That's what | intended to do.
| have been persuaded by your words that you

shoul d be allowed more time to have your client
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accept a subpoena and provide a convincing
undertaking to appear before me. Therefore, the
operation of what | have just read will be
del ayed for one week. |f you haven't been able
to make your arrangenents by that time, of course
you may speak to nme about it.

MR. WOLCH: | will indicate to you that
gi ven what's happening here and other matters, |
wi Il have a very great difficulty within a week
of having a chance to sit down with David. I
just say that time w se. If you can make it two
weeks, | can try and see him but one week is
really --

COMM SSI ONER MacCALLUM: Are we still here
in two weeks? | guess we are, Yyes. Whose got a
cal endar? Yes, the 8th of November. | hope from
what you've told nme that the matter can be
am cably settled before then.

MR. WOLCH: | hope so.

COWM SSI ONER Mac CALLUM: But you won't fai
" m sure to inpress upon your client that his

standing is in jeopardy. Thanks. Go ahead.

MR. HODSON:
M. Caldwell, before the break we were talking
about the appeal. If we could call up 006851,
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pl ease, and just as far as the appeal itself, M.
Caldwell, | think the record shows that M. Kujawa
argued the appeal. Can you tell us what role if
any you would have had in the preparation of the

appeal and the arguments?

Par don me?

Can you tell me what role if any you would have
had in preparing the appeal or arguing the matter?

| think that | in nmy report invited whoever was

going to take it to contact me if they felt t
woul d be useful. To ny know edge, M. Hodson
didn't take any role in preparing the appeal
certainly did not in arguing it, | was not
present .

And we have made inquiries of the clerk's off

and have been informed that in 1970, '71, that at

| east in crimnal appeals a factum was not
required to be filed?

That would be ny menory.

And so there would be appeal books filed with
transcript; is that fair?

| assume so, sSir. | very seldom appeared at

| evel in our Court.

And that argunment would be presented orally,;

that correct?
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Yes.
And we'll hear from M. Kujawa and M. Tallis on
t hat point.
Certainly.

Woul d you have sent, or let me ask it this way,
what woul d you have sent, if anything, to M.
Kujawa to, for the purposes of the appeal ?

Well, the report that we went over before noon,

unl ess someone has sonme docunent, M. Hodson --

Let me just back up. The report on conpl eted
cases which is 006886, that would have been sent
to M. Kujawa?

That's right, on the trial, and of course the one
on the prelim previously.

Right. So those two documents, and | believe the
transcripts, would have been sent to M. Kujawa?
Not through me, but |I'm sure they were.

And | have not been able to -- | have not seen any
document that would suggest you sent anything el se
to M. Kujawa.

Oh, thank you, because that would be my best
estimate that | didn't.

And for exanple, just so that we're a bit clearer,
your notes that you prepared, we went through your

notes, the witness statenents, the file you got
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from M. Ulrich; would you have sent any of that
to M. Kujawa?

| don't believe so, sir.

So, and again we'll hear from M. Kujawa, but your
under st andi ng woul d be that he woul d have the
transcripts fromthe trial and your concl uding
report of the prelimnary hearing and the trial?
That's right, sir.

And do you recall whether or not you would have
met with M. Kujawa and, after the trial, and gone
t hrough the police reports, documents, or anything
of that nature?

| would be quite confident that that did not

occur .

And then if we could just call up the notice of
appeal again, 006851, please. And | think you may
have answered this, but do you know whet her M.

Kuj awa woul d have consulted with you on the
appeal, or --

He woul d certainly have been free to. | have no
menory that he did do that, sir.

And then if we can go to the next page, please, |
just want to touch on a couple of the points of
appeal . And again, | don't want to get into |egal

debate here, but at the time, sir, the rules for
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appealing a crimnal conviction before a jury
woul d be on points of |law, would be one potenti al
ground?

| believe that would be so.

Directions to the jury m ght be another ground?
That would certainly be open.

And unreasonabl e verdict was an argunment that was
sometimes raised?

| assume so, Sir.

And again, we'll hear nmore from M. Tallis on
that, but if we |ook just quickly, grounds of
appeal, | won't go through it, but Section 9(2),
and | think you anticipated that in your

concl uding report that 9(2) m ght be an issue
about how that was applied by Chief Justice Bence;
correct?

That's right.

And the next page at the top, about that he erred
in letting you put in evidence on irrelevant or
prejudicial matters, in particular Ron W/ son's
bl ood type. And just for the record on that, |

t hink he was either type -- | think type B. And
do you know what, what concern M. Tallis would
have had about that evidence?

Umm, no. | think that that bl ood type of Ron
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W lson's in effect excluded himfrom anything to
do with the victim or | think he was three
di fferent bl ood types going, and --
Right. And I'm just wondering, --
Yeah.
-- and maybe this isn't a fair question for you
and if you can't answer it please say so; was
there some, the fact that that was admtted as
evidence, I'mtrying to understand how that m ght
have prejudiced M. Ml gaard' s defence?
Well | can't think of how. What it would have
done, | think, is made it scientifically clear
that W1l son wasn't the source of certain blood, is
how I'd put it.
And then paragraph 3, | believe this is referring
to Mel nyk and Lapchuk, the appeal ground is you
cal |l ed:
" wi t nesses who were not called at
the prelim ... and further erred in
admtting their evidence when it was of
no real probative value and yet was
hi ghly prejudicial ...",
So that would be an objection |I think he raised

at the trial; is that fair?

| assume he did, and | assune it is also Melnyk
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and Lapchuk; did you nention that, sir?
Yes.

Yeah, that is my assunption.

And then paragraph 4 is, again, the unreasonable

verdi ct provision. And actually if we can go down

to paragraph 5, and again | think 5 ties in with

ground 1, about the procedure enployed for Section

9(2)?

| would feel so.

And then if we can just call up 009340, please.

And this is the judgement of the Court of Appeal,

it's dated January 5, 1971, and | believe from

another file that it may have been argued in

November of 1970, and that's something we can get

in through another witness. | presume, sir,

t hat

you would have become aware, at sonme point, that

t he appeal was argued and that the judgenent
rendered?

| would have.

was

And | see the counsel on there, M. Kujawa is on

for the Crown, and | think you have told us you

woul d have had no invol vement in that?
That's right.

If we could just go to page 009366, please.

And

this test that the Court of Appeal set out in this
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appeal decision M. Caldwell, | think as you are
awar e, has become known in legal circles as the
M|l gaard ruling relating to 9(2) and the steps

t hat ought to be taken; is that correct?

Yes.

And in general summary what the Court of Appeal
said is that the procedure put in place by Chief
Justice Bence was not correct, in other words he
shoul d have excluded the jury for parts of the
process, and he didn't?

That's how | read it, sir.

And that -- but they then went on to say, | think
in their words, that if there was an error that

t he accused, the accused or the appellant, was not
prejudi ced by the procedure. And I'll touch on
that in a noment.

Very good.

And so | want to just touch on a couple of these
provisions to see if -- to get your coment on
what i nmpact that m ght have had at the trial if
this procedure had been utilized. And if we can
just go through a couple of these, and again we
went through -- | went through with you actually
what happened at the trial, but first you advised

t he Court of your application, which you did; the
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Court should direct the jury to retire, which I

think in this case Chief Justice Bence did; upon

retirement of the jury counsel should advise of
the particulars of the application, produce the
al | eged statement, which he did; nunmber 4, the
judge should read the statenment and determ ne

whet her there's an inconsistency, which he did,;

and | think, as you pointed out before, if there

is no inconsistency that ends the matter, if he
finds there is an inconsistency he should cal

upon counsel to prove the statement or writing?

That's nmy - -

And that's in the absence of the jury, right, the
jury has been retired?

That's how | read it, sir.

And so in actual fact what Chief Justice Bence
did, if we can go to the next page, the process
where you prove the statement in writing was done

in the presence of the jury; correct?

That is right.

And then they tal k about 'prove the statement by

produci ng the statement or writing to the
wi t ness' .
"I'f the witness admts the statement,

the statement reduced to writing, such
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proof would be sufficient."
If they don't admt it, counsel then could
provide the necessary proof by other evidence.
And again, if | go down to number 6, |I'mgoing to
read this and ask your conmment:
"I'f the witness admts making the
statement, ...",
and again this is all in the absence of the jury
according to this ruling?
Yes.
counsel for the opposing party
M. Tallis:
"... should have the right to
cross-examne as to the circumstances
under which the statement was made. A
simlar right to cross-exam ne should be
granted if the statement is proved by

ot her witnesses. It may be that he wl

be able to establish that there were

ot her:
"... that there were circunstances which
woul d render it improper for the |earned
trial Judge to permt the

cross-exam nation, notw thstandi ng the
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apparent inconsistencies. The opposing
counsel, too, should have the right to
call evidence as to factors relevant to
obtaining the statenent, for the purpose
of attempting to show that
cross-exam nation should not be
permtted.”
And, again, that didn't happen before Chief
Justice Bence; is that right?
That's correct, sir.
And if we take this provision, | just want to get
your understandi ng of what should have happened in
accordance with this ruling; one, the jury would
be out, you would exam ne or cross-exam ne Nichol
John on the making of the statenment?
That's how | read it, sir.
Secondly, M. Tallis would then be entitled, in
t he absence of the jury, to cross-exam ne Ms. John
about the circunmstances under which she gave the
statement to M. Mackie?
That's correct.
And | think what the Court says:
"It may be that he ...",
bei ng defence counsel:

will be able to establish that
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there were circumstances which would
render it inmproper for the |learned trial
Judge to permt the cross-exam nation,
notwi t hstandi ng the apparent
i nconsi stenci es. "
Correct?
That's right, sir, and -- but that follows that
ot her one option, a simlar right to cross-exam ne
shoul d be granted if the statement is proved by
ot her witnesses.

Li ke so if you would have called --

Whi ch - -
' msorry, | didn't mean to cut you off.
No, that's fine, | just -- both those are

possibilities as | see it.

Right. And you will recall, | read you the
portions of the transcript where you asked | eave
to call Ray Mackie to give the circunstances of
t he statenment?

That's right.

And Chi ef Justice Bence said "no"?

That's correct, sir.

And so it would appear here that what should have
happened, according to this ruling, is that M.

Tallis should have been entitled to cross-exam ne
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at |l east Nichol John, and possibly Raynond Macki e,
on the circunstances under which the statement by
her was given; is that correct?

That appears correct.

And I will be asking M. Tallis these questions

| ater but 1'lIl ask you because you were there.

Di fferent considerations would apply as counsel,
whet her it be prosecutor or defence, in the
guestions you would ask of a witness if the jury
is out of the roomor in the room is that fair?
Well, certainly to the extent that if it's ny
witness | can't |lead, for openers.

Sorry, no, let me rephrase it.

Oh, okay.

If you were going to cross-exam ne Nichol John or
any witness, --

Yeah.

-- and the jury was absent, you mght do it in a
different -- or let me back up. If the jury is
present, conpared to a situation where the jury is
absent, you m ght change how you cross-exam ne a
witness; is that fair?

Yes it is.

And in other words when the jury is not there, and

it is not evidence that they will hear, you m ght
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be prepared to change your tack or your strategy?

| very well mght, sir.

Yeah. And you don't have to be as concerned w

th

what i mpact your questions and the answers m ght

have on the jury because they are not there to

hear it; is that fair?

Yes.

So in this situation it would appear that what the
Court of Appeal said -- and |'m not trying to get

you to debate what the Court did or didn't do,

just want to get your perspective on what happened

at trial, which I've covered, and what m ght have

happened at trial if things were done a bit

differently. And certainly in that scenario, |

think when | read through the transcript with you

of 9(2), it does not appear that M. Tallis --

that the decision to admt the statement and al

or

| ow

the cross-exam nation by you under 9(2) was done

bef ore he had even cross-exam ned her?
That is how I recall the sequence, sir.

Right. And so that he didn't, certainly under

this provision there is two things that could have

been done or should have been done differently,
one is that before there is a determ nation of

right to cross-exam ne under 9(2) M. Tallis
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shoul d have had the right to cross-examne in the
absence of the jury, and neither of those things
happened?

That's, that's how | read it as well.

And | think what the Court of Appeal says, "well
he got to cross-exam ne her |ater when it

became -- when you were done and it was his turn"?
Yeah, | think that's what they said.

And | suppose, and again this m ght be a question
for M. Tallis and I will certainly ask him but
in those circunstances, if M. Tallis would have
said under 9(2), let's say Justice Bence says
"okay, |I'm going to have -- |I'm going to allow the
parties to call w tnesses about the giving of this
statement”, so Nichol John would be heard in the
absence of the jury, Raynmond Mackie would be heard
in the absence of the jury, and | suppose M.
Tallis could have said to you "would you pl ease
call I nspector Roberts, | would Iike to hear his
evidence in the absence of the jury about the
circunmstances that led up to her statenment"; is
that fair?

Yes, certainly would have been a possibility, and
| can think of no reason why not to accede to

t hat .
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And you've told us, at |east at the prelim and
even at trial for a witness proper, you indicated
t hat I nspector Roberts -- that you brought him
here at M. Tallis' request in the event that M.
Tallis wanted himcalled as a witness in the trial
proper?

That's my recollection. Now | think, M. Hodson,
he was only here once, and | may have left a

di fferent inpression previously, but --

Ckay. | thought, and |I could be wrong, | thought
the record reflected a subpoena was served on him
for the trial. Now it may be that -- and |

t hought you told us that that was at M. Tallis'
request ?

Yeah, | believe that may be inaccurate, | think he

Okay.

There may have been two subpoenas and he sinmply
showed up once, the way things worked.

But is it fair to say that, if he didn't attend
right prior to trial, it would be because M.
Tallis or you determ ned that he wasn't necessary?
| would think so.

And so, just to conclude on this point, if M.

Tallis would have said "I want |nspector Roberts
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called by you, M. Caldwell, on this", and maybe
voir dire isn't the right term "but on this
Section 9(2) proceeding because | want to probe
hi m' - -

Yes.

-- "in the absence of the jury about how it is

t hat Nichol John got to make this statenent the
next day", you are saying you would have call ed
hi n?

| woul d have, because it seenms to me that's
totally fair ball, if you will, if he had asked
that to happen.

And just so that we're clear on this, and | think
we touched on this in the exam nation, if M. --
or Chief Justice Bence had concluded that, due to
the circunmstances under which Nichol John had
given the statement to M. Mackie on May 24th,
that it would not be proper to permt the
cross-exam nation on that statement, your

exam nation of her was done; is that correct?
Yes, | think | -- that is the way it reads and
that was, in fact, the case.

Right. So that that point, and | read it to you
this norning, was your -- prior to making the 9(2)

application you told Chief Justice Bence you were
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done with Nichol John?

| did.
If we can just go to the next, the bottom of -- or
pardon ne -- the next page, please. Actually, if

we could just go to the bottom of the previous
page, and then at the bottom-- | think this is

t he Court of Appeal -- says that once the trial

j udge has decided that the 9(2) cross-exam nation
is allowed, in other words that the statement is
an inconsistent statement and that the
circumstances are such that the judge is going to
all ow a cross-exam nation under 9(2), the jury
should then be recalled; is that correct?

That's correct.

So that the first cross-exam nation under 9(2) in
t he absence of the jury is to |l ook at how she gave
the statement, those circunmstances?

Yeah, that's nmy view of it.

And once the judge says "okay, |I'm satisfied that
it's properly given by her and it's appropriate to
all ow the cross-exam nation", you then go into
9(2), bring the jury back in, and you
cross-exam ne on the statement?

That's how | read that judgement, sir.

Yeah. And then once you've done that, once you
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put the statement to her and cross-exam ned, you

can then make the application under 9(1) to have

her declared hostile?

That's my understandi ng.

And then cross-exam ne her on everything?

| would believe that, sir.

And so if we could just go to the next page

pl ease, and I'l|l just read this part, the Court

Appeal says:

of

"I n the present case, the learned trial

Judge did not pursue the procedure which

| have suggested be followed. After
deciding that the statenment of Nichol
John previously made, was inconsistent
with the evidence she had given, he

recalled the jury. Proof of the

statement was then made in the presence

of the jury.

Had the | earned trial Judge not

permtted the cross-exam nation, then
t hink strong exception could have been
taken to the procedure which he
foll owed."

And | think what he is tal king about is your

Cross-exam nati on.
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| assunme that.

Yeah. And then:
"I n the present case he did allow the
cross-exam nation and there was not hing
that took place in the cross-exam nation
of the witness, either by Crown or
defence counsel, that would not have
occurred had he foll owed the procedure |
have outlined."

And let me just ask you that question. When you

did the cross-exam nation of M. John on the

giving of the statement, would it have made any

difference to you whether the jury had been out

at that tinme?

Well | think only in the sense you were raising a

m nute ago, in that you m ght exam ne a witness or

cross-examne in a slightly different tone, if you

will, than -- with a jury there than if the jury

was absent .

Okay. And we'll certainly hear from M. Tallis

about what he m ght have done in his

cross-exam nation of Ms. John if the jury had been

excluded, but | think you are saying you m ght

have done it differently?

| m ght have and | may, very well may have done it
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this way | did, M. Hodson.

And then the Court goes on, just to finish this:
"Moreover, it would be difficult to find
a case where the reason for permtting
the cross-exam nation would be stronger
than in this one. | do not think it can
possi bly be argued that the appell ant
was in any way prejudiced by the
procedure which the |learned trial Judge
foll owed, or that there was any
substantial wrong or any m scarri age of
justice."

So, again, that -- and | believe M. M| gaard

applied for |eave to appeal fromthis decision to

t he Supreme Court of Canada and that was deni ed;

is that correct?

That is nmy -- that's correct.

We're done with that document.

| now want to nove after the

trial, and I want to talk about the Larry Fisher

matters and the sexual assault matters,

confessions and charges, etcetera. And we have

heard evidence before this Conmm ssion of Inquiry,

and reports, various reports on these events.

There's one letter that 1'lIl get to a bit l|ater,
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M. Caldwell, the March 17th, '71 letter from M.

Corey to M. MacKay that makes reference to a

di scussion with you, and I'Il come to that.
Thank you.
But | first want to ask you apart, quite apart

from what you m ght have heard during this course
of the Inquiry or what you have read, but | want
to ask you first about what you actually renmenber
t oday, okay; and then secondly, after we've probed
your nmemory of events | want to ask you that, in

t hose areas where you do not have a recollection,
to tell us what you think you would have done
based upon your practices at the tinme.

And can you tell us today, sir,
what is your first actual memory of hearing of
Larry Fisher, the name Larry Fisher, and that nane
bei ng brought to your attention?
| think, M. Hodson, that that was as |late as the
time when M. Eugene W I Iliam was conducting one
of the, | believe, run-ups to attempting to get
the case into the Supreme Court on a reference,
and when he tel ephoned ne and asked ne to search
the file for the name Larry Fisher, which I did.
| could expand on that, |I'm --

Fai r enough.
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Yeah.

And I will go through that.

Okay.

| think that is |late 19897

That would be that far along in the proceedings in

terms of nme remenmbering the name Larry Fisher --

And - -

-- because it was -- | was specifically asked by
M. WIliams and followed it up.

And we'll go through that docunment, but | think he

asked you to go check your file to see if the name
Larry Fisher was there?
Yeah, that's right.

And, at the time he called you, did the name Larry

Fi sher mean anything to you or do you recall it?
Not the -- not a thing.
Now when you -- a couple of weeks ago in the

sittings | had asked you about the first three
assaults before Gail MIller's death, --

Yes.

-- the (V1)-, (V2)----- , (V3)------ , and | think
you have told us that you were not aware of those
incidents?

That would be ny best menory of it, sir.

Yeah. Now | et me ask you about the fourth one,
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which is (V5)-- (V5)---, and that was February 21,
1970, three weeks after M. M| gaard was

convi cted, she was raped near Avenue V in

Saskat oon; do you have any menory of being nmade

aware of that at the tinme?

Not at all.
So -- and I think | asked you questions on, back
on these rapes, the (V1)-, (V2)----- , (V3)------

matters, and went through your file when we were
sitting at the |last session about sonme references
to the names and the | ab reports, and |I think you
told us that they would have been on your file,
and | think your evidence was that they -- they
did not have any significance to you?

Very broadly speaking, sir, | think that's
correct.

Yeah, and |I'm just trying to paraphrase what |

t hought you sai d.

Yeah, sorry.

And | want to | ook at a couple of ways. And

t oday, sir, do you have any nmenory of hearing
about the (V1)-, (V2)----- , (V3)------ , or (V5)---
rapes; when is the first time you recall hearing
about those?

Well certainly not at the -- at or about the tine
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of the MIler murder. It would be in some context
of one of these investigations |ater on, M.
Hodson.

"' mgoing to go, --

Okay.

-- there is a letter of March of 1971, the letter
from Corey to MacKay, you know the letter |I'm
referring to?

| do.

Do you have any menory, today, of what's mentioned
in that letter?

| don't, but I'"mquite sure that | understand what
happened, based on this hearing and interviews --
Ri ght .

-- and things |like that.

So what you are saying is you don't dispute what

the |l etter says happened but you have no menory of

it; is that fair?
That's right. | would be happy --
Sure, and we'll go through that.

Yeah, okay, that's fine, sir.

So, if it's fair, maybe we'll just call it up for
a monment .

Okay.

261053.

Meyer CompuCourt Reporting

Certified Professional Court Reporters serving P.A., Regina & Saskatoon since 1980
Central Booking - Call Irene @ 1-800-667-6777 or go to www.compucourt.tv




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Bobs Caldwell
by Mr. Hodson
Vol 84 - Tuesday, October 25th, 2005

Page 16962
Did -- now | think M. Hodson, | hope |I'mright,
that | at | east haven't dealt with this in this
| nquiry? The odd time |I'm not sure what | have
and what | haven't.

| don't believe you have, sir.

Okay. Thank you very much.

And you may have, | don't -- if you did you

vol unteered an answer to something |I wasn't

covering, but if you go back -- and I'm going to

touch on this a bit later -- but fromthis letter,

and this is from Assi stant Chief Corey to M.

MacKay ?

That's right.
"During March 16, 1971, | was contacted
by M. T.D.R Caldwell, agent of the
Attorney General, who requested that I
forward to you a summary of the facts
relating to offences of rape allegedly
commtted by the above-named."

And "the above-named" is Larry Fisher, if you

want to just scroll up?

| see that.

Yeah. And then it goes on to tal k about the four

rapes. Now | take it, sir, you don't, | think as

you have said, you don't have a recollection, but
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at a mninmnumit | ooks as though you contacted

Chi ef Justice (sic) Corey and said "send a summary
of the facts relating to offences of rape

al l egedly commtted by Larry Fisher"?

Yeah. |, M. Hodson, | can expand on that a
[ittle if that's not --

Pl ease, yes?

Yes. This phone call from Ken MacKay, who was of
course in our Regina office, to myself basically
saying "have the city police forward any facts
relating to offences of rape allegedly commtted
by Larry Fisher", umm oddly enough the same day
that letter came in | phoned Deputy Corey, because
| detected sone degree of | apse of time had
happened perhaps already, and M. MacKay sonewhere
said that it was in the hands of our Saskatoon
agent for investigation, which was the same day
that this happened. So the day | phoned Corey and
gave him that very mnimal information, the next
day he wrote the letter to M. MacKay, and our --
again, the name Larry Fisher absolutely nmeant
nothing to nme, in our office we had no open Larry
or any other Larry Fisher files, I"msure |I would
have known about them etcetera.

Do you have an actual nmenmory today, M. Caldwell,

Meyer CompuCourt Reporting

Certified Professional Court Reporters serving P.A., Regina & Saskatoon since 1980

Central Booking - Call Irene @ 1-800-667-6777 or go to www.compucourt.tv




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Bobs Caldwell
by Mr. Hodson
Vol 84 - Tuesday, October 25th, 2005

Page 16964

of phoning M. Corey or M. MacKay?

No, but I'm clear that that must have happened,
the way this reads.

And why do you -- how are you able to say there
m ght have been some urgency based on the cal

wi th McKay?

Because either then, it must have been then that

| earned that M. MacKay, | think, had witten the

| awyer in W nni peg saying that our Saskatoon agent

is looking in or researching this, but that was
the very same day this letter -- that he phoned
me, excuse ne.

Yes. And I'mtrying to understand, M. Caldwell,

Yeah.

-- how you are able to tell us what you did and

what you were thinking at the time if you don't

have a menory of it; is it based on -- on what?

Oh, probably on the number of times | have seen

this in the various proceedi ngs --

| see.

-- in the nmeantime, sir, | would think.

So that subsequent, at some point subsequent you

have | ooked at this and ot her documents and

concluded, in your mnd, that this is -- nust have
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been what you did; is that --

Yeah. It's inevitable, sir, I think I did that.
Yeah. So let's -- is it a -- would you agree with
me then, as of March 17th of 1971, at that time
you would have been aware of the name Larry Fisher
and you woul d have been aware, at |east to some
degree, of these four rape charges?

Not -- | don't agree with that, sir.

Okay.

| got the name Larry Fisher, which is here, |
couldn't have told you three days | ater what
reference | ands on the letter --

Okay.

-- and | did not know about any or all of M.

Fi sher's Saskatoon --

Okay. Let's just back up.

Okay.

And, again, |I'm questioning you on the basis of
what -- trying to probe what m ght have happened.
Okay.

And, again, | think that you have said that you

don't recall but Chief Justice (sic) Corey, you
t hi nk he m ght have been called by M. MacKay?
COMM SSI ONER Mac CALLUM: M . Hodson, |

don't know if Chief Justice -- or at | east Chief
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Corey would be pleased to have his name
associ ated with the judiciary.
MR. HODSON: | " m sorry, Chief Corey.
He's dead, he's no |longer here to --
COMM SSI ONER MacCALLUM: Yes, sir.
Yeah, that is Deputy Chief of the Saskatoon Police

Servi ce.

BY MR. HODSON:

Deputy Chief Corey?

That's right.

So, again, you think what happened is M. MacKay
woul d have phoned you and said "get nme information
from the police on X"?

That -- that is right.

And you woul d have phoned Corey and said,

M . Corey and said "please send information on

X" - -

The sanme day.

-- "to M. MacKay"?

That's correct, sir, and the letter he -- is dated
t he next day that he wrote.

And | want to try and get an understandi ng of what
m ght have been the information that M. MacKay
woul d have conveyed to you?

Correct.
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At a m ni mum woul d he have said Larry Fisher,
charges relating to Larry Fisher?

He must have said Larry Earl Fisher or Larry

Fi sher and then the third sentence, he must h

related to ne facts relating to offences of r

ave

ape

al l egedly commtted by him because | couldn't

have got that anywhere el se.

So at a mnimumit would be the name Larry Fisher?

Yeah.

Some rape charges?

That's correct, and nothing nore. | didn't h
number of, for instance, counts or files or
anyt hi ng.

And how are you able to say that?

Wel |, because MacKay only gave me that very
m ni mal i nformation.

And how do you know that?

| just do.

By memory or by something in writing?

Oh, no, | think by the fact that | recited to

ave a

Deputy Chief Corey the only two things |I knew

whi ch were the name Fisher and sexual offences.

So looking at this letter, you believe that t

only information you got from M. MacKay was what ?

Larry Earl Fisher and sexual offences, we'll
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out standing in Saskatoon | suppose.

Is it possible that M. MacKay may have given you
the names of the conpl ai nants?

No.

And why do you say that?

Well, | would first of all be fairly -- 1 would
doubt that M. MacKay necessarily knew the nanmes,
but I'm not sure of that. | f he had given me the
names | would have presumably incorporated themin
the letter. These may be A, B, C and D we're

tal king about and I didn't do that.

But this is M. Corey's letter though; right?

| would have incorporated them-- I'msorry, in ny
phone call to M. Corey.

| see, okay. So you think that based on your
review of this letter, that you think that M.
MacKay woul d have said Larry Fisher and sone rape
charges?

That's correct.

And can you tell us, why would M. MacKay be
phoni ng you about this information?

Well, there is that letter saying this matter has
been referred to, | think he said our Saskatoon
agent for follow-up or research, but | was the

seni or Crown prosecutor, if that was the title, at
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Saskatoon at that tinme. " m sure that M. MacKay
woul d feel that he should go through channels in
t hat respect and phoned ne.

And would it be fair to say then would that cal
from M. MacKay be to you because you are the

seni or prosecutor in Saskatoon?

That's my belief. It's like the NCO in charge of
such and such a detachnent. | happened to be that
person.

And would the call be to you because you were the
prosecutor in the Gail MIler case?

Not in any way, shape or form, sir.

And so then if we can go back, and let's come back
to this letter, so clearly in March of '71 the
name Larry Fisher would have been brought to your
attention?

That's right.

On that day?

Yes, sir.

"' msorry, | didn't mean to --

No, go ahead. That is correct, period.

And so in 1989 when M. WIIlians asked you about
Larry Fisher, did you remember this letter at that
time?

No, | don't have any reason to think | did.
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Okay. So let's just go back, we're done with this
letter, and | want to just wal k through what we

know about what happened with Larry Fisher in 1970

and ' 71.
Very good.
And let's just -- | think we have canvassed -- |et

me suggest that there m ght be two different hats
where you m ght have received information about
matters generally. The first would be as
prosecutor in the Gail MIler case, and | think

| ' ve gone through that and | went through your
file, identified a few pieces of paper that talked
about the assaults, the name Larry Fisher, and |
think you've told us to the extent that you
prosecuted David M| gaard through to conviction,
the name Larry Fisher didn't mean anything to you
and that you were not aware of -- you were not
specifically aware of these previous sexual
assaults and | think you've told us you were not
aware of a police theory that connected the sexual
assaults to the murder; is that a fair summary of
what you've told us?

Yes, M. Hodson, but I'massumng | said words to
that effect on our four day --

Yes.
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Okay, fine, in that case that's correct.

And so then wearing your hat as the Gail Ml ler
prosecutor, | think |I have gone through that
scenari o, when after M. Ml gaard was convicted
and once it went over to M. Kujawa for the
appeal, did you have any further involvement in
the file?

The M I1ler?

In the David M| gaard prosecution file.

Not that | know of.

And 1'Il touch on it a bit later, some dealings
with the exhibits and some letters to the parole
board, but as far as once the conviction was
secured, did you turn the matter over to M.
Kujawa as far as the prosecution is concerned?
Yes. He followed up the entire appeal process.
ended up appearing as a spectator in Ottawa,
that's all.

Yeah. And now what | want to | ook at and ask you
some questions about, putting aside the fact that
you are the prosecutor in the Gail M Il er case,
you are a prosecutor, the senior prosecutor in
Saskatoon at the time; correct?

You bet, sir.

And would it be fair to say, and let's not talk
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specifically about the Fisher charges, but that
fromtime to time as a prosecutor you would becone
aware of rape charges and other charges finding
their way through the justice system is that
fair?

Certainly.

And that would be in cases where you m ght be
consul ted, pre charge would be one?

Woul d be one way.

And post charge where you are the prosecutor?

Yes.

And so those m ght be situations where you m ght
become aware of a rape charge against M. Fisher?
wel | --

Let nme rephrase. Let's just talk generally.

Al'l right.

And then I'll go to specifics.

Okay.

That in 1970 and '71 as a prosecutor, obviously if
t here had been a rape charge and you were going to
be the prosecutor, you would be aware of the
charge and the accused; is that fair?

That's right.

And cases that you were not the prosecutor on, you

m ght be aware of them by virtue of being

Meyer CompuCourt Reporting

Certified Professional Court Reporters serving P.A., Regina & Saskatoon since 1980

Central Booking - Call Irene @ 1-800-667-6777 or go to www.compucourt.tv



Bobs Caldwell
by Mr. Hodson
Vol 84 - Tuesday, October 25th, 2005

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

O » O »P

Page 16973

consulted pre charge; is that correct?

That's true.

Or would there be any other way you m ght becone
aware of a charge?

Well, conversation in the office | suppose or with
some investigator.

So let's go through, we know that in September of
1970 Larry Fisher was arrested in W nnipeg. Do

you have any recollection of becom ng aware of

t hat ?

At that time?

At that tinme.

Absol utely none.

And can you think of any reason, M. Caldwell,

t hat you m ght become aware of -- | appreciate you
don't have a recollection, but can you think of
any reason that as a prosecutor in Saskatoon you
m ght become aware of his arrest in W nnipeg?

At that time, M. Hodson?

Yes.

| cannot, and if | can possibly expand slightly on
t hat ?

Yes.

| did not know M. Fisher was in custody in

W nni peg or what he was charged with, | didn't
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know of the fact that Inspector Nordstrom and

Det ecti ve Sergeant Karst went to W nnipeg.

Okay. | " m going to go through all of those.
Okay, okay.

No, that's fine. | didn't mean to cut you off,
but I will go through all of those.

Okay, that's fine, sir.

So first of all the arrest in Wnni peg you are
saying, (a), you don't recall hearing about that,
and (b), is that something you think you would
have been made aware of as a prosecutor?

| see no reason on earth why | would have been
made aware of it.

In October 20th and 22nd of 1970, Larry Fisher
confessed to the (V3)------ and (V5)--- assaults,
two of the four, and on the |atter date | nspector
Nordstrom and Eddi e Karst went to W nnipeg and got
a confession from him

Very good.

Do you have any recollection of being aware of
that at the time?

Absol utely none.

And can you think of any reason why you m ght
become aware of those facts at that time?

The only thing | can think of, M. Hodson, would
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be if our office had, if you will, opened files on
M . Fisher where possibly there had been a
commttal for trial or he left and there was a
bench warrant, if we had open files with a name on

it, someone m ght have come and said, hey, did you
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guys realize that he's now in W nni peg and what
are you going to do. We did no such thing.

If we could call up 047051, and this is the

information that El mer Goa swore, this one rel ates

to (V3)-- (V3)------ , and there's sim/lar
informations for the other three.

Al'l right.

And we have heard evidence that these were sworn
on Decenmber the 30th, 1970, so that would be a
couple of nmonths after the confessions, and the
evidence | think that we have heard from M. Goa
is the informations were sworn and that | think
the evidence is that there was no process served
on M. Fisher; in other words, he was not brought
into Court with respect to this information, and
think that's the evidence.

Al'l right.

So again, let's just back up for a noment and
let's wal k through, at that time, M. Caldwell,

how woul d a rape charge -- at what point would a
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rape charge laid by the city police end up in your
of fice?

Well, it -- a rape charge would be laid by the
city police, the person would be arrested or
summonsed and the first formal step or second
woul d be that he would show up in Court. On any
charge like that there would be an effort nmade to
be sure that he had | egal counsel and that
occasionally of course would involve one or two
adj our nment s. Usually the city prosecutor, M.
Wol ff, or one of his colleagues, would appear on

t hose early appearances. When the case got to the

poi nt of wanting to set, let's say, prelimnary
inquiry dates, would be the normal route, or trial
dates, | would think our office at that point
woul d be involved saying hey, can you cone over

and let's get these dates set, that would be the
earliest invol vement.

Let me just pause there. And at that point would
you get a file then?

| would think we would get it when we went over
or -- because the date was the thing that wasn't
fixed yet.

So --

Shortly.
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' msorry, | think we saw that on the information

for David M| gaard, how M. Wl ff appeared fo

r a

coupl e of appearances, then when the prelim was

set you appeared, so let's take it forward in
rape charge.

Okay, sir.

And a coupl e of appearances and | think an
election for a prelimnary hearing, or pardon
that a prelimnary hearing date is to be set,
that's when you think -- you would usually do
prosecutor, the prelimnary hearing?

Me or one of my coll eagues, and the one thing
sir, is at this stage it would very |likely go
case prep Sergeant U lrich who he then was be

t hat was, in effect, at roughly this time.

a

me,

, 4as

to

cause

So that in this case we know an informati on was

laid with respect to M. Fisher. Let's take
example, let's just take a generic situation
Okay.

-- where a person is charged with rape, they
appear in Court on a couple of occasions and
want to set a date for prelimnary hearing an
t hat point you would appear and set a date.
What -- and | think you said the prosecutor's

or the police file, whatever you want to cal
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the informati on that you would need to run the
prelim nary hearing, when would you get it and who
woul d you get it fron?

My menmory is that at that point the file would go
to Sergeant Ul lrich, it would be prepared and
after however long that took in his work |oad, the
case, the file would come to us is ny nmenory.

And what file would M. WolIff have, again just
generally in these cases, would he have --

Well, when Sergeant Goa was here, |'m sure he was
correct in his evidence, and | think that we may
have heard of the existence of up to four files,
M . Hodson, but I -- as | recall his evidence, so
M. Wolff may very well have had one. We woul dn't
have one until we, in effect, were seized with the
case in my menory.

Okay. So if we can get the information back up on
the screen, please. So in this case |I think the
evi dence we've heard is that the informations were
sworn, but there was never an appearance entered
by M. Fisher in Provincial Court, or Magistrates'
Court in response?

| assume that's right. | assume maybe incorrectly
that he was m ssing at that time.

He was in custody in Wnnipeg at the time.
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Okay, very good.

And what was the practice at the time if you had a
charge against an individual who was in custody in
anot her jurisdiction?

He could waive the charge into that other
jurisdiction, there was a procedure called 421(3)
of the Crim nal Code which the Saskatchewan
authorities would have to agree to that, sign the
documents, the charge itself could go, for
instance, to the other province and strictly on

t he understanding of a guilty plea as | recall.

| think prior to June of '71 the charge of rape
was excluded from the transfer provisions?

OCkay, | wouldn't --

And so I'mjust -- and so that in cases it could
be waived, it would be waived. What about in
cases where they could not be waived because of
the statute?

Oh, well, then I would assume it would have to be
a Saskatchewan venture and come back here.

So that arrangements would have to be made to get
t he accused back before the Saskatchewan Court?
Yeah, and that very well m ght involve counsel,
etcetera, but that's how |I would understand it,
sir.
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So again just back on these charges, do you
think -- again, do you have any menory or

recoll ection of being aware that the city police
| aid four charges against M. Fisher on Decenber
30th, 19712

Absol utely not.

And is that something that you think the police
m ght have consulted with you? Again, |

appreci ate you have no recollection, but is that
the type of thing that they m ght have consulted
with you on?

| don't think they would have, because this
instance | gather was four charges agai nst one

i ndi vi dual - -

Yes.

-- who had by this time surfaced in Manitoba if
' m not m staken.

Yes.

And the question would be getting him back here or
if it were possible getting the charges there. I n
no way, shape or form would we be setting prelim
or trial dates in Saskatoon in that scenario as |
understand it.

So if M. Fisher had not been in custody, had

appeared in Magistrates' Court and then wi shed to
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set a prelimnary hearing date, at that point you
woul d think you would have got the file?

Well, very likely he would have had defence
counsel, in view of the nature of the charges,
defence counsel in all probability would have
contacted us or M. WIff about the next order
which is dates, when can we do this, and only in
my menory when a date was set essentially would we
get the file.

And then if we can go ahead to 1971, do you have
any recollection of dealing with Lawrence
Greenberg, being Larry Fisher's |legal counsel in
W nni peg?

No, | do not, sir.

And it appears at least from his evidence and from
his file and some of the documents that he would
have communi cated with the Regina office of the
Attorney General; nanely, M. Kujawa and M.
MacKay. Do you have any recollection of any of

t he dealings that he may have had with anybody in
the Attorney General's office?

No, | don't, and one thing, sir, that | think we
all have to remenber is that M. Kujawa and MacKay
were in the so-called head office of the

prosecutions as opposed to the Regi na downt own
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prosecuting unit, the equival ent of our unit,
| agree with what you say.

And again would it be unusual for charges in
Saskat oon, charges in Saskatoon where the acc

is in custody in Wnnipeg, for their counsel

but

used

to be

dealing with the Regina office of the Attorney

General as opposed to the Saskatoon office?
Well, there are one or two factors | feel |
under stand about that. One is that in the ev
of a desired guilty plea, and this is a case

which there was no prelim or anything like th

ent
in

at ,

t he standard way of handling that | believe would

be by a direct indictment. Now, it may have
the premer, the Attorney General, some highl
pl aced governmental official was authorized t
sign those. Those persons were, all things b
equal , were in Regina, although they could nmo
around the province, so that would be one
connection, if you will, to the City of Regin
Unless |'m m sunderstandi ng, you would need a
direct indictment and that was what happened.
Sir, let me just back up.

Very good.

We've heard evidence from M. Greenberg that

was M. Fisher's counsel, he was in W nnipeg
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custody and he wanted to clear up sonme charges,
and | think his evidence was that he sinply wrote
a letter to the Attorney General's office in

Regi na and ended up dealing with M. Kujawa.
|'msure -- | have no reason at all to doubt that,
sir.

And my question was, would there be anything
unusual about, again where you have an accused out
of province in custody, dealing with M. Kujawa in
the head office as opposed to you in Saskatoon?
Well, there was -- let -- one reason it would or
should or may conme to Saskatoon is, for instance,
if we had had prelimnary inquiries and if there
was counsel in our office who was famliar with
the facts and all that, that would be a good
reason to bring it here. In this case, as |
understand it, that situation didn't prevail. Am
| -- 1 think that's right, sir.

And if -- so again, the fact that M. Kujawa was
dealing with -- did M. Kujawa deal wi th other
charges arising out of Saskatoon?

Well, he would -- | would think again with the
jumpi ng off place of Regina because of direct
indictments, | would think he m ght well have

dealt with Saskatchewan cases that people wanted
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to get guilty pleas done. There's no -- it wasn't
l[imted to him but that would have been -- it

woul dn't surprise ne.

Let's tal k about the direct indictment for a
moment . Back at that time, 1970, 1971, were
direct indictments used on any compopn basis or
frequent basis?

| think they would be relatively infrequent, but
they filled that particular role when virtually
not hing else would do I think in the manner we've
been tal ki ng about.

Tell us, just so that we're clear here, and I

t hink we've heard evidence on this, one effect of
the direct indictment is that the accused,
dependi ng on whet her he wants one or not, either

| oses the right to a prelimnary hearing or avoids
the cost of going to a prelimnary hearing; is
that fair?

| assume that's correct.

And so you go directly to Queen's Bench judge and
can deal with a guilty plea or a trial w thout the
benefit of --

Yeah, ordinarily they would be with the idea of a
guilty plea, but certainly there could be a trial

if counsel had agreed, |ookit, we want a comm ttal
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on this, we will try it, but --

On what circunmstances would prosecutors get a

direct indictment? Let's talk in the '70s. G ve

me an exanmple or what reasons do you recall would

have been used to get direct indictments?
Nunber -- well, number 1, an accused who wants

essentially to plead guilty as a junping off

pl ace; two, who has not had a prelimnary inquiry

and a commttal for trial which would put things

in a certain channel; three, his desire to get
with the sentencing, etcetera, are the approxi
three things I can think of, M. Hodson.

So let's take the first one where an accused

wi shes to plead guilty in Superior Court, in

Queen's Bench Court, and does not wi sh to have a

prelim nary hearing; is that correct?

That woul d be one.

| believe the law at that time did not allow an

accused to waive their prelimnary hearing, but

they could consent to a commttal; is that

correct?

"1l defer to your know edge of the |aw on that,

sir. That may well be the case. | don't frankly

remenmber that.

| was in grade 4 at the time, M. Caldwell.
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| think you were still ahead of me, sir.

But at that time | think what we've heard evidence

of the | aw being that an accused had to go through

a prelimnary hearing and that --

Yeah.

And it has since been changed, but that would

require an appearance in Magistrates' Court?

That's correct, an election of one of three,

guess of two modes of trial other than Provincial

Court, i.e., District Court or Queen's Bench.

So one case where it m ght be where an accused

wi shes to plead guilty in Queen's Bench Court
does not wi sh, for whatever reason, to have t
expense or inconvenience of attending at a
prelim nary hearing?

Yeah, and | think that would be the classic

exanpl e.

and

he

And not to get into a debate about the purposes of

prelim nary hearing, but would it be fair to say

that certainly one of the objectives of the
prelimnary hearing is to assist the defence,
in determning the Crown's case, and (b),
requiring the Crown to establish before the
Magi strate or Provincial Court of a case that

ought to be commtted for trial?
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Those woul d be two very good reasons.

And so that they would be again at |east matters

t hat would be inmportant to an accused, the rights

of an accused?

Absol utely I think.

So in some cases an accused m ght waive those
rights, say | don't need those rights in this
case, that m ght be a reason for a direct

i ndi ct ment ?

That's right, and he m ght be very anxious to
avoid some set of facts being recited back at t
home town, if you will.

And then if you flip it over to the other side,
some cases the Crown m ght want to avoid a

prelim nary hearing for whatever reason, eye

he

in

wi t nesses, for exanmple, and in that case the Crown

m ght decide to have a direct indictment or

proceed that way?

| would think and hope that that would be a rarity

and |'m not sure, M. Hodson, | think that that
could or would only happen largely with the
cooperation of the accused or his counsel | thi
but --

So again back to 1970, and in that time franme,

you recall in your, or even your years as a
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prosecutor, M. Caldwell, as a direct indictnment,
woul d you get one a year or two a year or are you
able to give us any sense of --

Quite rare, and fitting in those kind of
categories we've just spoken of, in our office it
m ght have been once, twi ce, three tinmes.

And if there was not -- let's just wal k through,
and | think we've heard evidence about what
happened with M. Fisher's direct indictment, but
if there had not been a direct indictment, then
presumably he woul d have been summonsed or a
warrant issued to have him attend in Saskatoon to
appear in response to this charge, these charges?
Well, if he was in custody in Manitoba, which |
believe was the case, he would be brought back
under escort to Saskatoon | would think, put in
Court, the city prosecutor would make sure that
any other charges he may have were marshal ed and
the judge would then say, all right, what are we
going to do with this. One of the early
considerations | would think would be making sure
t here was defence counsel because of the
seriousness of the case.

Let me just go ahead a bit.

Okay.
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Because | think he was in Prince Albert, he had

al ready been sentenced. | f there had not been a
direct indictment and M. Fisher sinply said in
July of 1971 let's proceed, is it fair to say the
procedure that would have been followed is that he
woul d have been a warrant, or an order to get him
from Prince Albert to appear in Saskatoon Court in
response to this information?

If he was in custody in Prince Albert he would
have to be brought here by a Court order and got

physically into our Provincial Court.

Right. And then on his first appearance he could
say | have counsel, | intend to plead guilty?
Yup.

| elect trial by judge alone, set a prelimnary
hearing date?

That would certainly be one possibility.

And so the Magistrate would then mark that on the
information and a prelimnary hearing date would
be set at some date; is that fair?

That's right.

And then on the return date of the prelimnary
hearing, M. Fisher would be brought back and at
that time he could say to the Court | consent to

my commttal?
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He certainly could. That's sonmething that wasn't
done too often, but it had its uses.

Right. And that's the only way he could get the
charge to Queen's Bench to plead guilty; right?
He had to be commtted in Provincial Court?

Oh, that's correct, and a consent comm ttal was
one way of doing it.

He woul d consent commttal, then go back to Prince
Al bert, then the matter would come up in Queen's
Bench in Saskatoon | presume and --

Yeah, if the offences were Saskatoon ordinarily

t hey would, the trial or whatever would be here.
And then he would come back on the Queen's Bench
trial date and enter a guilty -- be arraigned,
enter a guilty plea and be sentenced?

That's the normal, or most frequent procedure |
woul d think, sir.

So that by going direct indictment an accused, or
in this case M. Fisher, would say two trips
before a Provincial Court, or a Magistrate, one
to -- one, the first appearance, and two, the
consent comm ttal ?

| would think so, but --

At a mnimumtwo, let me put it that way.

Yeah, | would think so.

Meyer CompuCourt Reporting

Certified Professional Court Reporters serving P.A., Regina & Saskatoon since 1980
Central Booking - Call Irene @ 1-800-667-6777 or go to www.compucourt.tv




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Bobs Caldwell
by Mr. Hodson
Vol 84 - Tuesday, October 25th, 2005

Page 16991

And it's possible that there m ght be other
appearances required if the election could not
have been made on the first appearance?
That's right.
And the direct indictment then would have the
effect of avoiding those two appearances in
Provincial Court; is that fair?
Yeah, that's correct.
MR. HODSON: This is probably a good spot
to break, M. Conmm ssioner.
(Adj ourned at 2:44 p.m)
(Reconvened at 3:02 p.m)
BY MR. HODSON:
M. Caldwell, if we could just call up 261053, and
this is the March 17th, '71 letter that | showed
you before, and | just want to refresh your nmenory
about that.
And if we could then call up

039593, and this is a letter of the next date,
March 18th, "'71, from Ken McKay to Lawrence
Greenberg, being M. Fisher's counsel. And | just
want to draw to your attention this section that
says:

"I nquiries are presently being nmade by

our Agent in Saskatoon with regard to
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t he charges agai nst your client. On
recei pt of advice from our said Agent,
we shall be able to advise you further
as to our position with regard to the
said charges."”

So | think that may be one of the documents that

you had read --

In a very recent --

-- before?

-- time, sir, that's the one | was referring to a

moment ago.

Yes.

Yeah.

So it looks like, fromthese letters, that M.

MacKay had written to M. Fisher's counsel in

W nni peg saying the Saskatoon agent, being you,

are checking into it, and that's what you had done

t he day before?

That's right, that's right.

Yeah. Now | want to call up 150576. And | want

to caution you, M. Caldwell, I'm not exactly sure

what this -- who the author is, | believe it canme

from the Government of Saskatchewan file and may

in fact be a draft of a handwritten letter that

M . MacKay was going to write. And | think, if we
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could just go through it, it says:
"Acknowl edge your letter of March
29/"' 71.
As was stated in our letter of
March 18/ 71, we are prepared to dispose
of the charges in Sask. outstanding

agai nst your client ...",

and | think that says "at the earliest"” or "at
the |least" --
UNI DENTI FI ED SPEAKER: "Wth".
BY MR. HODSON:
"' m sorry:
"... with the |east possible delay once
the charges in Manitoba have been
di sposed of.
Since the offences occurred in
Saskatoon, it would seem that our agent,
T.D.R. Caldwell, will be attending to
the matter."
And |l et nme just pause there. The March 29th
|etter, and if we could just call up for a moment
010727 -- and | think that says March 29th --
here is a March 29th, '71 letter to M. MacKay,

and if we can just go back to the docunent, to

the handwritten note which is the one -- yeah,
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and you will see as well that it is referenced to
the letter of March 18th, '71 --

Yeah.

-- and 1've just read you M. MacKay's March 18th.

So it |ooks as though this is a handwritten letter

that M. MacKay -- and | think it's M. MacKay,
and we will be hearing from him next month. Now |
don't, | was not able to find an actual letter

with this content, --

Okay.

-- M. Greenberg didn't have it or it wasn't in
the files that had his correspondence or the
government's and it may well be that a letter was
never sent, but are you able to help us understand
what this m ght have referred to whether there was
ever a discussion about having you -- and again,
first of all by your menory, are you able to tel
us, help us out by your nmenory, as to what this

m ght have referred to?

Well |I'"m sure you -- it's not nmy writing,
obvi ously.
Ri ght .

And then it would alnost |ook |ike a draft of a
| etter back to M. Greenberg in view of the date

in the top line. And the:

Meyer CompuCourt Reporting

Certified Professional Court Reporters serving P.A., Regina & Saskatoon since 1980
Central Booking - Call Irene @ 1-800-667-6777 or go to www.compucourt.tv




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Bobs Caldwell
by Mr. Hodson
Vol 84 - Tuesday, October 25th, 2005

Page 16995

"Since the offences occurred in
Saskatoon it would be -- it would seem
t hat our agent T.D.R. Caldwell will be
attending to the matter";
that's the first |1've either seen of the draft,
the letter, or that suggestion, M. Hodson, if
t hat hel ps.
And it may well be just M. MacKay's draft that he
deci ded not to send.
It may well be, yes.
But my question to you, though, is are you able to
tell us by way of your nmenory, or based upon your
practices at the time, do you know whet her you
woul d have been consulted about being -- |ooking

after the prosecution of the Fisher charges?

No, and I -- it says it -- what -- it would seem
that | would be acting. | had never heard a peep
about that --

Yeah.

-- possibility, sir.

Ckay. In fairness, we'll ask M. MacKay that, |
just --
But | hope |I'm not --

| just wondered if you were able to tell us what

this m ght have referred to?
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"Fraid not.

We're done with that docunent.

If we could go again just back

to the Fisher chronology, if | can call it that,

he was convicted in Manitoba at the end of My
1971 and sentenced | think to 13 years for two
rape charges in Manitoba; do you have a

recoll ection of becom ng aware of that at the
time?

No, sir.

And, again, is that something that you think t
you m ght have become aware of at the tinme for

ot her reasons?

No, | have no reason whatever to think | would
have become aware of it. Anmong other things,
there were no files in our office, |'m satisfi

If we then go again to the direct indictnment,

let's talk about we know that in Decenmber of 1971

M . Fisher appeared in a Regina Queen's Bench

courtroom and pled guilty to the four Saskatoon

rape charges -- three rape, one attenpted rape,

and was sentenced to concurrent time, and M.
Kuj awa was the prosecutor who appeared in that
scenario; you are aware of that being evidence

t oday --

Meyer CompuCourt Reporting

Certified Professional Court Reporters serving P.A., Regina & Saskatoon since 1980
Central Booking - Call Irene @ 1-800-667-6777 or go to www.compucourt.tv

hat

any

ed.

and




Bobs Caldwell
by Mr. Hodson
Vol 84 - Tuesday, October 25th, 2005

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

O » O »P

Page 16997

| ve heard --

-- before the Comm ssion, correct?

Yes, yes.

Back in 1971, and around that time, were you aware
of that, M. Fisher's conviction?

Absol utely not.

And would there be any reason that you think you

m ght have been aware of that?

The only reason, M. Hodson, would be -- one would

be if we had let's say run prelinms and had
commttals for trial in our office we would have
had open files, and M. Fisher for one reason or
anot her woul dn't have appeared, that would be the
only --

| - -

| think someone would say "eh, he, just a m nute,
don't we know about that guy", we didn't.

And | think the record is clear that it was a
direct indictment and there certainly was no
prelim nary hearing.

That's my understanding, sir.

And so let me just ask you about the |ocation, and
again M. Kujawa will be asked about this as well,

but as far as once the Crown made the deci sion or

t he deci sion was made by sonebody that M. Fisher
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shoul d be charged by way of direct indictnment, he
is in the Prince Albert Penitentiary at the tinme,
can you tell us, based on your understandi ng and
experience at the time, as to why that -- why he
woul d be brought to a Regina court rather than a

Saskatoon court to deal with those charges?

Well | had it in nmy mnd, and wrongly, that he was
still in Manitoba, sir, but he was, as you say, in
P. A.

Let me just clarify.

Okay.

The record reflects that he was in Manitoba when
he was arrested on Septenber 19th, 1970, --

Ri ght .

-- and then he was in Headingley jail, and then on
May 29th, 1971 he was convicted and sent to Stoney
Mountain, and in early July, | believe, of 1971 he
was transferred to Prince Albert Penitentiary.
Yeah.

Approxi mately those dates.

Okay.

And so certainly, when M. Greenberg started
dealing with M. Kujawa about dealing with the
charges, he was in Manitoba, but by the time he

appeared in the Regina courtroom he had been in
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Prince Albert for a nunber of nonths.
Ckay. Thank you. Unm all things being equal,
the charge in one sense should be dealt with in
Saskat oon, but there had been no Court proceedi ngs
of the sort of a prelimor a commttal or anything
l'i ke that. It could have been dealt with in
Prince Al bert.

| would suggest the reason it
was dealt with in Regina is that M. Greenberg

wrote M. Kujawa, and that would get the process

going if you will, and it -- again, there was the
need for a direct indictment, which as | -- which,
in effect, involved Regina governnment officials,

M . Hodson, as | think I mentioned a noment ago.
Yes.

In other words Kujawa dealt with Greenberg, they
needed a direct indictnment, the person -- | don't
know who signed it but probably the Premer or the
A. G, and they certainly got out of Regina but,
all things being equal, they were in Regina, you
know, the work week. That's all that |, you know,
| can suggest, and | --

Looki ng back now, M. Caldwell, based upon your
dealings and the fact that you were the senior

prosecutor in the Saskatoon office of the Attorney
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General at the tinme, is there anything in your

m nd that was unusual about the fact that Larry
Fisher, first of all, was dealt with by direct
indictment for his guilty pleas?

Well | think he could only be dealt with that way
as | understand the facts and | aw of that
situation, sir, so that wouldn't be unusual.

He could have had a prelimnary hearing and gone
t hrough that process?

But | -- agreed, but he -- the background, as |
understand it he wanted to get the charges | ooked
after, he would not want to have a prelim and

t hereby impose, you know, six nore nonths waiting
on himself | wouldn't think.

So in a case where an accused wi shes to pl ead
guilty and di spose of charges are you telling us
that it would not be unusual, then, to have a
direct indictment?

That would be, | think, very commendabl e.

Right. And so then let's talk about, again, |
want to know whet her, | ooking back, whether you
see anyt hing unusual about the fact that the
guilty pleas would be taken in Regina as opposed
to Saskatoon --

Yeah.
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-- with a direct indictment?

There'd be no reason, nothing wong with it being
in Regina versus Saskatoon versus P.A., but in
this instance those three or four reasons |'ve
mentioned | would think would mtigate for Regina
and be quite innocent reasons.

Were you involved, sir, in the decision to have
M . Fisher prosecuted by way of direct indictment?
Absol utely not.

Were you involved in the decision to have M.

Fi sher appear in Regina Queen's Bench Court?

No, sir, and | didn't know of it either.

Were you involved, sir -- and I think you have
heard and seen in the past nunber of years, and
"1l come back to this a bit later, allegations
made that there was a deli berate cover-up or
conspiracy to have M. Fisher dealt with in Regina
rat her than Saskatoon to prevent people, being M.
M | gaard, his representatives, police, the public
and others, from finding out about M. Fisher?
You are aware of the various allegations?

Yeah, roughly speaking, yes.

Were you involved, sir, in any coverup wth
respect to M. Fisher's charges being dealt with

in Regina?
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Absol utely not. And the one thing that was --
there were sonme conplaints to the effect that no
publicity occurred in connection with those guilty
pl eas. Now | think, then and now, the Law Society
of our province would take a very dim view of you,
in effect, generating your own publicity by
phoning the press and saying "eh, why don't you
guys get down here Monday at 5:00 and such and
such will happen". So that would, in itself, in
my view would have been unethical.

What -- just let's just go back on this issue of
medi a coverage. When you were prosecuting cases
in Saskatoon 1969, 1970, 1971, that time frame, we
have certainly seen that the David M| gaard
prosecution garnered significant medi a

attention, --

Ri ght .

-- we have seen newspaper articles about the
trial. What about other cases, guilty pleas and
ot her Court appearances, was there any -- how did
-- when did the medi a appear, what did they report
on, was there any systemin place to notify them
can you tell us what you recall about that?

There was a time in which the representatives of

t he StarPhoeni x, CFQC, and CKOM, having had
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difficulties finding out what was going on in the
crimnal |aw industry, actually got a sort of a
route. They would appear at the police station
and be -- the chief would interview them or
someone, they would come to the Federal Court
house where we happened to be, and they had a
definite series of calls which avoided them being
t hwarted about finding out what was going on.
That was a little before this but | thought was a
very, you know, presentable system

The other thing I found, M.
Hodson, is that in ny case | could get mentioned
twice in the paper in one week and have people say
"eh, | see you are knocking yourself out", and I'd

try to say "no, no, it just -- they just happened
to show up that week", the next week work l|like a

dog and not hi ng happened. So there was no

correlation between, if you will, publicity and,
for instance, what | did, as an exanple. | hope
that's --

Yeah. Wuld there be occasions, and again back in
69, '70, '71, where you, as prosecutor, would
advi se the media about an inportant case, a
conviction or a sentencing, an inportant matter?

| would think there would have been on rare
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occasions where | felt it -- you know, | didn't
want to be a part of hiding something that they
shoul d have known about, they very well may not

have.

But for exanmple, and we've heard it suggested that

the fact that the media publicized these unsol ved

rapes in late 1968, cautioned wonmen, etcetera,
that it mght be inmportant for the media to repo
that the culprit had been caught, convicted, and
sentenced to jail?

No, it m ght well be, but that would have to be

rt

done in a, if I may, a proper fashion. The medi a

woul d have to run it down or --

Ri ght . But | guess ny question is would there be

situations where you, as the prosecutor, m ght,
the case of a rapist being caught and convicted,
call the media and say "I think you should know
M. X was in Court today and we've convicted the
rapi st who commtted these crimes"?

Yeah. | ran two dangerous sexual offenders, |
don't know that | did it on either of those, but
t hat woul dn't be beyond ny version or view of
somet hi ng that was proper.

And if you felt that it's important for the pub

to know that the justice system has caught and
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convi cted somebody of a serious crime you m ght

|l et them know, the media, that this is going on?

| mght. There were -- there were, of course,
reporters who were very trustworthy, anmong ot her
people, in that industry.

And then, apart fromyou initiating the contact, |
think you are telling us -- please correct me if
|'"'mwrong -- that it was a bit hit and m ss,
reporters m ght report something, they m ght not?
Absol utely. Dependi ng on the budget, anong ot her
t hi ngs, and deadl i nes.

If we could go, I'd like to call up 000263,

pl ease. And this is a report, I'mjunping a bit
ahead, but in 1991 you were interviewed by | think
M . Graham on behalf of the Saskatchewan Police
Comm ssion regarding an investigation into m ssing
police files anongst other things; do you remember
t hat ?

Yes sir.

And | just, | want to touch on it now because

we' ve covered the subject matter, and in this
report there is reference to information you gave
in 1991 to them about the 1970-'71 matters, so
"1l maybe just go through that now. If we could

go to 000279.
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And M. Comm ssioner and M.
Caldwell, this is the report that M. Laing, who
was the Chairman -- now Justice Laing -- was the
Chai rman of the Saskatchewan Police Comm ssion,
and this was the report. W have al so seen,
previously, a |engthier menorandum that M. Graham
prepared. And just to clarify things, M. Graham
did the investigation and the | egwork, prepared a
| engt hy memorandum, submtted it to M. Laing, M.
Laing then prepared a report, --
Al'l right.
-- and this is the formal report. And if we could
go to the bottom and |I want to just touch on the
report, and then as well there is a statenent that
you gave.
Very good.
And M. Laing says:
"The handling of M. Fisher's guilty
pleas in the City of Regina was a
deci si on made by the Attorney-General's
Department for routine adm nistrative
reasons, and was not a decision made by
t he Saskatoon City Police Department.
This practice was commonpl ace and was

not unusual in any respect. It is to be
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noted that M. Fisher was incarcerated
in the Saskatchewan Penitentiary at the
time of his guilty pleas, and he was
never in the custody of the Saskatoon
City Police."
And, again, is that, the comment of the
t hen- Chai rman of the Police Conmm ssion; would you
agree with that statenent?
That's exactly how | saw that, sir, and do now.
And then if we could call up 331003, which is part
of 330902, and this is your handwriting, |'ve got
a typed version of this but if we -- this is your
handwriting; is that?
Yes, it is, yeah.
And it's a November 19th, 1991 statement, and if
we can go to page 331 -- actually, we'll use the
handwritten statenment, |'Il show you your
signature when we get to the end.
Very good.
And this is a statement you would have given to
t he Police Comm ssion?
That's correct, sir.
And we will just go through it. It says:
"l have been shown a letter dated March

17, 1971, from Deputy Chief L.J. Corey,
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of the Saskatoon Police Department, to
t he Deputy Attorney General for
Saskat chewan, to the attention of K. W
MacKay ... Crown Solicitor, concerning
Larry Earl Fisher."
And that's the letter, M. Caldwell, that | just
went through with you.
Thank you.
"This letter indicates that | contacted
D/ C Corey and requested that he forward
M. MacKay a summary of facts concerning
rapes allegedly commtted by Fisher.
| have no menory of this
transacti on but have no doubt that | did
contact Corey, presumably at the request
of M. MacKay."
So if I can go back to the top, please, | pause
t here. Is that an accurate statement, M.
Cal dwel | ?
Yes, it iIs, exactly.
So in 1991, when asked by the Police Conm ssion at
that time, you did not have a menmory of the dis --
of the March 17th, '71 Corey letter; is that fair?
Yes.

And then carry down, or scroll down:
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"M. WG Graham has also shown me (in
addition to this letter) documentation
i ndicating that Fisher plead guilty to
the four counts of rape set out in the
| etter, as four counts in one

i ndi ctment, dated Decenber 8, 1971, and
signed by A.E. Bl akeney as Acting
Attorney General ."

s the direct indictnments. Next page:
"The guilty pleas by Fisher apparently
all occurred in Regina on December 21,
1971, before M. Justice F.W Johnson in
the Court of Queen's Bench, and Fisher
was sentenced on the sane day.

Since this case required a
direct indictment to be signed by the
attorney general, who was |ocated in
Regi na, and since Fisher was only I|inked
with these four Saskatoon offences by
his own adm ssions made in Manitoba
after being sentenced there on an
unrel ated offence, there would be no
reason to have the guilty plea and
sentencing take place in Saskatoon in

preference to Regina. To ny knowl edge,
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t he Saskatoon Prosecutions Unit had
never enbarked on prelimnary inquiries
or other proceedings concerning these
four offences, but even if there had
been comm ttals for trial. There would
be no reason that guilty pleas should
not be heard in Regina, since Fisher
woul d have to be physically present
wherever the matters were di sposed of
and the need for a direct indictnment
signed by the attorney general in Regina
would mtigate toward handling the pleas
in Regina."

And, again, is that accurate and truthful ?

That -- yes, it is, sir.
"Since the involvement of our office at
that time appears to have been |limted
to this (presumably) phone call from
myself to D/C Corey | would not expect
to, nor would | have any reason to
pursue, be informed of the outcome of
Fisher's case in Regina. There were no
hard- and-fast procedures in existence at
that time covering the notification of

our office even on cases we had dealt

Meyer CompuCourt Reporting

Certified Professional Court Reporters serving P.A., Regina & Saskatoon since 1980
Central Booking - Call Irene @ 1-800-667-6777 or go to www.compucourt.tv




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Bobs Caldwell
by Mr. Hodson
Vol 84 - Tuesday, October 25th, 2005

Page 17011

with extensively, |let alone ones where
we were so marginally involved as this
one.

At that tinme, | was the person
in charge of a two-person, plus one
secretary, Prosecution Unit in Saskatoon
for the Saskatchewan Department of the
Attorney General ."

And your signature. And is that accurate and
truthful ?

Yes, it is.

If I could just go back to 000263, please, and
this is the report that | have just read from if
we could go to page 000272. And, again, this is

t he Conmm ssioner, M. Laing as he then was,

commenting, and he says -- and this is the report:
"M . Caldwell, M. Kujawa, and M.
MacKay, were all interviewed and

indicated it was routine that persons
incarcerated in Prince Albert
Penitentiary who wi shed to di spose of
charges agai nst them were dealt with at
the City of Regina. The reasons
advanced by such persons had largely to

do with matters of conveni ence which
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i ncl uded:

1. If the matter was to be disposed of by
direct indictment, such indictment would
have to be signed by the Attorney
General in the City of Regina."

| think you've told us about that already, M.
Cal dwel | ?
Yes.

"2. Regi na was the head office of the
Attorney-General's Department where the
staff existed to process such paperwork.
Ot her Attorney-General offices in the
Provi nce of Saskatchewan i ncl uding
Saskat oon were intended to be
prosecution offices only. The Saskatoon
office was staffed by two | awyers and
one secretary."”

| s that accurate?
That's correct.

"3. The R.C.M P. transports prisoners within
t he province and R C. M P. pl anes
travell ed more frequently between Prince
Al bert and Regina than to any ot her
centre in the Province due to the fact

that all sentence appeals by inmates are
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heard by the Court of Appeal in Regina."
Is that accurate and truthful ?
That is, sir.
And can you just el aborate on that? | think you
told us, at the time, that the Court of Appeal
only sat in Regina?
Only on crim nal appeals.
O crimnal.
And they only heard crim nal appeals in Regina,
and for sonme reason they insisted on hearing
sentence appeals in Regina, | think there -- it
was explained to me that possibly the prisoners
enjoyed an outing now and then.

| actually, when M. Justice

Hall ran a Comm ssion on the justice systemin the
province | suggested to himthat that could be
| argely -- if -- one place to handle those could
be Saskatoon, which would involve a shorter
flight, and that didn't happen and | wasn't
necessarily looking for the work, but it seenmed a
little odd to ne that even sentence appeals had to
go all the way to Regi na. That was the
explanation | was given, sir.
So in 1971, and in December of 1971, an accused or

a convicted person who was incarcerated at Prince
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Al bert and was appealing the sentence and/or the
conviction -- let's talk about appealing the
sentence, --

Yeah.

-- that would be done in Regina and Regina only?
That's my menmory, sir. They didn't, for instance,
send a judge, as is done in some provinces, to the
penitentiary to sort out the nore or |ess
meritorious appeals. That didn't happen here.
And | take it, sir, that there would al so be
occasi ons, though, where prisoners from Prince

Al bert m ght be flown to Saskatoon to appear in
Court ?

Very rarely, because Saskatoon didn't provide us
what the Court of Appeal was willing to do in
Regi na, in other words no use bringing them here
if there is no one here who will hear their case.
So let's just talk if, in Saskatoon, if prisoners
were to be appearing in Saskatoon it would be in
Queen's Bench Court or Magistrate's Court at the
time?

Umm, nost -- yes, that's correct.

And where would they be in custody on remand,
where woul d they be held?

Well the Saskatoon City Police station had cells,
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t hat woul d be the main place, and the courthouse
had cells which were virtually never used. I
believe, at that time |I'mnot sure if the RCWP
detachment had them or not, sir.
Okay. But would there be occasions for, | think
we saw when M. Ml gaard was awaiting trial,
believe that there was a reference to him being in
Prince Albert, and I think we'll hear from M.
Tallis that he attended in Prince Albert. Wre
t here occasions where prisoners were -- or maybe
"prisoners' -- accused persons were housed in
Prince Albert awaiting trial in Saskatoon?
Oh yes, there was, there was a Prince Albert jail,
and that would be the -- and of course the
penitentiary, but the jail would be used in a --
for people on remand, anmong other reasons.
So people who were appearing in Saskatoon could be
remanded to the Prince Albert jail?
They could, and nmy menory is that we did not have
a provincial jail in Saskatoon at that time, but |
stand to be corrected.
Al'l right. Okay. Number :
"4. There had been no court proceedi ngs
with respect to the matters involving

Larry Fisher in Saskatoon, no
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prosecution file had been opened in
Saskat oon, and therefore the nost
expedi ent nmethod to dispose of the
char ges agai nst Fisher given the
resources available was utilized."
And, again, would you agree with that?
Yeah, that's right.

And again, we saw the information that was sworn

by M. Goa against M. Fisher, but | take it from
this report -- and | think it's reflected in the
record -- there does not appear to be any court

proceedi ngs that followed the swearing of that
information?
| don't think so, because M. Fisher hinmself wou
be absent fromthe city at that time, they may n
have even, you know, got started in that sense.
If we could then go to 006859, please, this is -
| just want to cover a couple of points relating
to exhibits. And, again, you are witing to M.
Kuj awa about the possibility of M. Ml gaard's
case going to the Supreme Court and whet her the
matter can be closed.

"The parents of the deceased ...",
if you can call that out, please:

are anxious to obtain some of her
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bel ongings and if the matter is ended
once and for all I will take steps to
obtain an order for the rel ease of sonme

of the bel ongi ngs

006850, this is M. Kujawa's response of
, "71, and he says:

"It is, | suppose, inpossible to say
that this case will not get to the

Supreme Court of Canada. However, the
more tinme goes by the less |ikely that
becones. In any event, since the Court
of Appeal has dealt with the matter and
since no application was made for | eave
within the statutory tinme, you are free
to pick up and dispose of all exhibits
according to the order of the trial
court. In the renpte event that a new
trial is ordered, sone items, |ike the
kni fe, perhaps should be retained for
some time but there is no need to hold

any of the other material."

And, again, what was the practice at the time,

M. Caldwell, about retention of Court exhibits

after a

| don't

murder trial?

know that there was one that related to
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murder trials as such. Oddly enough, one thing

t hat happened in some nmurders is that relatives
woul d come back and want weapons and/or knives
rel eased to them that happened once or twice,
somewhat to our surprise, but that actually did
happen. | don't know, M. Hodson, there's
anything saying with respect to nmurders we shal
do this.

Let me just say any case, would it be normal for
the trial judge to grant an order releasing

exhi bits back?

|f asked, he certainly would, but personal things,
letters, all that, not ordinarily weapons or that
ki nd of thing.

Right. So the general practice would be once a
trial, once a proceeding was done, there would be
a Court order releasing exhibits to whonmever
wanted them or they would be destroyed, apart from
weapons?

It was really triggered by a request from
relatives and if that happened we would follow it
t hrough, wusually successfully.

If we can go to 006847, please, this is your
handwritten note?

Yes.
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February 23, '72, and this would be after M.
M | gaard's application for |eave to the Suprene
Court was dism ssed, and it says:
"MIllers: In - + would Ilike
Purse + contents
Red sweat er
Boot s
Correspondence. "
And then a note:
"Ozzie
Ml gaard file - no fiat re exhibits.
Take to C.J. --"
Which | presume is Chief Justice,
"-- + get order re exhibits."
And then March 13, '72:
"Asked Kleiv to mail any correspondence
to Mllers."
Do | take it from that that at some point --
actually, let me just call up another document,
069225. This actually |looks to be the fiat of
Chi ef Justice Bence, or somebody, | think it's --
It is his signature | believe, but --
So certain exhibits were released, those that the
MIller famly wanted, some clothing, eight items;

is that right, and it says received by you?

Meyer CompuCourt Reporting

Certified Professional Court Reporters serving P.A., Regina & Saskatoon since 1980

Central Booking - Call Irene @ 1-800-667-6777 or go to www.compucourt.tv




Bobs Caldwell
by Mr. Hodson
Vol 84 - Tuesday, October 25th, 2005

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

O » O » O

Page 17020

Oh, yes, the fiat says all exhibits. The list of
about eight things was made there, totalling
eight, and then | signed and dated receiving those
on the 13th of March, '72.

And | think -- so some of the exhibits were
returned to the MIller famly and | believe that
the rest of the exhibits remained at the court
house for a tinme?

That's correct, yeah.

And | understand, M. Caldwell, that at some point
contact was made to you by the Court registrar
regardi ng the destruction of the remaining
exhibits in the David M| gaard prosecution?

Well, not -- | don't think on them M . Hodson,
unless I'm forgetting something, but a large -- an
order was made to dispose of a massive nunber of
exhibits.

Ri ght .

Unl ess there was sonething --

No, that's what |'m asking you.

Okay, | know about that.

Why don't you tell us about what happened in that
regard.

OCkay. The court house had a basement, a | arge

basement the size al most of the building, and the
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exhi bits had been going down there for years and
they actually had a roomwi thin this |arge space
constructed of what appeared to be two-by-twos and
chicken wire and inside that room were things that
| suppose could be regarded as having sone
particul ar val ue. Now, the Court -- the Il ocal
registrar got in touch with our office and said

t hat the Queen's Bench Court wi shed these things
to be disposed of for sheer reasons of space and
there was some fiat obviously obtained and nyself
and two or three of ny coll eagues went down one
evening and | believe another, the same people
maybe the next evening, | think I was only there
once. Now, there was a -- if you want, | can just
deal with the M| gaard aspect.

Yes, pl ease.

OCkay, that's fine. There was a shopping cart in

t hat area which had the, presumably all the
exhibits fromthe MIlgaard trial and I -- | had an
idea first of all that | m ght some day, you know,
give a lecture to a service club about how the
trial went. | was not -- | was not sure that the
itemthat's P.2, the sketch of the neighbourhood,
was not part of those exhibits and | didn't want

it destroyed and | did not -- there's another
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item the exhibit chart that we made for our
office, which I think could have been in there, |
didn't have essentially the time to stop, M.
Hodson, right there and sort through that
material, | eventually -- | said, in effect, hang
onto that and there was a note put on the cart to
t hat effect.

Let me just pause there.

Okay.

Can you give us a date or a year?

| think it was when Ken MacKay becanme our boss and

M . Perras nmoved to Alberta, but that's pretty

vague. | would think the clerks m ght have that,
sir.
| was going to suggest, and | think -- was Dennis

Berezowski the individual that called you?

Yes.

And | think the late '70s, maybe '76 or '78,
somewhere in that time frame, does that sound --

| wouldn't debate for a m nute whatever he thought
it was, sir.

So at that time the Court had directed that

exhi bits should be destroyed?

That's right.

And |l et me just pause for a nmonent. And included
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in the shopping cart of exhibits would be Gai
MIler's coat; correct?

| would assunme so.

Gail MIller's dress?

Yeah.

And Gail MIller's under garnments?

| would assume that, M. Hodson.

And so what prevented those exhibits from being
destroyed then at that time in the late '70s or
whenever it was?

Well, the very fact that | wanted to be certain
that -- | believe it's P.2 in our proceedings
here, it was in the trial, that |ong horizontal
map of the nei ghbourhood --

Yes.

-- which had been made at ny request, | wanted to
make sure that it wasn't destroyed because we had
never used that particular technique before and |
didn't know that it was not part of the shopping
cart and that was the main thing, and | sinmply
didn't feel | or we had the time to stop and go

t hrough the cart then and, you know, extract that,
it may or may not have been there, but | didn't
want to take the chance that it was destroyed.

It's in these proceedings today, yeah.
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Yes. So what did you do?

| asked M. Berezowski, | think manufactured a
note saying do not destroy, discard these

evi dence, and based on ny request which was
attached to the cart | believe.

And were you intending when you did that, M.

Cal dwell, to preserve the coat and the dress and
t he under garments for any future purpose?

No, | wasn't, | was intending to come back and
make sure | retrieved that one item | was speaking
about .

The sketch?

Yeah, the sketch, and no intention or thoughts
about other things at all that | can recall.

And did you ever get back to | ook for the sketch?
Li ke many of my other ventures, sir, | never did
return.

And had you gone back for the sketch and found it
not there, what do you think you would have done
with the shopping cart of exhibits?

| would assume that | would have asked someone to
destroy it the next time they were going through
this destruction exercise. The one thing | would
have done is check with the Court clerks to see if

that, being a sort of paper exhibit, by chance was
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filed up in the registrar's office or somewhere.

At this time, or at the time this was happening,
were you aware of the fact that M. M| gaard was
claimng that he was innocent and ought not to
have been convicted?

Sir, | can't place whether that had happened or
not by that tinme. | can't -- | can't place when
that started to come to ny attention.

WAs your decision to prevent the destruction of
the exhibits, if | can put it that way, or to have
them secured, was it in any way notivated by the
fact that these, you felt these exhibits m ght be
needed at a |later date for any matter related to
M. MIlgaard's guilt?

No, it wasn't, sir, and that just didn't come into
my, you know, ny considerations.

Okay. If we could then now turn to, | want to
deal with Dr. McDonald and the parole board
matters. |f we could call up 009327, and | think
| touched on this the |ast session. Dr. McDonal d,
M. Caldwell, just maybe tell us again, what role
did Dr. MDonald play in your prosecution of M.

M | gaard?

Well, it was comon practice in that era to try to

have an accused in murders and sim |l ar cases seen
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by a psychiatrist as soon as possible after the
actual event and this would be with a view to
possi bl e defences of drunkenness, insanity or

what ever, which m ght come up |ater. | had -- |
enlisted Dr. MDonal d under that general heading
and | know M. Ml gaard cane back to Saskatoon in
custody and | think there are documents to the
effect that Dr. McDonal d attended at the Saskatoon
police station either that night or the next day
to interview him obviously at ny request. Now - -
And so -- and again, as far as Dr. MDonal d, you
had himinterview M. Ml gaard after he was
arrested to get sonme information that m ght assi st
you in the event that M. Ml gaard put forward a
defence of drunkenness or insanity or something of
t hat nature?

Yeah. Not exactly to get information, but to
assess himwith a view to whether that could be
com ng up, you know, from his physical condition,
etcetera.

Woul d there be any -- would one of the objectives
or purposes in having Dr. MDonald see M.

M | gaard at that time would be to get information
that you m ght be able to use if M. Ml gaard were

to testify in his own defence?
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Only in a very narrow sense of psychiatric
concerns, which | doubt whether | could do und
t hat headi ng. In other words, it was to try t
assess him not essentially to get evidence

t hrough him

And so that would have been the practice at th

time, | think you told us this |ast day that i

was common practice in serious cases to get your

psychi atri st or your doctor in quickly to get
assessnment so that you could be able to respon
a plea of insanity or drunkenness?

That's it in a nutshell, sir.

And just for the record, this February 19th,

there's a note that M., or Lieutenant Penkal a had

asked Dr. McDonald to review the case, this is

bef ore anybody was a suspect, certainly before M.

M | gaard was, to get an opinion on the type of

person who may be capable of this type of crime.
We heard from M. Penkala, | don't think he said

he ever got such a report, so Dr. MDonal d appears

to have been involved, at | east contacted at t
poi nt . | want to skip ahead to 006764, and it

appears at this time, this is June 2nd, 1969,

is shortly after M. Ml gaard has been arrested

and this is a note of a police officer to the
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chief and it indicates, just call that out:
"On June 2, 1969, Dr. McDonal d exam ned
above person from 8:10 to 9:30 p.m in
prisoner interview room
Cst. Little was present outside
door until 9 p.m when he was relieved
by Cst. Baungartner."
So it |looks as though on June 2nd, for about an
hour and 20 m nutes, Dr. MDonald tal ked to M.
M |l gaard; is that --
That woul d appear to be the same incident. The

person signing it is a man named Don Hanson, was a

policeman as well, that's how | identify that,
sir. As a matter of interest, the Lieutenant
Penkal a thing we | ooked at a noment ago, |'m of

the view, M. Hodson, had nothing to do with ne,
for whatever that's worth.
And then if we could go to 006762, and this is a
letter June 2nd, '69 from McCorriston to Kettles,
and again it tal ks about a visit by David M| gaard
and his nother, and this is June 2nd, it says:

"An application for |egal aid was

conpl eted by Mrs. Ml gaard and signed by

David. She mentioned the name of Wal sh,

a prom nent W nni peg | awyer, however
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i ndi cated preference of M. C.F. Tallis

in Saskatoon."
| "' mnot sure if that's our M. Wl ch or not.
It nmust be soneone else | think.

MR. WOLCH: | was a prosecutor yet.

MR. HODSON: Just for the record, it was

Harry Wal sh, not our M. Wbl ch.
MR. WOLCH: And | was in grade 4.
BY MR. HODSON:
And he was in grade 4, for the sixth year.
But in any event, so this

i ndi cates that, in the next paragraph:

"Ms. Ml gaard stated she did not w sh

her son to be exam ned by any doct or

or

psychiatrist prior to her consultation

with a |lawyer. She indicated they are

of Christian Science faith and these
types of medi cal exam nations are

against their religious belief."”

And | think we'll hear evidence from M. Tallis

that he instructed M. Ml gaard not to talk to

Dr. McDonald any further, and again, would that

accord with your recollection that Dr. MDonal d

saw him once and then after that M. Ml gaard,

t hrough his mother and his |egal counsel, put
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stop to that?

| just know the first half of it, sir, | wouldn't
be surprised if the second had happened, but |
don't think it came to ny attention.

And then 105629 is a subpoena to Dr. MDonal d, and
again this is for the prelim and | don't think he

was ever called, we saw some notes where he was on
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a list. Do you know what woul d have prompted you
to issue a subpoena for himat the prelimnary
hearing?

| suppose simply to have him if you wll
notified available if it came to calling him I
of fhand don't know why | would be calling him at
the prelim

And then 006849, this is an account from

Dr. McDonald to you, February 13th, '79 for

exam nation and report. Did you ever receive a
written report from Dr. McDonal d?

If I did, M. Hodson, | think it was virtually a
one line letter. In other words, nothing -- if |
got that, that would be my menmory, and |' m not
aware of anything else.

If we can go ahead to 006845, and this is a letter
of June 5, 1972 from Dr. McDonald to you and it

predates, | will be getting to in a moment your
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letter of June 14th, 1972 to the National Parole

Board, and just so you know, this |ooks to predate

t hat by nine days.

| see.

And it says:
"I n recent telephone conversations, you
have asked nme for a diagnostic |abel for
t he above not ed. Havi ng revi ewed ny
file, which is based on one interview
with this individual, plus reports from
Yorkton Psychiatric Center, the Munroe
W ng, Regina and the Child Gui dance
Clinic of greater W nnipeg, | would
conclude that this young man was
suffering from a severe behaviour
di sorder which | would think best be
call ed sociopathic personality. | did
not find any evidence of formal
psychiatric disorder, e.g.
schi zophrenia.™

And then the next paragraph:
"I would think that if the parole
authorities are interested in follow ng
up this case, that they m ght be advised

to contact Yorkton Psychiatric Center
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which has a fairly volum nous file on
him™"
And again sonme other information there as to
where they m ght be contacted, and then his
cl osi ng. So it appears, maybe we'll call up
006824, and this is your letter to the parole
board of June 14th, 1972, so this is nine days
after Dr. McDonald's letter to you. Can we take
it fromthat, sir, that you would have gone to
Dr. McDonald to get sonme information on M.
M | gaard's psychiatric history, condition or

mental condition?

well, | --

We'll just get the original document.

Okay, thanks. | believe, M. Hodson, this would
be the so-called first letter I wote to the

board. Maybe you can - -

Yes, | believe it is.
Okay, good.
And again nmy question is, and we'll go through

this, my first question is, is it fair for us to
conclude that to assist you in writing this letter
to the parole board, you would have tal ked to

Dr. McDonald to get sone information, nunmber 1, to

give me a diagnostic |abel and to give ne some
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background?

Yeah, the matters that he mentions in the | ast
letter.

Yes.

Yeah, that | assunme is the case.

Now, before we go through the letter, can you tel
me, how did this come about, what pronmpted you or
caused you to write a letter to the National
Parol e Board with respect to M. Ml gaard?

Well, | believe in this instance | recite that I
had recently had the opportunity to read the
bookl et printed by the board which is set out

t here. | notice that you welcome reports fromthe
bench and police departments in cases where it's
felt that there are circunmstances surroundi ng a
case which should be known to the board.

So if | can pause there, and again you've recited
part of the first paragraph --

Yeah.

Do we take it from that that you read a booklet?
That's right.

And I've tried to find the booklet. | "' m not done
yet, | haven't been able to locate it, but | take
it you had a booklet titled what you indicate in

the letter?
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Yes.
And that you read and that outlined that reports
are wel comed from the bench?
That's right, that's right, and that, M. Hodson,
may have come out of a Western Canada Crown
sem nar or even a Federation of Law Societies
meeti ng. | don't know.
Prior to this letter, had you ever written to the
Nati onal Parole Board with respect to anybody that
you had prosecuted and convicted or not convicted?
| don't think so. I n page 5, hal fway down the
second paragraph:
"l have never had occasion to write in
this manner before during nmy 13 years as
a full-time Crown prosecutor.™
So this was the first about anyone.
And so | think you said you saw a panmphl et that
said it encouraged prosecutors to write -- or
encouraged, | think you said, the bench and the
police to wite in?
That's right. That's correct.
Did you write in a letter at this time to the
Nati onal Parol e Board about any other persons that
you had prosecuted?

| can't think that | did. The two dangerous
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sexual offender matters | ran, if you will, the
one was successful, the other the gentl eman was
sentenced to life imprisonment, they would be the
only ones, and | don't think I -- | can't remenber
having written on them sir.

Ckay. Now -- and | think you had told me back on
the first day of your evidence that you had
prosecuted a nunber of murder cases before M.

M | gaard?

Yes, three or four, plus or m nus.

And so in June of 1972 did you write to the

Nati onal Parol e Board about any of the other
persons that you prosecuted and convicted?

No, | wouldn't think so. | have no reason to
think | did.

And why would you then send a letter regarding M.
M | gaard's conviction?

Well, because | think of, and of course the
under st andi ng we had then was that he was the
person properly convicted of the matter, of the
facts, the very grave facts of the nurder.

Okay. And so -- but was it something about the
circumstances of the case or of M. Mlgaard -- if
you wi sh we can go through the letter, or parts of
it.
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A Yeah. Well, | start --

Q Sorry, yeah, | can go through parts of it.

A Okay.

Q | wonder, if you wish to go through it before you
answer the questions, | can go through the parts
of it and highlight it.

Okay.

Q Woul d you like ne to do that? M point is |I'm
trying to understand what it was that prompted you
to write a letter with respect to M. Ml gaard's
conviction as distinct fromothers, was it
something to do with M. Ml gaard, something to do
with the type of a case or both?

A Not to do with him but to do with the very, very
shocking facts of the case principally.

Q And at that time M. MIlgaard's Court proceedings
had been concluded; is that correct?

That's my belief.

Q And you believed him-- did you believe himto be
then the murderer of Gail MIller at that time?
Yes, sir.

Q And the fact that he been convicted, did that
i nfl uence your decision or --

A Well, it would be a prerequisite to, you know, if

he hadn't been convicted, we were in a whole
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different situation |I would think.

And | don't want to get into all the details of

t he other cases that you prosecuted and the

mur ders, but would you not have prosecuted other
mur ders that were, although not the same, would
have the same types of concerns and --

Not parallel to this. There were three or four
others -- if necessary, | could try to find nanes,
sir, but --

No, |I'm not --

Okay.

l'"'mtrying to get a sense of what it was that

el evated this case to the point that caused you to
write the letter on this case and not the others.
OCkay. The very brutal manner in which the offence
t ook place, the 40 degree bel ow weat her, the fact
that the person was |eft where she was in the snow
essentially to die, | had nothing paralleling
that, M. Hodson.

Maybe we'll go through parts of the letter.

Okay, that's fine.

And we can cone back to that, and | appreciate
your answer .

Okay.

And 1'Il come back to that once we' ve gone through
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parts of the letter. If we can go to the next
page, please, and you again recite the facts.
That's right.
And | don't want to go through that, but | do want
to ask you about this part, and on page 1 --
actually, let me just go back to page 1, that
par agraph, you say:
"While the facts are set out at |ength
and in detail in the judgnment of Chief
Justice Culliton mentioned above "
And that's the reported case,
"... I will set them out briefly here
for your information."
And then you go on to recite the facts; correct?
Yes, that's right.
And then we go to the next page and you descri be
here about in the T-shaped alley, stabbing her as
this went on, Nichol John observed this part of
t he epi sode?
Yes.
And ran away, eventually getting back into the
car. Now, again we've gone through the evidence
at trial, and you would agree with me, sir, that
t he evidence at trial was not that Nichol John

observed this part of the incident?
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| agree with that.

That was what was in her earlier statenent?

Yes.

And again, | appreciate that you are descri bing
the facts here, but at this time, M. Caldwell,
did you believe that Ms. John had observed this
part of the episode?

| would think I did believe that at that point,
sir, despite how the 9(2) matter proceeded at the
trial is all I can say to that.

And so that -- and maybe there's a distinction
here. The facts as you descri be them are the
facts as you believed them to happen as opposed to
the facts that were presented in Court against M.
M |l gaard; is that --

Well, | would hope that they were very close to
what the Court of Appeal recited and I would
certainly try to be accurate in setting out the
facts as | believe they were.

And | want to focus just on this part.

Okay.

And | don't, | think the remai nder of the
circumstances | don't want to go through, but the
fact that you are telling the parole board that

Ni chol John observed the nurder and in |ight of
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what was presented to the Court, that was not the

evi dence?

No. | can see that, sir.

And I'm just wondering what -- whether there's any

expl anation for this wording, and | appreciate

that you are reciting the facts as opposed to

evi dence presented, but |I'mjust wondering what

| - -

"' m sorry, go ahead.

| would suppose that I'm --
"Ni chol John observed this part of the
epi sode, and ran away, eventually
getting back into the car."

Now t hat would be -- that would include the 9(2)

matters but those matters were not successfully,

you know, extracted from her in her evidence,

which is, | think, what you are saying?

Yeah.

Yeah.

And | guess, just to be clear, this part here:
"... stabbing at her as this went on.
Ni chol John observed this part of the
epi sode "

Yeah.

And | think you' ve agreed that that wasn't the
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evi dence at the trial?
That's correct, sir, | would agree with that.
Okay. And then, again, | think nmy earlier
guestion was is there any explanation as to why
you would have put that in this letter when it was
not evidence before the Court?
| can only think that a certain anmount of time had
gone by, that | made an attenpt to be accurate in
t hese facts, and possibly in my mnd it had
transferred into "she saw it and didn't say
it", --
Okay?
-- which is a very awkward way of explaining it,
but - -
And | think you did tell us earlier, M. Caldwell,
that, notw thstanding the evidence presented at
trial, you believed that Nichol John w tnessed the
murder; is that correct?
Yes, that's right, sir.
Okay. If we can go down to the bottom of the
page:
"I n May of 1969, M| gaard, who was in a
mot el at Regina, reenacted the stabbing
for the edification of some of his

friends, while he was under the
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i nfluence of drugs. This resulted from
the friends jokingly accusing him of the
mur der, whereupon M | gaard reenacted the
stabbing with a pillow in a very
convincing fashion."
And, again, | take it you are referring to the
Mel nyk/ Lapchuk evi dence?
I am
And any reason you would be giving this to the
parol e board?
It was evidence that got in at the trial and
appeared to stand up to cross-exam nation,
etcetera, the judge reviewed it in his charge |
believe, so it's just another piece of evidence,
i f unusual evidence.
And then you then encl ose:
" a copy of the bookl et of
phot ographs taken by the Saskatoon
Pol i ce Department which graphically
indicate this brutal nurder of M ss
MIller by M. MIlgaard, who was a
conpl ete stranger to her."
That's right.
And I'"m sorry, and |I'm assum ng those, that's the

book of photographs that we have had occasion to
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| ook at showi ng her body in the alley, the knife

wounds?

That would be it, | would -- that would be it,
Sir.

And again, | don't know that we need to identify

them but you say:

graphically indicate this brutal
mur der . ..",

so those would be the photographs that show the

wounds in particular?

Yeah. | ' m not sure that there weren't two books,

one at the scene, and one at the autopsy.

Yes.

And it says "a booklet of photographs”, 1, you
know, at the moment, can't say which it was. |t
obvi ously was only one of them | would think it

may have been the autopsy one by the way | just,
construct this sentence, but | can't say at this
poi nt .

One or the other?

Yes, that's right, could --

And both of them would be fairly graphic

phot ographs?

Oh, certainly, that's -- absolutely.

And then you go on to say:
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"I n preparing this case, | had the
privilege of reading Ml gaard's entire
psychiatric history, which, as it
happened, was very well documented since
his early youth. He had been in
constant trouble since kindergarten
days, and the file even contains
predictions by social workers who had
exam ned M | gaard, that he would one day
kill sonebody."
Let me just go back to you say "in preparing the
case | had the privilege of reading the entire
psychiatric history"?
Yes.
Where would you have gotten that from?
Well Dr. MDonald nmust have coll ected those
so-called chart from those four sources that he
menti oned, --
Yes.
-- and I would have read it in his custody, if you
will, and there was a comment at the end of one of
t hese reports that he would some day kill someone,
by a social worker, that's how that evol ved.
And so, again, why would you be giving the

Nati onal Parole Board the psychiatric history that
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you read about M. Ml gaard?

Well | would believe that the nobre, you know,
scientific evidence they had, or proper
professional reports on a person, the nmore |ikely
it would be that they could properly evaluate him
in terms of l|later release, etcetera. And this, of
course, was not hearsay or runmours, this was the
wor k of various professional social workers,
etcetera, and | felt the board should have that

i nformation.

| had asked you a bit earlier about what pronmpted
you to write a letter with respect to this case as
conpared to other cases that you prosecuted --

Uh- huh.

-- and you said one of the reasons was the nature
of the crime --

Yeah.

-- and | think I talked about that with the

phot ogr aphs. Did it also have to do with what you
t hought about M. M| gaard based on his
psychiatric history; was that something that you
considered in deciding to send a |letter on his
case and not others?

| would think so, because his case was one in

whi ch the so-called chart included material from
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t hose four different mentioned sources that were
proper psychiatric or child training, whatever,
centres. So that was, that was, you know, hard
and fast scientific evidence which seemed to ne
was -- would be useful in this sense.

And if you can scroll down, and again just that
information that you would have had, you said you
had it to read it to prepare for the case?

Yeah.

And | think you've told us that's something you

m ght have used on a drunkenness or insanity

def ence?

Yeah. You never (a) know whether there was going
to be a defence at all, (b) whether it would

i nvol ve drunkenness or insanity or both, and the
more | had by way of general background the better
condition I'd be in, M. Hodson, to deal with it
if it came up. In this case it didn't.

If M. MIlgaard had testified and put his
character in issue, is this something, this
information, is this something you would have used
do you think?

Well if it -- I'"mnot sure that it would fit
properly into character in issue, | would have to

| ook at that a little nmore carefully, but it's
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information that | should be aware of is the way

|'d put it.

If we can then just scroll down in the letter you

say:
"Having been intimately involved in this
case fromthe time of the killing until
the final disposition of the matter in
t he Supreme Court of Canada, |, of
necessity, came to know a great deal
about the personality of the accused
M|l gaard. While | no |l onger have his
psychiatric history available to nme, it
was an extrenely |lengthy record of
continual trouble wi th educati onal
institutions, persons attenpting to help
him etcetera.”

So | pause there. | take it, at the time of this

| etter, that you didn't have the psychiatric

hi story on your file?

Yes, apparently | -- it had left my custody.

woul d assume it was with Dr. McDonal d.

And then you go on to say:
"Al bert Cadrain, whose evidence was very
i mportant in the trial, knew M| gaard

previous to this episode, and told the
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police and nyself of episodes in Calgary
wherein Ml gaard had young girls in his
living quarters to whom he woul d supply
heroin to the point at which these girls
compl etely |l ost their senses. One of
t hese episodes involved M| gaard
inviting Cadrain to have sexual
intercourse with a girl in this state
whom M | gaard had in a bathtub filled
with water. This was only one exanple
of the almost unbelievable |lifestyle of
M | gaard before this offence, which I
came to know as a result of preparing
for the prosecution of this trial."

And again, the episodes in Calgary that you talk

about, would that be the -- you will recall a

coupl e weeks ago we | ooked at the August 26th,

1969 police report where you interviewed Al bert

Cadrain | think with M. U lrich and perhaps

M . Mackie?

| think so.

And he mentioned Ed Schell enberg?

That's the sanme episode, sir.

So that's the incident -- information you got

about episodes in Calgary; is that right?
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That's right. Now just, if | mght, | have since

| earned that evidently we -- "we", whoever, did
get an answer to the inquiries that were made in
Cal gary, that was -- that was unknown to ne, at

| east it was suggested we never got an answer,
evidently we did. |"m sure it could be |ocated
t he docunments.

| believe reference was made to that.

Yeah.

But at the time of you writing this letter, when
you are telling the National Parole Board about
epi sodes in Cal gary, --

Yeah.

-- what you are referring to is what Al bert
Cadrain told you --

That's right, sir.

-- about the incident, and referred to

in

M . Schell enberg as sonmeone who could be talked to

about that; is that right?

That's right.

And, again, that's something that was not put
forward in evidence against M. Ml gaard --
No, no, that's quite so.

-- at trial? And so what -- again, is there any

reason that you would be offering this information
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to the parole board about matters that did not
find its way into the trial of M. M| gaard?
No, well none of the -- the -- the information I
got from those four psychiatric sources woul dn't
have found their way into the trial either, this
is just one nore piece of information which |
t hought should be before them for future
reference.
And then at the bottom you indicate that:
"M | gaard was exam ned for the Crown by
Dr. ... MDonald, who is now Professor
and head of the Department of Psychiatry
at University Hospital ...",
and then you go on to discuss Dr. MDonald's
information and a number of the facilities, and |
t hink you are repeating what he put in his letter
to you?
That's right, the sources of information which he
had when he got the so-called chart on the --
So you are telling the parole board, "here are the
institutions where M. MDonald got information
about M. M| gaard"?
That's how | read that.
And then you go on to say about page 6 of the

bookl et, the nine factors to assist the Board in
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consi dering parole, if we could just go on quickly

t hrough those.

Okay.

Number 1, the offence, --

Okay.

-- 1 won't go through that, --

Okay.

-- but certainly you talk about the nature of the

of fence and then go on to say:
"He has a sociopathic personality, and
in my view there is not just a
possibility, but rather a certainty,
that he will return to crime on his
rel ease, since he is unqualified for any
ot her occupation.™

And that would have been your view at the time,

sir?

That's right.

And then you go on to say:
"While dealing with this point, it is
ironic to note that the only occupation
which M| gaard held with any degree of
success in past was that of a
door-to-door sal esman of magazi ne

subscriptions, etcetera, which is a
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circumstance which should be of great
confort to the housew ves of the nation
if he is eventually allowed to return to
this trade."
And, again, can you tell us what pronmpted you to
make that statement?
| think there was a heading, Suitability For One
Or More Occupations, it seens to ne was one of the
factors they listed, and that's what | wrote.
Then next:
"1, of course, cannot comment on any
efforts made by Ml gaard to inprove
hi mself while in prison, although ny
| ast informati on was that he was a
resi dent of the hospital wing in the
Saskat chewan Penitentiary for his own
protection. | know of no one in the
community who would be prepared to
assist himif he were released on
parole, and | cannot think of any form
of steady enployment to which Ml gaard
woul d be suited out of custody."
And, again, would you be responding to items or

factors in this booklet, or what prompted you to
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Yeah. There was a list either in the bookl et

oh yeah, at the very top, M. Hodson, the "your

booklet | noted a list", | believe it is, "of

factors which would assist the board in

consi dering parole", and then |I've went -- | tried
to give them ny views on those factors as set out
by the board.
And then, at the bottom, you say:
"From t he above you will not be
surprised to learn that | would be
unal terably opposed to this individua
ever gaining his freedom again, since |
feel that it could confidently be
predicted that he would return
i mMmediately to a life of crime, which
m ght well soon |ead again to another
sensel ess and brutal killing of the sort

descri bed above. For my part, | hope

never to be confronted with such a case

again."
And those were your thoughts at the time?
Oh, that's correct, sir.
And then you say:

"I trust that you will accept these

unsolicited conments on ny part, and
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make them a part of your file, along
with the judgement and photographs, so
that these may cone to the attention of
any Parole Board members who may
eventually sit on the question of
rel easing M| gaard."”
And so | take it, fromthat, that the parole
board didn't ask you?
No, they didn't, the "unsolicited" means | cane
across the booklet and thought | should follow it
up.
And you wanted this to be put on the parole board
file sort of in perpetuity; is that fair?
Well, | suppose, but certainly for the i medi ate
future, whatever they -- whatever policies they
foll owed after that.
Did you give any thought to providing a copy of
this letter to M. Tallis, as M. Ml gaard's
counsel, or directly to M. Ml gaard?
I, no, I don't think I did either of those things,
M . Hodson.
And was there a reason why you didn't or is it
somet hing you didn't consider?
| just -- I'"'msure | didn't consider it. | don't

think there's any carbon copy, etcetera, below the
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"yours truly"?
No, there isn't.
Yeah. So no, | don't -- I"'msure | didn't.
And then, | think you touched on this before:

"l have never had occasion to write in
this manner before during nmy 13 years as
a full-time Crown prosecutor, however, |
feel very strongly about this case, and
| would be horrified to think that
M | gaard m ght some day be released from
custody, and therefore |I trust that you
wi Il understand me setting out my views
as above."

Yeah.

And then just taking the letter as a whole, M.

Cal dwel |, would it be fair to say that at this

time you were -- you had some strong feelings

about M. M lgaard's guilt for the offence; is

t hat correct?

Yes, yes | would, that would be fair.

And some strong feelings about the nature of the

crime?

Yes.

And sonme strong feelings about M. M| gaard

hi nsel f, who he was, what you had thought he had
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done, his previous life, his life in prison, and
his future prospects?

That's all correct.

And you felt at that time, did you sir,
appropriate to put your views to the National

Par ol e Board?

| did, and in the -- | did that, sir, and we |ater
ascertained from-- in one of the -- "we", the
Fl'i cker investigation indicated that this kind

of -- not this set of facts but these kind of
subm ssions were a fairly regular happening to the
board, there were four or five people interviewed
al ong those lines | believe.

Did you ever, again getting back to what pronpted
you to write this letter, did you ever have the
same sense of, and your words are you feel very
strongly about this case; did you feel strongly
about any ot her case that you had prosecuted?

Oh, yes | did, ones -- the -- | could give you
names, but | certainly did feel strongly about
some of the other cases. Of course some of them
were very grave as well, as you can appreciate.
But, again, in those cases | think you've told us
you don't think you wrote to the parole board?

No, | don't think | did.
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I n your career as a prosecutor, other than M.

M | gaard, did you ever
Par ol e Board about any
after this letter, who
Umm, unless | did with

of fender applicants, |

wite to the National

ot her accused, before or
you prosecuted?

t hose two danger ous sexual

don't believe | did. Those

would, in nmy view, be the only ones.

This is, | appreciate it's only quarter after

4: 00, M. Comm ssioner,

to break --

this m ght be a good spot

COMM SSI ONER MacCALLUM: All right.

MR. HODSON: - -

for the day.

(Adj ourned at 4:18 p.m)
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